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IMPORTANT INFORMATION

This Prospectus constitutes a base prospectus in respect of all Instruments other than Exempt
Instruments issued under the Programme for the purposes of Article 5.4 of the Prospectus Directive.
When used in this Prospectus, “Prospectus Directive” means Directive 2003/71/EC (as amended,
including by Directive 2010/73/EU), and includes any relevant implementing measure in a relevant
Member State of the European Economic Area.

The Bank accepts responsibility for the information set out in this Prospectus and any applicable
Final Terms. Having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case, the information
contained in this Prospectus is, to the best of the knowledge of the Bank, in accordance with the facts
and does not omit anything likely to affect the import of such information.

In relation to Exempt Instruments, the applicable Pricing Supplement will (if applicable) specify the
nature of the responsibility taken by the relevant Issuer and (if applicable) the Guarantor for the
information relating to any Reference Item(s) (as defined under “Risk Factors” below) to which the
relevant Exempt Instruments relate and which is contained in such Pricing Supplement. However,
unless otherwise expressly stated in the applicable Pricing Supplement, any information contained
therein relating to any Reference Item(s) will only consist of extracts from, or summaries of,
information contained in financial and other information released publicly by the issuer, owner or
sponsor, as the case may be, of such Reference Item(s). Unless otherwise expressly stated in the
applicable Pricing Supplement, the relevant Issuer and (if applicable) the Guarantor accept
responsibility for accurately reproducing such extracts or summaries (insofar as it is applicable) and,
so far as the relevant Issuer and (if applicable) the Guarantor are aware and are able to ascertain
from information published by the issuer, owner or sponsor, as the case may be, of such Reference
Iltem(s), no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or
misleading.

This Prospectus should be read and construed with any supplement hereto and with any documents
which are deemed to be incorporated herein by reference (see “Documents Incorporated by
Reference”) and, in relation to any Tranche of Instruments, should be read and construed together
with the applicable Final Terms.

No person has been authorised by any Obligor (as defined in “Risk Factors” below) to give any
information or to make any representation not contained in, or not consistent with, this Prospectus or
any other document entered into in relation to the Programme or any information supplied by an
Obligor and, if given or made, such information or representation should not be relied upon as having
been authorised by any Obligor or any Dealer.

No representation or warranty is made or implied by any of the Dealers or any of their respective
affiliates, and none of the Dealers and their respective affiliates makes any representation or
warranty or accepts any responsibility, as to the accuracy or completeness of the information
contained in this Prospectus. Neither the delivery of this Prospectus or any Final Terms nor the
offering, sale or delivery of any Instrument shall, in any circumstances, create any implication that the
information contained in this Prospectus is true subsequent to the date hereof or the date upon which
this Prospectus has been most recently supplemented or that there has been no material adverse
change in the prospects of any Obligor since the date thereof or, if later, the date upon which this
Prospectus has been most recently supplemented or that any other information supplied in
connection with the Programme is correct at any time subsequent to the date on which it is supplied
or, if different, the date indicated in the document containing the same.

The distribution of this Prospectus and any Final Terms and the offering, sale and delivery of
Instruments in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law. Persons into whose possession this



Prospectus or any Final Terms comes are required by each Obligor and the Dealers to inform
themselves about, and to observe, any such restrictions. For a description of certain restrictions on
offers, sales and deliveries of Instruments and on the distribution of this Prospectus or any Final
Terms and other offering material relating to the Instruments, see “Subscription and Sale”.

In particular, the Instruments have not been and will not be registered under the United States
Securities Act of 1933 (as amended) and are subject to U.S. tax law requirements. Subject to certain
exceptions, Instruments may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or to, or for the
account or benefit of, U.S. persons. In addition, unless specifically indicated to the contrary in the
applicable Pricing Supplement in the case of an issue of Exempt Instruments, no action has been
taken by any Obligor or the Dealers which is intended to permit a public offering of any Instruments
outside Luxembourg or any other Member State of the European Economic Area to which this
document may be passported in accordance with the procedures under Article 18 of the Prospectus
Directive or distribution of this Prospectus in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required.

Neither this Prospectus nor any Final Terms constitutes an offer or an invitation to subscribe for or
purchase any Instruments and should not be considered as a recommendation by any Obligor, the
Dealers or any of them that any recipient of this Prospectus or any Final Terms should subscribe for
or purchase any Instruments. Each recipient of this Prospectus or any Final Terms shall be taken to
have made its own investigation and appraisal of the condition (financial or otherwise) of the relevant
Issuer and (if applicable) the Guarantor.
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In connection with the issue of any Tranche of Instruments, the Dealer or Dealers (if any)
named as the Stabilising Institution(s) (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilising
Institution(s)) in the applicable Final Terms may over-allot Instruments or effect transactions
with a view to supporting the market price of the Instruments at a level higher than that which
might otherwise prevail. However, there is no assurance that the Stabilising Institution(s) (or
persons acting on behalf of a Stabilising Institution) will undertake stabilisation action. Any
stabilisation action may begin on or after the date on which adequate public disclosure of the
terms of the offer of the relevant Tranche of Instruments is made and, if begun, may be ended
at any time, but it must end no later than the earlier of 30 days after the issue date of the
relevant Tranche of Instruments and 60 days after the date of the allotment of the relevant
Tranche of Instruments. Any such stabilisation action or over-allotment must be conducted
by the relevant Stabilising Institution(s) (or person(s) acting on behalf of any Stabilising
Institution(s)) in accordance with all applicable laws and rules.



RISK FACTORS

THE PURCHASE OF CERTAIN INSTRUMENTS MAY INVOLVE SUBSTANTIAL RISKS AND MAY
BE SUITABLE ONLY FOR INVESTORS WHO HAVE THE KNOWLEDGE AND EXPERIENCE IN
FINANCIAL AND BUSINESS MATTERS NECESSARY TO ENABLE THEM TO EVALUATE THE
RISKS AND THE MERITS OF AN INVESTMENT IN THE RELEVANT INSTRUMENTS. PRIOR TO
MAKING AN INVESTMENT DECISION, PROSPECTIVE PURCHASERS SHOULD CONSIDER
CAREFULLY, IN LIGHT OF THEIR OWN FINANCIAL CIRCUMSTANCES AND INVESTMENT
OBJECTIVES, () ALL THE INFORMATION SET FORTH IN THIS PROSPECTUS AND, IN
PARTICULAR, THE CONSIDERATIONS SET FORTH BELOW AND (ll) ALL THE INFORMATION
SET FORTH IN THE APPLICABLE FINAL TERMS. PROSPECTIVE PURCHASERS SHOULD
MAKE SUCH ENQUIRIES AS THEY DEEM NECESSARY WITHOUT RELYING ON THE
RELEVANT ISSUER, (IF APPLICABLE) THE GUARANTOR OR ANY DEALER.

AN INVESTMENT IN EXEMPT INSTRUMENTS LINKED TO ONE OR MORE REFERENCE
ITEM(S) MAY ENTAIL SIGNIFICANT RISKS NOT ASSOCIATED WITH INVESTMENTS IN A
CONVENTIONAL DEBT SECURITY, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO THE RISKS SET OUT
BELOW. THE AMOUNT PAID BY THE RELEVANT ISSUER ON REDEMPTION OF SUCH
EXEMPT INSTRUMENTS MAY BE LESS THAN THE NOMINAL AMOUNT OF SUCH
INSTRUMENTS, TOGETHER WITH ANY ACCRUED INTEREST, AND MAY IN CERTAIN
CIRCUMSTANCES BE ZERO.

CERTAIN ISSUES OF INSTRUMENTS INVOLVE A HIGH DEGREE OF RISK AND POTENTIAL
INVESTORS SHOULD BE PREPARED TO SUSTAIN A LOSS OF ALL OR PART OF THEIR
INVESTMENT.

Each of ERB Hellas PLC, ERB Hellas (Cayman /Islands) Limited and the Bank (each an “Obligor”
and, together the “Obligors”) believes that the following factors may affect its ability to fulfil its
obligations under Instruments issued under the Programme. All of these factors are contingencies
which may or may not occur and none of the Obligors is in a position to express a view on the
likelihood of any such contingency occurring.

Factors which the Obligors believe may be material for the purpose of assessing the market risks
associated with Instruments issued under the Programme are also described below.

Each of the risks highlighted below could adversely affect the trading price of any Instruments or the
rights of investors under any Instruments and, as a result, investors could lose some or all of their
investment.

Each of the Obligors believes that the factors described below represent the principal risks inherent
in investing in Instruments issued under the Programme, but the relevant Issuer or (if applicable) the
Guarantor may be unable to pay interest, principal or other amounts on or in connection with any
Instruments for other reasons and none of the Obligors represents that the statements below
regarding the risks of holding any Instruments are exhaustive. Prospective investors should also read
the detailed information set out elsewhere in this Prospectus and reach their own views prior to
making any investment decision as these risk factors cannot be deemed complete.

Capitalised terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall bear the meanings ascribed to them in
“Terms and Conditions of the Instruments” below.



FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT AN OBLIGOR’S ABILITY TO FULFIL ITS OBLIGATIONS UNDER
INSTRUMENTS ISSUED UNDER THE PROGRAMME

Factors relating to ERB Hellas PLC and ERB Hellas (Cayman Islands) Limited

Each of ERB Hellas PLC and ERB Hellas (Cayman Islands) Limited is a finance vehicle whose
principal purpose is to raise debt to be deposited with the Bank. Accordingly, neither ERB Hellas PLC
nor ERB Hellas (Cayman Islands) Limited has any trading assets and generates trading income.
Instruments issued by ERB Hellas PLC and ERB Hellas (Cayman Islands) Limited under the
Programme are guaranteed on a subordinated or an unsubordinated basis, as specified in the
applicable Final Terms, pursuant to the Deed of Guarantee. Accordingly, if the Guarantor’s financial
condition was to deteriorate, such Issuers and investors in such Instruments may suffer direct and
materially adverse consequences.

The auditor’s report given in respect of the audited non-statutory financial statements of ERB Hellas
(Cayman Islands) Limited for the year ended 31 December 2014 contained the following paragraph:

“‘Emphasis of Matter
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to the disclosures made in:

1. note 2.1 to the financial statements, which refers to the material uncertainties associated with
the current economic conditions in Greece and the ongoing developments, that affect the
banking sector and in particular its liquidity. These material uncertainties may cast significant
doubt on the Parent Company’s (Eurobank Ergasias S.A.) and therefore the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern;

2. notes 3 and 4 to the financial statements, which refer to the methodology applied to value the
available for sale equity securities for which no active market existed at the balance sheet
date and the possible impact of valuation sensitivities on the financial position of the
Company; and

3. note 19 to the financial statements, which refers to the significant decrease of the fair value of
the abovementioned equity securities after the balance sheet date. The decrease has no
impact on the financial statements for the period ended 31 December 2014.”

The auditor’s report given in respect of the audited non-statutory financial statements of ERB Hellas
(Cayman Islands) Limited for the year ended 31 December 2013 contained the following paragraph:

“‘Emphasis of matter

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to notes 3 and 4, which refer to the methodology
applied to value the available for sale equity securities for which no active market existed at the
balance sheet date and the possible impact of valuation sensitivities on the financial position of the
Company.”

References above to “notes 3 and 4” are to the notes to the audited non-statutory financial
statements of ERB Hellas (Cayman Islands) Limited for the year ended 31 December 2013
incorporated by reference in this Prospectus.

The auditor’s report given in respect of the audited financial statements of ERB Hellas PLC for the
year ended 31 December 2014 contained the following paragraph:



“‘Emphasis of matter - Going concern

In forming our opinion on the financial statements, which is not modified, we have considered the
adequacy of the disclosure made in note 2 to the financial statements concerning the company’s
ability to continue as a going concern. The current conditions in Greece could result in significant
disruption in the Greek economy which may impact the profitability, capital adequacy and liquidity of
Eurobank Ergasias S.A. and therefore its ability to repay fully and on time the loan to the Company.
These conditions, along with the other matters explained in note 2 to the financial statements,
indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the company’s
ability to continue as a going concern. The financial statements do not include the adjustments that
would result if the company was unable to continue as a going concern.”

Factors relating to the Bank
Economic Activity in Greece and South-Eastern Europe

The Bank’s business activities are dependent on the level of banking, finance and financial services
required by its customers. In particular, levels of borrowing are heavily dependent on customer
confidence, employment trends, state of the economy and market interest rates at the time. As the
Bank currently conducts the majority of its business in Greece and South-Eastern Europe (“New
Europe”), its performance is influenced by the level and cyclical nature of business activity in Greece
and New Europe, which is in turn affected by both domestic and international economic and political
events. There can be no assurance that a weakening in the Greek economy or the economies of
other New Europe countries will not have a material effect on the Bank’s future results.

Market turmoil and deteriorating macro-economic conditions, especially in Greece and New Europe,
could materially adversely affect the liquidity, businesses and/or financial conditions of the Bank’s
borrowers, which could in turn further increase its non-performing loan ratios, impair its loans and
other financial assets and result in decreased demand for borrowings in general. In a context of
continued market turmoil, worsening macro-economic conditions and increasing unemployment
coupled with declining consumer spending, the value of assets collateralising the Bank’s secured
loans, including homes and other real estate, could decline, which could result in impairment of the
value of the Bank’s loan assets and could be accompanied by an increase in its non-performing loan
ratios. In addition, the Bank’s customers may further significantly decrease their risk tolerance to non-
deposit investments such as stocks, bonds and mutual funds, which would adversely affect the
Bank’s fee and commission income.

Risks Relating to the Greek Economic Crisis

Adverse macroeconomic and financial developments and uncertainty in Greece have had, and
are likely to continue to have, significant adverse effects on the Bank’s business, results of
operations, financial condition and prospects.

The majority of the Group’s business is in Greece. For the year ended 31 December 2015, the
Group’s Greek operations accounted for 71 per cent. of the Group’s operating income, 85 per cent. of
the Group’s gross loans and 72 per cent. of the Bank’s net interest income. Accordingly, the Bank’s
business, results of operations, the quality of the Bank’s assets and general financial condition are
directly and significantly affected by macroeconomic conditions and political developments in Greece.
As a financial institution operating in Greece, the Bank holds a portfolio of Greek government debt
and related derivatives. As at 31 December 2015, the Group’s overall exposure to the Greek state
and state entities amounted to €5,313 million, comprising Greek government bonds with a book value
of €1,677 million, Greek treasury bills with a book value of €2,157 million, financial derivatives with
the Greek state amounting to €992 million and loans, financial guarantees and other claims towards
the Greek state of €487 million. In total, Greek government bonds and Greek treasury bills



represented 5 per cent. of the Group’s assets and 23 per cent. of the Group’s securities portfolio as
at 31 December 2015 and 5 per cent. of the Group’s assets and 22 per cent. of the Group’s
securities portfolio as at 31 December 2014. In addition to its effect on the Bank’s operations in
Greece, the current macroeconomic environment and adverse macroeconomic and political
developments in Greece have also had, and may continue to have, a material adverse effect on the
Group’s reputation, competitive position, results of operations and deposits of the Bank’s
international operations.

Since May 2010, Greece has been receiving financial support from the European Union (“EU”) and
the International Monetary Fund (“IMF”) in the form of financial loans within the framework of
economic adjustment programmes, which included a series of fiscal policy measures and structural
reforms. In the private sector involvement in the first half of 2012 (the “PSI”), existing Greek
government bonds were exchanged for new Greek government bonds having a face amount equal to
31.5 per cent. of the face amount of the debt exchanged and two-year European Financial Stability
Fund (“EFSF”) bonds having a face amount equal to 15 per cent. of the face amount of the debt
exchanged. Each participating holder also received detachable GDP-linked securities of Greece with
a notional amount equal to the face amount of the new Greek bonds issued to that participating
holder. As at 31 December 2012, total losses to the Group from the PSI amounted to €6.2 billion,
most of which were recognised in 2011. In December 2012, the Greek state completed a buy-back of
Greek government bonds (the “Buy-Back Programme”), in which the Bank submitted for exchange
the Bank’s entire portfolio of new Greek government bonds with a total face value of €2.3 billion
(carrying amount €0.6 billion) and received EFSF bonds with a total face value of €0.8 billion. As a
result of its participation in the Buy-Back Programme, the Group recognised a gain of €192 million for
the financial year ended 31 December 2012. As at 31 December 2015, the Bank had total deferred
tax assets (“DTAs”) of €4.9 billion, of which €1.3 billion related to the PSI and the Buy-Back
Programme. Under Law 4340/2015, a portion of the Bank’s DTAs could be converted into directly
enforceable claims against the Greek state.

Following the Parliamentary elections of 25 January 2015, the newly elected Greek government
moved to negotiate a new financing framework and a revised reform programme with the IMF, the
EU and the ECB (the “Institutions”) in the context of the fifth review of the Second Economic
Adjustment Programme.

In the context of these negotiations, the Second Economic Adjustment Programme was extended by
the EFSF at the request of the Greek government until 30 June 2015, to allow the Greek authorities
to design and implement reforms that would lead to a successful conclusion of the review of the
Second Economic Adjustment. Another technical extension of the Second Economic Adjustment
Programme had been previously granted on 19 December 2014 until 28 February 2015 (the
programme was initially scheduled to expire on 31 December 2014).

The negotiations and discussions between Greece and the Institutions did not lead to an agreement
or the successful completion of the review of the Second Economic Adjustment Programme. As a
result, additional financial assistance within the framework of such programme was not disbursed
and the liquidity position of the Greek state deteriorated significantly in the period from January 2015
to the end of June 2015.

On 26 June 2015, a referendum on the measures proposed by the Institutions was called by the
Greek government for 5 July 2015 against the backdrop of significant pressures on public finances,
significant deposit outflows and growing uncertainty on the ability of Greece to continue to meet its
international payment obligations.

On 28 June 2015, the ECB announced that it would not increase the ceiling for the emergency
liquidity assistance (“ELA”) for Greece’s banking system from the €89 billion limit agreed on 26 June
2015. At that time, the Eurosystem’s support to Greek banks (directly through the ECB’s main



refinancing operations and indirectly through the ELA) amounted to €126.6 billion (of which the
Bank’s Eurosystem funding totalled €32.7 billion), which exceeded 70 per cent. of Greece’s GDP.
Limited access to liquidity in the Greek banking system resulted in heavy reliance on Eurosystem
funding, without which Greece’s banking system would have come under severe pressure,
threatening the continued operations of the Greek banks.

In order to protect the Greek banking system from increasing deposit outflows, the Greek
government passed legislation on 28 June 2015 declaring the period from 28 June 2015 through 6
July 2015 a bank holiday for all financial and payment institutions operating in Greece in any form.
Simultaneously, restrictions on cash withdrawals from ATMs, transferring funds abroad and other
transactions were put in force during the bank holiday. In parallel, the regulated markets and the
multilateral trading facility of Athens Stock Exchange (“ATHEX”) remained closed throughout the
bank holiday, pursuant to a decision of the Hellenic Capital Market Commission. In the referendum
on 5 July 2015, 61.31 per cent. of the voters rejected the bailout conditions proposed by the
Institutions. The bank holiday was subsequently extended until 20 July 2015.

After the end of the bank holiday, cash withdrawal and capital transfer restrictions continued to apply
and are still in effect, mainly pursuant to the Legislative Acts dated 18 July 2015, which was ratified
by article 4 of Greek law 4350/2015, as amended and currently in force. The Second Economic
Adjustment Programme and the overall financial support framework for Greece expired on 30 June
2015 and Greece missed a payment due to the IMF on the same day. Following the distressed
financial conditions generated by the bank holiday, capital controls, deteriorating public finances and
arrears due to the IMF, Greece finally made a request for financial support.

On 11 July 2015, the Greek Parliament authorised the Prime Minister and certain other Ministers of
the government to negotiate the final terms and conditions for a new loan from the European Stability
Mechanism (“ESM”).

On 12 July 2015 and 13 July 2015, a Euro Area Summit took place whereby Greece committed to
remain within the Eurozone and to adopt a first set of measures to enact within a strict timeline in
order to rebuild trust with the Institutions and as a prerequisite for initiating negotiations for the
Memorandum of Understanding for further financial support.

The Greek Parliament passed the relevant legislation on 16 July 2015 and on 23 July 2015.

On 17 July 2015, Greece obtained a three-month €7.2 billion bridge loan from the European Union,
following which, on 20 July 2015, Greece repaid the totality of its arrears to the IMF, equivalent to
SDR 1.6 billion (approximately €2.0 billion) and €4.2 billion to the ECB. On 23 July 2015, a separate
request for financial assistance was sent to the IMF.

On 3 August 2015, the HCMC Board of Directors decided to reopen the regulated markets and the
multilateral trading facility operated by ATHEX subject to certain restrictions (primarily on Greek
investors).

On 11 August 2015, the Greek authorities, the European Commission and the ECB, with input from
the IMF, reached a staff level agreement on the Memorandum of Understanding, which the Eurozone
finance ministers (the “Eurogroup”) endorsed politically, and on 14 August 2015 the Greek
Parliament approved the Financial Assistance Facility Agreement (the “FAFA”) and the Memorandum
of Understanding. The Memorandum of Understanding provided a further set of prior actions which
the Greek Parliament voted for on 14 August 2015.

On 19 August 2015, the European Commission (on behalf of the ESM) signed the Memorandum of
Understanding, which sets forth the conditions attached to disbursements under the FAFA and a
comprehensive set of fiscal and other measures and structural reforms constituting the Third



Economic Adjustment Programme, and which included up to €86 billion in financial assistance with
an average maturity of 32.5 years. Although the IMF did not participate in the Third Economic
Adjustment Programme, it will continue providing technical assistance. The future full participation of
the IMF will be conditional on the implementation of certain structural reforms and the achievement of
debt sustainability.

A first disbursement of funds under the FAFA in the amount of €13 billion was made on 20 August
2015. Following the government’s resignation, the Greek Parliament was dissolved on 28 August
2015, and parliamentary elections were called for 20 September 2015. Following the 20 September
elections, the governing coalition led by Prime Minister Tsipras remained in power.

The Third Economic Adjustment Programme provides for up to €86 billion in financial assistance to
be made available to Greece over a period of three years (2015-2018) and requires a series of
structural reform measures. A total buffer of up to €25 billion (out of the €86 billion) has been
allocated to address the recapitalisation needs of viable banks and resolution costs of non-viable
banks whilst the FAFA specifies the financial terms of the loan Greece will receive from the ESM. In
accordance with the Memorandum of Understanding, the disbursement of funds is linked to progress
in the delivery of certain policy conditions, reviewed and updated quarterly, that are intended to
enable the Greek economy to return to a sustainable growth path based on sound public finances,
enhanced competitiveness and investment, high employment and financial stability. Notwithstanding
the Third Economic Adjustment Programme, the Greek economy will continue to be affected by the
credit risk of other countries in the EU, the creditworthiness of commercial counterparties
internationally and the repercussions arising from changes to the European institutional framework,
which may contribute to continuing investor fears regarding Greece’s capacity to honour its financial
commitments.

The Greek Government managed to complete two sets of prior actions - reforms from the Third
Economic Adjustment Programme at the end of November 2015 and in December 2015. This
permitted the disbursement of two additional instalments of €3.0 billion in total, from the August 2015
first instalment of the ESM loan. By mid-December 2015, four systemic bank’s recapitalisation was
completed with only approximately €5.4 billion from the initial buffer of up to €25 billion used. The
unused funds were subtracted from the ESM loan, reducing it to approximately €64.5 billion as of the
end of January 2016. However, the first review of the Third Economic Adjustment Programme is still
pending. A series of reforms still needs to be completed and, as of mid-April 2016, the first review is
not expected to be completed before the end of April 2016. The most crucial reform items include the
pension reform, the reform of the income tax code, the fiscal measures for the Medium Term Fiscal
plan for 2016-2018, the secondary market for first residence and SMEs non-performing loans
(“NPLs”), the modernisation of Greece’s public administration and the details for the creation of a
new privatisation fund®.

Greece has encountered and continues to encounter significant fiscal challenges and structural
weaknesses in its economy that led to concerns of a possible Greek exit from the Eurozone.
However, this risk carries now a lower probability compared with mid 2015 since the current
government was elected with a pro-reform programme in late September 2015 and the main
opposition party is pro-reformist as well. The potential magnitude and range of effects that may occur
if Greece were to exit the Eurozone are uncertain, but any exit or threat of exit could have a material
adverse effect on the Bank’s operations and liquidity position, including the Bank’s ability to continue
accessing ECB funding. In addition, the increased foreign currency exchange rate risk from the
adoption of a national currency, which could be devalued significantly against other major currencies,
could impact on the Bank’s business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects. For

Refer to: http://www.esm.europa.eu/press/releases/esm-board-of-directors-approves-1-billion-disbursement-to-greecel.htm,
http://www.esm.europa.eu/press/releases/esm-board-of-directors-approves-2-billion-disbursement-to-greece.htm,
http://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/meetings/eurogroup/2016/01/14/
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further details on exchange risk see. “General risk factors” — “Exchange rate risks and exchange
controls”.

Further, the negotiations in the first half of 2015, the failure to successfully complete the negotiations
on the Second Economic Adjustment Programme, the ensuing financial, fiscal and political
uncertainty, the imposition of capital controls, the referendum, the bank holiday and associated
political uncertainty negatively affected consumer and investment confidence in the Greek economy
and the trust between the Greek government and the Institutions, which still may jeopardise the
implementation of the Third Economic Adjustment Programme and the benefits expected therefrom,
leading to additional significant political and macroeconomic consequences. See “Failure in
implementing the Third Economic Adjustment Programme or in realising the benefits of the
programme may have material adverse effects on the Bank’s business, results of operations,
financial condition and prospects”.

The current macroeconomic environment, adverse macroeconomic and political developments and
uncertainty in Greece have had, and are likely to continue to have, a material adverse effect on the
Bank’s business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects, which may adversely affect
the Bank’s ability to pay interest and principal on the Instruments in full and in a timely manner.

Failure in implementing the Third Economic Adjustment Programme or in realising the
benefits of the programme may have material adverse effects on the Bank’s business, results
of operations, financial condition and prospects.

In the event of failure in the implementation of the Third Economic Adjustment Programme, if Greece
defaults on its debt in the future or if further restructuring of such debt is implemented, the Bank’s
regulatory capital will likely be affected because of the potential need for significant additional
provisions for loans and other assets, and the Bank will have to seek additional capital. In such
circumstances, the Bank may not be in a position to raise additional capital on favourable terms, or at
all, which may adversely affect the Bank’s ability to pay interest and principal on the Instruments in
full and in a timely manner.

The fiscal targets of the Third Economic Adjustment Programme may not be met and the Bank
cannot assess the effects of the measures implemented under the programme on general economic
activity. Further, the Greek government may not be in a position to implement the required structural
reforms in full on a timely basis. Failure to implement such reforms and to attain the fiscal targets of
the Third Economic Adjustment Programme may lead to termination of the financial support by the
ESM, which will in turn increase the risk of the occurrence of an adverse credit event regarding
Greece’s public debt. Any risks relating to financial stability in Greece and the ability of Greece to
fulfil its international obligations, either as such or in combination with other adverse developments
(including, for example, aggravation of international financial conditions or at a Eurozone level), could
have a material adverse effect on the Bank’s business, results of operations, financial condition and
prospects, including:

. a significant increase in the provisions the Bank record, mostly for loans;

. a reduction of the carrying amount of the Bank’s portfolio of Greek Government debt,
financial derivatives with the Greek state and loans, financial guarantees and other
claims towards the Greek estate;

. an impairment in the carrying amount of the Bank’s DTAs;

. a weakening of the Bank’s regulatory capital position;
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° significant difficulties in raising funds and complying with minimum capital and funding
regulatory requirements;

° a substantial reduction in the Bank’s liquidity;
° difficulty in achieving sustainable levels of profitability;
o increased ownership and control by the Greek state, including as a result of the

provision of new capital support;
o forced consolidation in the banking sector; and

o imposition of resolution measures under Law 4335/2015, which implemented the Bank
Recovery and Resolution Directive (establishing a framework for the recovery and
resolution of credit institutions and investment firms (the “BRRD”)).

Even if the Third Economic Adjustment Programme is successfully implemented, the Greek economy
may nhot achieve the level of economic growth required to ease the financial constraints affecting the
country and the markets. If the Greek economy requires more time than expected to respond to
social security, labour market and other structural reforms intended to enhance competitiveness or if
fiscal effects of the recession are more severe than currently anticipated, the financial crisis may last
longer than expected. In addition, any delay, defect or failure in the implementation of any of the
above measures under the Third Economic Adjustment Programme may have an adverse effect on
the Greek banking sector in general and could have a material adverse effect on the Bank’s
business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects, which may adversely affect the
Bank’s ability to pay interest and principal on the Instruments in full and in a timely manner.

The capital control measures currently in force have adversely affected and may further affect
the Greek economy and cause further liquidity challenges and increase NPLs.

On 28 June 2015, following the announcement of the ECB that it would not increase the ceiling for
the ELA for Greece’s banking system from the €89 billion limit agreed on 26 June 2015, the Greek
government implemented cash withdrawal and capital transfer restrictions. At that time, the
Eurosystem’s support to Greek banks (directly through the ECB’s main refinancing operations and
indirectly through the ELA) amounted to €126.6 billion (of which the Bank’s Eurosystem funding
totalled €32.7 billion), which exceeded 70 per cent. of Greece’s GDP. According to the Bank of
Greece, the ELA amounted to approximately €66.2 billion at the end of March 2016, a significant
improvement (decrease by 23.7 per cent.) compared with the ELA as at the end of June 2015.

These capital controls have caused, and are likely to continue to cause, distress to the economy due
to the loss of confidence in the Greek banking sector, the constriction in liquidity and the adverse
effect on Greek exports, among other factors. According to the Hellenic Statistical Authority, the total
value of imports and arrivals in July 2015 amounted to €3.0 billion compared to €4.4 billion in July
2014, a decrease of 31.7 per cent. The trade deficit balance in July 2015 amounted to €714.9 million
compared to €1,939.3 million in July 2014, a decline of 63.1 per cent. The end of the banking holiday,
the agreement on the Third Economic Adjustment programme and the partial relaxation of the capital
controls led to a stabilisation of the situation regarding imports. According to the most recent data
issued by the Hellenic Statistical Authority, real GDP increased by approximately 0.3 per cent. and
0.8 per cent. in the first and second quarter of 2015, but decreased by approximately 1.7 per cent.
and 0.8 per cent. in the third and fourth quarters of 2015. On an annual basis, real GDP in 2015 is to
decrease by approximately 0.2 per cent., which is lower than the respective European Commission
Winter projection of 0.0 per cent.. According to the Hellenic Statistical Authority imports and arrivals
in February 2016 amounted to €3.6 billion compared to €3.5 billion in February 2015. The trade
deficit balance in February 2016 amounted to €1.7 billion compared to €1.4 billion in December 2014.
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Unemployment is expected to be 25.1 per cent. in 2015 according to the Winter 2016 Forecast of the
European Commission. According to the Hellenic Statistical Authority, unemployment averaged 26.5
per cent. in 2014, compared to 27.5 per cent. in 2013 and 7.8 per cent. in 2008 prior to the Greek
financial crisis. According to the Hellenic Statistical Authority, the unemployment rate in January
2016 was 24.5 per cent. (January 2015: 25.6 per cent.). The consumer price index (“CPI”) in March
2016 decreased by 1.5 per cent. as compared with March 2015. In March 2015, the annual rate of
change of the CPI was negative 2.1 per cent. and the monthly rate of change of the CPI was positive
at 2.4 per cent..

The capital controls and the bank holiday have affected and continue to affect the Bank’s results of
operations and asset quality principally as a result of a loss of confidence in the banking system, an
increase in delinquencies on loans in July and August and a decrease in banking fee and
commission income during the bank holiday. While some of these factors have shown improvement
since the end of the banking holiday and the partial resolution of the uncertainty after the agreement
on the Third Economic Adjustment Programme for Greece, the late September 2015 elections and
the initiation of the programme’s implementation, there may be other adverse effects from the capital
controls that are currently not known to the Bank. The imposition of capital controls, and any resulting
decline in customer demand and customers’ ability to service their liabilities, may lead to a further
contraction of liquidity in the market and an increase in troubled assets, which, consequently, may
have an adverse impact on the Bank’s liquidity, business, results of operations, financial condition
and prospects, which may adversely affect the Bank’s ability to pay interest and principal on the
Instruments in full and in a timely manner. The lift of the capital controls is expected to occur at the
end of 2016, conditional on the swift conclusion of the first review of the Third Economic Adjustment
Programme for Greece. So long as capital controls are in place, the Bank’s operations are limited.
Moreover, as and when such restrictions are reduced or lifted, the Bank may experience significant
deposit outflows.

The prolonged economic recession has placed significant pressure on companies and
individuals in Greece, and the Bank is exposed to their financial performance and
creditworthiness.

As one of the systemic banks operating in Greece, the Bank’s business, results of operations,
financial condition and prospects are exposed in many different ways to the economic and financial
performance, creditworthiness, prospects and economic outlook of companies and individuals in
Greece or with a significant economic exposure to the Greek economy, which may adversely affect
the Bank’s ability to pay interest and principal on the Instruments in full and in a timely manner. For
example, the Bank’s business activities depend on the level of demand for banking, finance and
financial products and services, as well as customers’ capacity to service their obligations or maintain
or increase their demand for the Bank’s services. Customer demand and customers’ ability to
service their liabilities depend considerably on their overall economic confidence, prospects,
employment status, the state of the public finances in Greece, investment and procurement by the
central government and municipalities and the general availability of liquidity and funding on
reasonable terms.

According to the Hellenic Statistical Authority, the Greek economy has been in recession since 2008
(except for slight growth of 0.8 per cent. in 2014). Revised data based on the new European System
of Accounts methodology (“ESA 2010”) shows that real GDP in Greece decreased by a total of 26.2
per cent. between 2008 and 2013. According to the most recent data issued by the Hellenic
Statistical Authority, real GDP increased by approximately 0.3 per cent. and 0.8 per cent. in the first
and second quarter of 2015, but decreased by approximately 1.7 per cent. and 0.8 per cent. in the
third and fourth quarters of 2015. On an annual basis, real GDP in 2015 is expected to decrease by
approximately 0.2 per cent.. This reading is lower than the respective European Commission Winter
projection of 0.0 per cent. According to the European Commission, real GDP in Greece is expected
to decrease by approximately 0.7 per cent. in 2016. In addition, the fiscal goal under the 2016
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Budget is to achieve a primary deficit (before debt service costs) of 0.20 per cent. of GDP in 2015
and a primary surplus of 0.5 per cent. in 2016. The primary balance target in the Third Economic
Adjustment Programme for Greece in 2017 and 2018 was 1.75 per cent. and 3. 5 per cent. in 2017
and 2018, respectively. Such targets may not be met, and the Greek economy may not recover.

The fiscal consolidation measures introduced since the First Economic Adjustment Programme (May
2010) have significantly reduced household disposable income and business profitability, and the
additional measures introduced under the terms of the Third Economic Adjustment Programme
(August 2015) are expected to add further pressure, and consequently, to have a further adverse
effect on the ability of households and businesses to service their loans and meet their other financial
obligations to the Bank and the other operators in the Greek banking sector.

Fiscal discipline measures and the potential deterioration in the business environment may further
weaken the demand for loans. Further, the need to reduce Greek banks’ dependence on
Eurosystem funding has caused, and may further cause, the banks to decrease their lending activity
even further.

In an environment characterised by continuing turbulence in the market, negative macroeconomic
conditions and high levels of unemployment, combined with decreasing private consumption and
corporate investment and the deterioration of credit profiles of corporate and retail borrowers, the
value of the assets which collateralise the loans the Bank has extended, including houses and other
immovables, could be further significantly reduced. Such reduction may lead to the reduction in the
value of the loans or an increase in loans in arrears. Since the implementation of the Second
Economic Adjustment Programme has not been completed, especially with regard to the scheduled
structural reforms, and further fiscal measures were required in addition to the ones already agreed
upon, growth in financial activity was much lower than expected in 2014 and 2015. Although the Fifth
Review of the Second Economic Adjustment Programme in June 2014 forecasted private sector
credit growth for 2015 to decline by 1.6 per cent., according to the Bank of Greece data private sector
credit growth declined by 3.2 per cent. in 2015 on an annual basis. According to the most recent
Bank of Greece data, in February 2016 credit growth was again negative at 4.8 per cent.. If the
implementation of the Third Economic Adjustment Programme is also not successful, contraction of
financial activity may be even higher than expected for 2015 and 2016, which could further delay the
recovery of the Greek economy. Under the worst case scenario, a severe economic recession,
coupled with increasing market uncertainty and volatility in asset prices, higher unemployment rates
and declining consumer spending and business investment, could result in further substantial
impairments in the values of the Bank’s loan assets, decreased demand for borrowings, increased
deposit outflows (in the event that the current capital controls regime is reduced or lifted) and/or a
significant increase in the level of NPLs.

Even if the Third Economic Adjustment Programme is successfully implemented, the Greek economy
may not achieve the sustained and robust growth that is necessary to ease the financial constraints
on the country and improve conditions for foreign direct investment and the availability of funding
from the capital markets.

As the Bank’s ability to obtain funding is constrained and access to the capital markets is
limited, the Bank is dependent on the ECB and the Bank of Greece for funding and the Bank’s
liquidity is affected by their decisions.

The ongoing financial crisis, which has adversely affected the Bank’s credit rating, limiting the Bank’s
access to international markets for funding, and the continued and sharp decline in the Bank’s
deposits since 2009 (from €43 billion as at 31 December 2009 to €42 billion as at 31 December
2013, €41 billion as at 31 December 2014 and €31 billion as at 31 December 2015, in each case,
excluding the Bank’s Group operations in Poland, Turkey and Ukraine) increased considerably the
Bank’s reliance on funding from the ECB and the Bank of Greece within the Eurosystem. The
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deterioration in the Bank’s credit rating has also resulted in increasing funding costs and the need to
provide additional collateral in repurchase agreements and other collateralised funding agreements,
including the Bank’s agreements with the ECB and the Bank of Greece. The severity of pressure
experienced by Greece in its public finances has also restricted the Bank’s access to the capital
markets for funding, particularly unsecured funding and funding from the short-term interbank market,
because of concerns by counterparty banks and other creditors.

The past uncertainties relating to the implementation of the Second Economic Adjustment
Programme and the sovereign debt reduction through the PSI, as well as uncertainty relating to the
implementation of the Third Economic Adjustment Programme, have adversely affected and are
expected to continue to adversely affect liquidity and profitability of the Greek financial system in
general and of the Bank in particular. Liquidity in the Greek banking system is limited, reflecting
limited access to the market for financing since the end of 2009 and a sizeable contraction of the
domestic deposit base since the end of 2010 (42 per cent. cumulatively through 30 June 2015 in the
private sector, according to Bank of Greece data) and a heavy reliance on Eurosystem funding
(directly through the ECB’s main refinancing operations and indirectly through the ELA mechanism of
the Bank of Greece), as well as more recently the imposition of capital controls.

Political initiatives at an EU level for amendments to the framework for supporting credit institutions
have resulted in the adoption of the BRRD in May 2014, which was transposed into Greek law with
effect from 23 July 2015 (with the exception of certain provisions, which became effective on 1
January 2016). The implementation of the BRRD may result in shareholders, creditors and
unsecured depositors sharing the risks and potential costs of the recapitalisation and/or liquidation of
troubled banks, which may result in a loss of customer confidence in the countries in which the Bank
operates and further outflows of deposits from the banking system. The risk that creditors may also
be required to bear the risks and potential costs of a recapitalisation and/or liquidation may result in
an increase in the Bank’s cost of funding. The Bank’s ECB funding and funding from the Bank of
Greece through the ELA (which has less strict collateral rules but carries a higher rate of interest,
currently approximately 150 basis points above the interest rate charged on ECB funding), has
increased considerably since the start of the crisis. As at 31 December 2015, the Bank’s net
Eurosystem funding was €25.3 billion, out of which €20 billion involved funding from the ELA and
€5.3 billion involved funding from the ECB, compared to €12.6 billion of Eurosystem funding (that is,
funding from the ECB) as at 31 December 2014.

As at 31 December 2015, the liquid assets held by the Group amounted to €8,178 million, out of
which €5,572 million available collateral represented unutilised eligible assets for Eurosystem funding
and €2,606 million represented cash and other highly liquid assets. The Bank’s prolonged
dependence on the Eurosystem for additional funding may result in no collateral remaining available,
which, as at 31 December 2015, comprised €2,207 million of available collateral for the purposes of
funding from the ECB and €3,365 million available collateral for the purposes of funding from the ELA
(i.e., a total amount of €5,572 million, and may result in difficulties in obtaining funding from the
Eurosystem. The major part of ECB’s available collateral is currently held by subsidiaries of the
Group for which local regulatory restrictions are applied.

The liquidity the Bank receives from the ECB or the Bank of Greece may be adversely affected by
changes in ECB or Bank of Greece regulations. In February 2015, due to the uncertainty around a
successful conclusion of the review of the Second Economic Adjustment Programme, the ECB lifted
(effective from 11 February 2015) the waiver previously applicable to marketable debt instruments
issued or fully guaranteed by the Greek state that allowed these instruments to be used as collateral
in Eurosystem monetary policy operations despite the fact that they did not fulfil minimum credit
rating requirements. Further, as at 1 March 2015, bonds issued by European credit institutions, and
guaranteed by the respective Member State central government, can no longer be used by them as
collateral for Eurosystem operations; this limitation would obviously apply to Greek banks as well.
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The amount of funding available from the ECB or the Bank of Greece is tied to the value of the
collateral the Bank provides, including the market value of the Bank’s holdings of Greek government
bonds, which may decline. If the value of the Bank’s assets declines, then the amount of funding that
the Bank can obtain from the ECB or the Bank of Greece will be correspondingly limited. In addition,
if the ECB or the Bank of Greece were to continue to revise their collateral standards or increase the
rating requirements for collateral securities such that these instruments are no longer eligible to serve
as collateral, the Bank’s funding costs would be materially increased and the Bank’s access to
liquidity limited. Regulatory and/or supervisory authorities may also set further limitations on the use
of government guaranteed bonds as collateral for Bank of Greece funding operations. In addition, a
continuation in deposit withdrawals and prolonged need for additional Eurosystem funding may lead
to the exhaustion of available collateral required to raise funds from the Eurosystem.

The Bank is currently able to use covered bonds issued by the Bank as collateral for funding from the
Bank of Greece. These covered bonds may no longer be accepted as collateral in the future, if the
relevant Bank of Greece rules allowing their use as collateral are amended. Further downgrades of
Greece’s and/or the Bank’s credit rating may also materially affect the Bank’s ability to raise
additional funds from the Bank of Greece or other sources, which may adversely affect the Bank’s
ability to pay interest and principal on the Instruments in full and in a timely manner.

Should the capital controls be lifted, a significant outflow of funds from customer deposits
could cause an increase in the Bank’s costs of funding and have a material adverse effect on
the Bank’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Historically, one of the Bank’s principal sources of funds has been customer deposits. Since the Bank
relies on customer deposits for the majority of the Bank’s funding, if the Bank’s depositors were to
withdraw their funds at a rate faster than the rate at which borrowers repay their loans, or if the Bank
is unable to obtain the necessary liquidity by other means, the Bank would be unable to maintain the
Bank’s current levels of funding without incurring significantly higher funding costs or having to
liquidate certain of the Bank’s assets, or without increasing access to the Eurosystem under its then-
current terms. As at 31 December 2015, the Group’s customer deposits in Greece decreased by 27.0
per cent. compared to 31 December 2014. As a result of recent political and financial uncertainty,
the Greek banking system, has experienced substantial deposit outflows, which have affected the
Group’s liquidity position. As at 31 December 2015, the Group’s customer deposits were €31.4
billion, compared to €31.0 billion as at 30 June 2015 and €40.9 billion as at 31 December 2014.

An outflow of domestic customer deposits in Greek banks, owing to concerns regarding Greece’s
fiscal status and the results of economic contraction that occurred in the previous years led to a
decrease of 23.7 per cent. in Greek banks’ domestic deposits from the private sector as at 30 June
2015, compared to 31 December 2014. Furthermore, according to the most recent Bank of Greece
date, private sector deposits on February 2016 decreased by 13.7 per cent. on an annual basis and
by 0.4 per cent. on a monthly basis. Although domestic customer deposits have been stabilised
following the imposition of capital controls at the end of June 2015, it should be noted that if and
when the capital restrictions are relaxed and/or lifted, the Bank may experience significant deposit
outflows as a result, the Group’s customer deposits may suffer further decreases in the future.
Further, the general scarcity of wholesale funding since the onset of the economic crisis has led to a
significant increase in competition for retail and corporate deposits in Greece. The Bank faces
competition from other Greek banks and Greek branches of foreign banks, many of which may have
greater resources and superior credit ratings to the Bank’s own. The Bank’s competitors may be able
to recover deposits faster than the Bank can or secure funding at lower rates.

The ongoing availability of deposits to fund the Bank’s loan portfolio is subject to potential changes in
certain factors outside of the Bank’s control, such as depositors’ concerns regarding the economy in
general, the financial services industry or the Bank specifically, the risk of implementation of changes
in the framework for supporting the financial credit institutions that are having problems by requiring
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the participation of their respective shareholders, their creditors and their unsecured depositors
and/or initiatives for taxation of deposits, significant further deterioration in economic conditions in
Greece and the availability and extent of deposit guarantees. Government or resolution authority
interventions aimed at alleviating the financial crisis and preventing a potential bank failure are
uncertain and carry additional risks. Unsecured depositors sharing the burden of the recapitalisation
and/or liquidation of troubled banks, as well as the taxation of deposits, may result in a loss of
customer confidence and lead to further outflows of deposits from the Greek banking system, which
would have a material adverse effect on the Bank’s ability to operate as a going concern (see “Risks
Relating to the Bank’s Business—The new framework on bank recovery and resolution may
adversely affect the composition of the Bank’s Board of Directors and management team and the
Bank’s financial condition, results of operations and prospects”).

Any loss in customer confidence in the Bank’s banking business or in the banking sector in general
could significantly increase the amount of customer deposit withdrawals, or increase the cost of
deposits, in a short period of time in the absence of the capital controls restrictions. If the Bank or its
subsidiaries experience an unusually high level of withdrawals or are unable to replace such
withdrawals, the unavailability of funding or higher funding costs may have an adverse effect on the
Bank’s results, financial condition and prospects, which may adversely affect the Bank’s ability to pay
interest and principal on the Instruments in full and in a timely manner. Unusually high levels of
withdrawals could prevent the Bank or any entity of the Bank’s Group from funding operations and
meeting minimum liquidity requirements. In those circumstances, the Bank and its subsidiaries and
affiliates may not be in a position to continue operating without additional funding support, which the
Bank may be unable to secure. The cash withdrawal and capital transfer restrictions that are
currently in place aim to prevent large scale and widespread withdrawals of bank deposits and
safeguard the Greek banking system. Such restrictions, however, may not remain in place, and may
be lifted in the near future. The Bank cannot predict future legislative developments in connection
with the capital controls imposed and their effect on the Bank’s customers and, consequently, their
impact on the Bank’s financial condition.

The Bank is exposed to the risk of political instability in Greece.

The Bank’s business, results of operations, the quality of the Bank’s assets and general financial
condition are directly and significantly affected by political developments in Greece. Since 2009,
there have been four parliamentary elections and one referendum on the bail-out measures proposed
by the Institutions, with voters going to the polls three times in 2015 alone. If elections continue to be
called on such a frequent basis or if the economic environment and social tensions precipitate a
change in government, this could result in political instability and market uncertainty. The current
political, economic and budgetary challenges that the Greek government faces with respect to
Greece’s high public debt burden and weakening economic prospects may continue throughout 2016
and beyond. Real economic growth is expect to be -0.6 per cent. according to the IMF’s recent World
Economic Outlook (April 2016). Any change in economic policy as a result of a change in
government or a revision in policies could affect the Bank’s business and strategic orientation, which
may adversely affect the Bank’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects,
which may adversely affect the Bank’s ability to pay interest and principal on the Instruments in full
and in a timely manner.

The EU regulatory and supervisory framework may constrain the economic environment in
Greece and adversely impact the operating environment of the Bank.

In May 2013, two regulations were enacted by the European Parliament: (i) Regulation (EU)
473/2013 on common provisions for surveillance of draft budgetary plans of euro area member
states, with special regimes for those subject to an excessive deficit procedure; and (ii) Regulation
(EV) 472/2013 on enhanced economic and budgetary surveillance of Member States in the euro area
experiencing or threatened with serious financial difficulties or in receipt of financial assistance.
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These two regulations, which became effective in May 2013, introduced provisions for tighter
monitoring of countries’ budgetary policies. In addition, greater emphasis is being placed on the debt
criterion of the Stability and Growth Pact, under which Member States whose debt exceeds 60 per
cent. of GDP (i.e., the EU’s debt reference value) without diminishing at an adequate rate (i.e., by 5
per cent. per year on average over three years), such as Greece, would be required to take steps to
reduce their debt at a pre-defined pace, even if their deficit is below 3 per cent. of GDP (the EU’s
deficit reference value). As a preventive measure, an expenditure benchmark, implying that annual
expenditure growth should not exceed a reference medium-term rate of GDP growth, has been
implemented. A new set of financial sanctions has been introduced for Member States that do not
comply with the excessive deficit procedure as described in Regulation 473/2013 of the European
Union; such sanctions are triggered at a lower deficit level and use a graduated approach. Given the
dimensions of Greece’s public debt imbalance, these measures are likely to have the effect of limiting
the government’s capacity to stimulate economic growth through spending or through a reduction of
the tax burden for a long period. Any limitation on growth of the Greek economy is likely to adversely
affect the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects, which may
adversely affect the Bank’s ability to pay interest and principal on the Instruments in full and in a
timely manner.

The Bank may require additional capital in order to satisfy supervisory capital and liquidity
requirements.

The Bank is required by the Single Supervisory Mechanism and the regulatory authorities in Greece
and in other jurisdictions where the Bank undertakes regulated activities to meet minimum capital
and liquidity requirements. Based on the 2018 Basel Il transitional rules, as at 31 December 2015,
the Group had a Common Equity Tier 1 ratio of 17.0 per cent. and a total capital adequacy ratio of
17.4 per cent. Based on full implementation of Basel Ill in 2024, as at 31 December 2015, the Group
had a Common Equity Tier 1 ratio of 13.1 per cent. and a total capital ratio of 13.4 per cent. The
Bank and the Bank’s regulated subsidiaries’ ability to maintain required regulatory capital ratios could
be affected by a number of factors, including the level of risk-weighted assets (‘RWAs”). In addition,
the Group’s capital adequacy ratio will be directly affected by the Group’s after-tax results, which
could be affected, most notably, by a greater than anticipated worsening of economic conditions and,
as a result, asset impairments. The Bank may, therefore, in the future have insufficient capital
resources to meet minimum regulatory capital and liquidity requirements. In addition, minimum
regulatory requirements may increase in the future, such as pursuant to the supervisory review and
evaluation process (“SREP”), and/or the manner in which existing regulatory requirements are
applied may change. Likewise, liquidity requirements may come under heightened scrutiny, and may
place additional stress on the Bank’s liquidity demands in the jurisdictions in which the Bank
operates.

On 31 October 2015, the ECB announced the results of the 2015 Comprehensive Assessment.
Overall, the stress test (“ST”) that was conducted in the context of the 2015 Comprehensive
Assessment identified a capital shortfall following any AQR-related adjustments across the four
participating banks of €4.4 billion under the baseline scenario and €14.4 billion under the adverse
scenario, after comparing the projected solvency ratios against the thresholds defined for the
exercise. Under the baseline scenario of the 2015 Comprehensive Assessment, the Bank’s capital
shortfall relative to a Common Equity Tier 1 ratio of 9.5 per cent. amounted to €339 million, which is
equal to the amount of the Bank’s capital shortfall deriving from the AQR, while under the adverse
scenario the Bank’s capital shortfall relative to a Common Equity Tier 1 ratio of 8 per cent. amounted
to €2,122 million. The Bank submitted its capital plan on 3 November 2015, which proposed actions
aimed at ensuring that the Bank will be adequately capitalised, including the share capital increase
completed in November 2015 and the Tender Offers. The Bank’s proposed capital plan was
approved by the ECB on 13 November 2015, which accepted for the purposes of covering the Bank’s
capital shortfall the share capital increase completed in November 2015, the Tender Offers and the
positive difference between the realised pre-provision income for the third quarter of 2015 and the
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respective figure projected in the baseline scenario of the ST of the 2015 Comprehensive
Assessment (an amount of €83 million). In addition, further deterioration of market conditions, in
Greece and internationally, may adversely affect the quality of the Bank’s loan and investment
portfolio and lead to larger impairments in the future taking into account the loan portfolio. The
deterioration in the credit quality of the Bank’s assets may exceed the Bank’s expectations and
generate additional regulatory capital requirements. If the Bank is unable to raise the requisite
capital, it may be required to further reduce the amount of its risk-weighted assets and dispose of
core and other non-core businesses, which may not occur on a timely basis or achieve prices which
would otherwise be attractive to the Bank. Any failure by the Bank to maintain minimum regulatory
capital ratios could result in administrative actions or other sanctions, which in turn may have a
material adverse effect on the Bank’s operating results, financial condition and prospects or even
result in the revocation of the Bank’s licence (see “Regulation and Supervision of Banks in the
Hellenic Republic”). If the Bank is required to bolster its capital position, it may not be possible for
the Bank to raise additional capital from the financial markets or to dispose of marketable assets and
in that event, further mandatory capital injections from the Greek government or resolution measures
under Law 4335/2015 may be necessary.

Effective management of the Bank’s regulatory capital is critical to the Bank’s ability to operate the
Bank’s businesses, to grow organically and to pursue the Bank’s strategy. Any change that limits the
Bank’s ability to manage the Bank’s balance sheet and regulatory capital resources effectively,
including, for example, reductions in profits and retained earnings as a result of write-downs or
otherwise, increases in risk-weighted assets, delays in the disposal of certain assets or an inability to
syndicate loans as a result of market conditions or otherwise or an inability to access funding sources
could have a material adverse impact on the Bank’s financial condition and regulatory capital
position.

STs analysing the banking sector will continue to be published by national and supranational
regulators including the ECB and others. Loss of confidence in the banking sector following the
announcement of STs regarding a bank or the Greek banking system as a whole, or market
perception that any such tests are not rigorous enough, could have a negative effect on the Bank’s
cost of funding and may thus have a material adverse effect on the Bank’s operations and financial
condition, which may adversely affect the Bank’s ability to pay interest and principal on the
Instruments in full and in a timely manner. Additionally in the event of unfavourable outcomes of the
periodical review on the Bank’s capital requirements conducted by national and supranational
regulators, the Bank could be required to implement further capital measures. The periodical
assessments by the ECB which will be conducted after the 2015 Comprehensive Assessment may
identify that the Bank’s asset quality has deteriorated, which could adversely affect the Bank’s
financial condition.

The Bank may not be able to preserve its customer base.

The Bank’s success depends on the Bank’s capacity to maintain high levels of loyalty among the
Bank’s customer base and to offer a wide range of competitive and high quality products and
services to the Bank’s customers. In order to pursue these objectives, the Bank has adopted a
strategy of segmentation of its customer base, aimed at serving the various needs of each segment
in the most suitable manner. Moreover, the Bank seeks to maintain long-term financial relations with
its customers through the sale of a full range of products and services. Nevertheless, the Bank may
not be able to continue to compete successfully with domestic and international banks in the future
given the high levels of competition in Greece and in other countries where the Bank operates. An
increased emphasis in cost reduction may result in an inability to maintain high loyalty levels of the
Bank’s customer base, in providing competitive products and services, or of maintaining high
customer service standards, each of which may materially adversely affect the Bank’s business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects, which may adversely affect the Bank’s ability
to pay interest and principal on the Instruments in full and in a timely manner.
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The Bank’s wholesale borrowing costs and access to liquidity and capital depend on the
credit ratings of both the Bank and Greece.

A downgrade in the credit ratings of the Bank or of Greece may have an adverse effect on the Bank’s
access to and cost of funding, which may adversely affect the Bank’s ability to pay interest and
principal on the Instruments in full and in a timely manner.

Negative publicity following a downgrade in the Bank’s credit rating may have an adverse effect on
depositors’ sentiment, which may increase the Bank’s dependence on Eurosystem and ELA funding.
The Bank is currently restricted in its ability to obtain funding in the capital markets and is heavily
dependent on the Eurosystem for funding, and any further reductions in the long-term credit ratings
of the Bank or Greece could delay the Bank’s return to the capital and interbank markets for funding,
increase the Bank’s borrowing costs and/or restrict the potential sources of funding available to the
Bank.

Since 2009, Greece has experienced a series of credit rating downgrades and in 2010 moved to
below investment grade. Greece’s credit rating was lowered by all three international credit rating
agencies to selective default levels following the activation of collective action clauses in Greek
government bonds subject to Greek law in late February 2012. Greece’s sovereign ratings initially
improved due to attainment of certain fiscal targets and the ongoing implementation of structural
reforms under the First Economic Adjustment Programme and Second Economic Adjustment
Programme. In 2015, however, Greece’s credit rating was downgraded mainly due to the uncertainty
over whether the Greek government would reach an agreement with official creditors in time to meet
upcoming repayments on marketable debt. Any failure to implement the Third Economic Adjustment
Programme or attain the intended results could cause Greece’s credit rating to be further
downgraded.

As at the date of this Prospectus, Greece had been given a stable outlook on its rating by the
international credit rating agencies, and its credit ratings are:

o S&P: “B-”

o Fitch: “CCC”

° Moody’s: “Caa3”
The Bank’s long-term credit ratings are:

o S&P: “SD”

o Fitch: “RD”

. Moody’s: “Caa3/Ca (stable outlook)”
A further downgrade of Greece’s rating may occur in the event of a failure to implement the Third
Economic Adjustment Programme or if the Third Economic Adjustment Programme fails to produce
the intended results. Accordingly, the cost of risk for Greece could increase further, with negative
effects on the cost of risk for Greek banks and thereby on their results. Further downgrades of

Greece’s sovereign credit rating could result in a corresponding downgrade in the Bank’s credit
rating.
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Deteriorating asset valuations resulting from poor market conditions may adversely affect the
Bank’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

The global economic slowdown and the economic crisis in Greece since 2008 have resulted in an
increase in past due loans and significant changes in the fair values of the Bank’s financial assets. A
substantial portion of the Group’s loans to corporate and individual borrowers are secured by
collateral such as real estate, securities, term deposits and receivables. In particular, as mortgage
loans are one of the Group’s principal assets (€18.3 billion as at 31 December 2015), the Group is
currently highly exposed to developments in real estate markets, especially in Greece. From 2002 to
2007, demand for housing and mortgage financing in Greece increased significantly, driven by,
among other things, economic growth, favourable expectations about the future prospects of the
Greek economy, declining unemployment rates, demographic and social trends and historically low
interest rates in the Eurozone. Construction activity has contracted sharply since 2009. From 2009
to 2014, the cumulative decrease in gross fixed capital formation (in chain linked volumes (2010)) in
total construction was 70 per cent., according to the Hellenic Statistical Authority. Housing prices
began decreasing in 2009 and these decreases continued through 2015 (although at a more
moderate rate) due to further contraction of disposable income and high supply of houses available
for sale. For the period between the first quarter of 2009 and the fourth quarter of 2014, apartment
prices declined at an average annual rate of 8.1 per cent., according to the Bank of Greece.

Decreases in the value of collateral to levels lower than the outstanding principal balance of the
corresponding loans, in particular with respect to loans granted in the years prior to the Greek
economic crisis, an inability to provide additional collateral, a continued downturn of the Greek
economy or a further deterioration of the financial conditions in any of the sectors in which the Bank’s
debtors conduct business may cause the Group to suffer further impairment losses and provisions to
cover credit risk.

A decline in the value of the collateral securing the Group’s loans may also result from a further
deterioration of financial conditions in Greece or the other markets where the collateral is located,
and may differ depending on the category of loan. In addition, the Bank’s failure to recover the
expected value of collateral in the case of foreclosure, or the Bank’s inability to initiate foreclosure
proceedings due to domestic legislation, may expose the Bank to losses that could have a material
adverse effect on the Bank’s business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.
Specifically, foreclosures initiated by credit institutions for satisfaction of claims against the primary
residence of debtors who meet certain eligibility criteria have been forbidden since 1 July 2010, and
such prohibition was expanded until 31 December 2014, pursuant to Law 4224/2013, while, as a
result of the capital controls, enforcement actions were suspended through 31 October 2015. This or
a similar prohibition may be enacted in future periods, and the private debt resolution mechanism to
be proposed by a special governmental council established by virtue of Law 4224/2013 may restrict
the Bank’s ability to take enforcement measures against the Bank’s debtors in future periods. See
“‘Regulation and Supervision of Banks in the Hellenic Republic—Restrictions on Enforcement of
Granted Collateral”.

In addition, an increase in volatility in financial, property and other markets or adverse changes in the
marketability of the Bank’s assets could impair the Bank’s ability to value certain of the Bank’s assets
and exposures. The value ultimately realised by the Bank will depend on their fair value determined
at the time of their valuation and may be materially different from their current carrying or book value.
Any decrease in the value of such assets and exposures could require the Bank to recognise
additional impairment charges, which could adversely affect the Bank’s business, financial condition,
results of operations and prospects, as well as the Bank’s capital adequacy, which may adversely
affect the Bank’s ability to pay interest and principal on the Instruments in full and in a timely manner.
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Risks Relating to Volatility in the Global Financial Markets

The Group is vulnerable to the ongoing political disruptions and volatility in the global
financial markets.

Most of the economies with which Greece has strong export links, including a number of Eurozone
countries and other countries including China where economic growth slowed, continue to face
significant economic headwinds. The outlook for the global economy over the medium term remains
challenging, with predictions for stagnant or modest levels of gross domestic product growth in the
Eurozone. Economic activity remains dependent on macroeconomic policies and is subject to
downside risks, as room for countercyclical policy measures has sharply diminished. Policymakers in
many advanced economies have publicly acknowledged the need to urgently adopt credible
strategies to contain public debt and excessive fiscal deficits and later reduce debt and deficits to
more sustainable levels. The implementation of these policies may restrict economic recovery, with a
corresponding negative impact on the Bank’s business, financial condition, results of operations and
prospects, which may adversely affect the Bank’s ability to pay interest and principal on the
Instruments in full and in a timely manner.

The Bank’s results of operations, both in Greece and abroad, in the past have been, and in the future
may continue to be, materially affected by many factors of a global nature, including: political and
regulatory risks and the condition of public finances; the availability and cost of capital; the liquidity of
global markets; the level and volatility of equity prices, commaodity prices and interest rates; currency
values; the availability and cost of funding; inflation; the stability and solvency of financial institutions
and other companies; investor sentiment and confidence in the financial markets; or a combination of
any of the above factors.

The Bank is exposed to risks faced by other financial institutions that are the Bank’s
counterparties.

The Bank routinely transacts with counterparties in the financial services industry, including brokers
and dealers, commercial banks, investment banks, mutual and hedge funds, and other institutional
clients. Sovereign credit pressures may weigh on other financial institutions, limiting their funding
operations and weakening their capital adequacy by reducing the market value of their sovereign and
other fixed income holdings. These liquidity concerns have adversely impacted, and may continue to
adversely impact, inter-institutional financial transactions in general. Concerns about, or a default by,
one financial institution could lead to significant liquidity problems and losses or defaults by other
financial institutions, as the commercial and financial soundness of many financial institutions may be
closely related as a result of credit, trading, clearing and other relationships. Many of the routine
transactions into which the Bank enters exposes the Bank to significant credit risk in the event of
default by one of the Bank’s counterparties. Even the perceived lack of creditworthiness of, or
guestions about, a counterparty may lead to market-side liquidity pressures or losses or an inability of
the Bank or other Group members to pay the debt. In addition, the Bank’s credit risk may be
exacerbated when the collateral the Bank holds cannot be enforced or is liquidated at prices not
sufficient for the Bank to recover the full amount of the loan or derivative exposure. A default by a
significant financial and credit counterparty, or liquidity problems in the financial services industry in
general, could have a material adverse effect on the Bank’s business, financial condition, results of
operations, prospects and capital position, which may adversely affect the Bank’s ability to pay
interest and principal on the Instruments in full and in a timely manner.
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Risks Relating to the Bank’s Business

The Greek state has the ability to exercise, and currently exercises, significant influence on
the Bank.

The Greek state directly owns all of the Bank’s 345.5 million non-voting, non-transferable,
redeemable preference shares issued pursuant to Law 3723/2008 under the Hellenic Republic Bank
Support Plan (see “Regulation and Supervision of Banks in the Hellenic Republic—Other Laws and
Regulations Governing Banks in Greece-The Hellenic Republic Bank Support Plan”). This direct
stake of the Greek state in the Bank provides the Greek state with, among other things, voting rights
at the general meeting of preferred shareholders, the right to appoint a representative on the Board
of Directors (who has the ability to veto decisions relating to strategic issues or decisions that could
have a material impact on the legal or financial status of the Bank and for which the approval of the
General Meeting is required) or decisions referring to the distribution of dividends and the
remuneration of the Bank’s Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and the remaining members of the
Bank’s Board of Directors and the Bank’s general managers and their deputies pursuant to a relevant
decision of the Minister of Finance, or decisions that the representative believes may jeopardise the
interests of the depositors or may materially affect the Bank’s solvency and orderly operation. In
addition, the representative of the Greek state has full access to the Bank’s books and records,
restructuring and viability reports, plans for medium-term financing needs, as well as data relating to
the level of funding of the economy. The representative of the Greek state also participates in the
General Meeting and has a veto right during the discussion and the decision-making regarding the
matters discussed above.

The Greek state also has interests in the other Greek systemic banks and an interest in the financial
soundness of the Greek banking sector and other industries generally, and those interests may not
always be aligned with the commercial interests of the Group or the Bank’s shareholders.

The European Commission has the ability to exercise, and currently exercises, significant
influence on the Bank.

Greece, as part of the Second Economic Adjustment Programme, made a series of commitments to
the European Commission regarding the restructuring of Greek banks that have received state aid,
including the appointment of a monitoring trustee at each such bank, who acts on behalf of the
European Commission and aims to ensure the compliance of the relevant bank and its subsidiaries
with the aforementioned commitments (the “Monitoring Trustee”), which are in force during the period
of their respective restructuring plans. On 22 February 2013, Grant Thornton S.A. was appointed as
Monitoring Trustee of the Bank after prior approval by the European Commission. The Monitoring
Trustee is responsible for monitoring the compliance of the Bank with Law 2190/1920, the corporate
governance provisions and in general the banking regulatory framework, and monitors the
implementation of the Restructuring Plan and the organisational structure of the Bank in order to
ensure that the internal audit and risk management departments of the Bank are fully independent
from commercial networks. The Monitoring Trustee may attend the meetings of the Board of
Directors (“BoD”), the Strategic Planning Committee, the Group Executive Committee, the Audit
Committee and the BRC (as defined in “Risk Management as an observer, reviews the annual audit
plan and may require additional investigations, receives all reports emanating from internal control
bodies of the Bank and is entitled to interview any auditor. Furthermore, the Monitoring Trustee
monitors the commercial practices of the Bank, with a focus on credit policy and deposit policy.
Accordingly, the Monitoring Trustee attends the meetings of the credit committees of the Bank as an
observer, and monitors the development of the loan portfolio, the maximum amount that can be
granted to borrowers, the transactions with related parties and other relevant matters. The
Monitoring Trustee also has access to all the relevant credit files and the right to interview credit
analysts and risk officers. Furthermore, the Monitoring Trustee monitors the management of claims
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and litigations of the Bank. As a result, the Bank’s management’s discretion is subject to further
oversight and certain decisions may be constrained by powers accorded to the Monitoring Trustee.

The Hellenic Financial Stability Fund (“HFSF”) as shareholder has certain rights and may
exercise significant influence over the Bank on certain material decisions and over the Bank’s
corporate governance framework.

Following the completion of the Bank’s share capital increase in November 2015, fully covered by
institutional and other investors, the percentage of the ordinary shares with voting rights held by the
HFSF decreased from 35.41 per cent. to 2.38 per cent.. Pursuant to Law 3864/2010 as in force, on 4
December 2015, the Bank and the HFSF entered into a Relationship Framework Agreement
replacing the previous one, that was signed on 26 August 2014, which determines the relationship
between the Bank and the HFSF, including with respect to corporate governance matters.

Under article 7A, paragraph 2(b) of Law 3864/2010, the HFSF’s voting rights in the Bank are
exercisable at the General Meeting only with respect to resolutions concerning the amendment of the
Bank’s Articles of Association, including resolutions relating to the increase or decrease of the Bank’s
capital, or the granting of a relevant authorisation to the Bank's Board of Directors, resolutions
relating to mergers, divisions, conversions, revivals, extensions of duration or dissolution of the Bank,
resolutions relating to transfers of assets, including the sale of subsidiaries, or resolutions with
respect to any other matter requiring approval by an increased majority in accordance with Law
2190/1920 (together, the “Special Resolutions”).

In addition, under article 10, paragraph 2 of Law 3864/2010 and the terms of the Relationship
Framework Agreement, the HFSF appoints one (1) observer in the Bank’s Board, with no voting
rights, and one (1) Representative who is entitled, among other things, to veto any decision of the
Bank’s Board of Directors (i) regarding the distribution of dividends and the remuneration policy and
the additional compensation (bonuses) to the Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer and the
remaining members of the Board of Directors and the Bank’s General Managers, as well as to those
to whom have been assigned the duties of a General Manager, and their deputies; (ii) where the
decision in question could jeopardise the interests of depositors or materially affect the Bank’s
liquidity or solvency or in general the prudent and concise operation of the Bank; or (iii) concerning
corporate actions requiring a Special Resolution, to the extent such decision is likely to significantly
affect the HFSF’s participation in the Bank’s share capital, as well as to approve the Bank’s Chief
Financial Officer.

In addition, the HFSF has the right to appoint a representative and an observer who has no voting
rights on the Audit Committee, the BRC, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee. See “Regulation and Supervision of Banks in the Hellenic Republic—Other Laws and
Regulations Governing Banks in Greece—The Relationship Framework Agreement”.

Moreover, under the terms of the Relationship Framework Agreement, the Bank also has the
obligation to seek and obtain the prior written consent of the HFSF in relation to the Bank’s Risk and
Capital strategy documents especially the risk appetite statements and risk governance and any
amendment, extension, revision or deviation thereof and the Bank’s Strategy, Policy and Governance
regarding the management of its arrears and non-performing loans and any amendment, extension,
revision or deviation thereof. (For further details regarding the Relationship Framework Agreement,
see “Regulation and Supervision of Banks in the Hellenic Republic—Other Laws and Regulations
Governing Banks in Greece—The Relationship Framework Agreement”).

Consequently, although the HFSF has undertaken certain commitments pursuant to the Relationship

Framework Agreement to respect the Bank’s business autonomy and independence in the Bank’s
decision-making, there is a risk that the HFSF may exercise the rights it has to exert influence over
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the Bank and may disagree with certain decisions of the Bank and the Group, which may ultimately
limit the operational flexibility of the Group.

In addition, under article 10 of Law 3864/2010, the HFSF will assess the Bank’s corporate
governance framework, including the size, structure and allocation of powers within the Bank’s Board
and its committees (as well as their members) and, if necessary, any of the Bank’s other committees
on the basis of certain criteria, including eligibility criteria that the members of the Bank’s Board and
its committees should satisfy. Under article 10 of Law 3864/2010, the HFSF is also entitled to
recommend changes to the Bank’s corporate governance framework and composition of the Bank’s
Board and its committees resulting from its assessment, which, if the Bank does not implement, the
HFSF will be entitled to inform the Bank’s shareholders at a General Meeting and the Bank’s
supervision authority. If such changes relate to the replacement of members of the Bank’s Board who
do not satisfy the relevant eligibility criteria and the General Meeting decides not to replace them, the
HFSF will make public through an announcement on its website the name of the Bank, its
recommendations and the names of the Bank’s Board members who do not satisfy such eligibility
criteria, as well as such criteria (see “Regulation and Supervision of Banks in the Hellenic Republic—
The HFSF”).

In the event of conversion of the preference shares, the HFSF will receive ordinary shares of
the Bank with full voting rights, and the percentage of the Bank’s ordinary shares and of the
voting rights in the Bank held by the HFSF could increase substantially.

If the Preference Shares owned by the Greek state are converted into ordinary shares of the Bank
and the voting rights attached thereto are transferred to the HFSF, as set forth in article 7A par. 7 of
Law 3864/2010, the HFSF will be entitled to exercise its voting rights in the Bank with respect to the
ordinary shares that may be issued as a result of the conversion of preference shares without
restrictions, including with respect to matters which currently do not require a Special Resolution,
such as the election of members of the Bank’s Board.

The Group could be subject to a variety of risks as a result of implementing the Restructuring
Plan.

The Restructuring Plan, which was approved by the European Commission on 29 April 2014, is
based on macroeconomic assumptions in line with those provided by the HFSF and comprises a
principal number of Commitments to be implemented by 31 December 2018, including, among
others, the reduction of the Bank’s total costs in Greece, the reduction of the Bank’s net loan to
deposit ratio for the Bank’s Greek banking activities, the reduction of the Bank’s portfolio of foreign
assets and the sale of significant portions of the Bank’s stake in the Bank’s insurance activities.
Additional commitments relate to the Bank’s credit policy and corporate governance, and include
restrictions on, among others, the Bank’s ability to make certain acquisitions, dividends and coupon
payments.

In the context of the recent recapitalization of the Bank in November 2015, the restructuring plan was
revised and resubmitted for approval to the European Commission. On 26 November 2015, the
European Commission approved the Bank'’s revised restructuring plan.

The revised Restructuring Plan is based on macroeconomic assumptions in line with those provided
by the European Commission and the HFSF and comprises revisions to the commitments
undertaken by the Greek state under the Second Economic Adjustment Programme, to be
implemented by 31 December 2018. The principal revisions to the Commitments include, among
others, further reductions in the number of branches, number of employees and total costs in Greece
and an extension of the timeframe within which the Bank is required to reduce the net loan to deposit
ratio for its Greek banking activities, sell down certain portfolios of equity securities and subordinated
and hybrid bonds and reduce the portfolio of foreign assets.
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The implementation of the Commitments may have a material adverse effect on the Bank’s business,
operating results, financial condition and prospects, which may adversely affect the Bank’s ability to
pay interest and principal on the Instruments in full and in a timely manner.

Any inability on the Bank’s part to comply with the terms of the revised Restructuring Plan and any
potential revisions thereto may result in the European Commission initiating a procedure to
investigate the misuse of aid, which may result in the partial or entire recovery of state aid and/or the
imposition of additional conditions, including limiting the Bank’s ability to support the Bank’s foreign
subsidiaries or introducing additional limitations on the Bank’s ability to hold and manage the Bank’s
securities portfolio, among other conditions, in line with previous requests to banks in the European
Union that have received state aid. Moreover, the assumptions underlying the revised Restructuring
Plan, as may be revised, may prove inaccurate, making the objectives of the revised Restructuring
Plan and any potential revisions thereto more difficult to achieve.

Furthermore, if the European Commission decides that there has been a misuse of aid, the Hellenic
Republic may be required to recover all or a portion of the state aid, which has been misused by
returning all or a portion of the capital support that the Bank has received from the HFSF. In addition,
material obligations of the Group that are set forth in the revised Restructuring Plan or further its
implementation would have been breached, and pursuant to article 7A, par. 4 of Law 3864/2010, the
HFSF would be entitled to exercise its voting rights deriving from the ordinary shares it owns from
time to time without restrictions (please see “The Hellenic Financial Stability Fund (“HFSF”) as
shareholder has certain rights and may exercise significant influence over the Bank on certain
material decisions and over the Bank’s corporate governance framework” above).

Market fluctuations and volatility may result in significant losses in the commercial and
investment activities of the Group.

The Bank maintains positions in the trading and investment portfolio that relate to the debt, currency,
equity and other markets. These positions could be adversely affected by continuing volatility in
financial and other markets as well as the Greek sovereign debt crisis, increasing the probability of
substantial losses. Declines in perceived or actual values of the Group’s assets have resulted from
previous market events.

Continuing volatility and further dislocation affecting certain financial markets and asset classes could
further impact the Group’s results of operations, financial condition and prospects, which may
adversely affect the Bank’s ability to pay interest and principal on the Instruments in full and in a
timely manner. In the future these factors could have an impact on the mark-to-market valuations of
assets in the Group’s available-for-sale and trading portfolios and financial assets and liabilities for
which the fair value option has been elected. In addition, any further deterioration in the performance
of the assets in the Group’s investment securities portfolios could lead to additional impairment
losses. Investment securities accounted for 22.1 per cent. and 23.6 per cent. of the Group’s total
assets as at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014, respectively.

Volatility can also lead to losses relating to a broad range of other trading securities and derivatives
that the Bank holds, including swaps, futures, options and structured products. For further
information on market risk exposures in those portfolios, see the section of this Base Prospectus
entitled “The Group is exposed to credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk and operational risk”.

The increase of past due loans may have a negative impact on the Group’s operations in the
future.

The Group is subject to credit risk, which is the risk that a borrower may not meet its payment or

repayment obligations and its creditworthiness may deteriorate with prejudicial consequences to the
Group. In general, the possible losses that the Bank could incur with respect to the exposure of the
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Group to credit risk (both on an individual and a portfolio level) may depend, in addition to the
applicable regulations and legal framework, on various circumstances, including macroeconomic
conditions, the performance of specific sectors of the economy, the deterioration of the competitive
position of the Bank’s borrowers, the downgrading of individual counterparties, the level of
indebtedness of families, the performance of the real estate market and other circumstances that
may have an impact on the creditworthiness of the Bank’s counterparties and reduce the value of the
collateral securing the loans. Adverse economic conditions could result in a further significant
reduction of the value of security received by customers and/or the impossibility for customers to
supplement the security received. A further deterioration in credit quality and the consequent
significant increase of NPLs due to the borrowers’ lower ability to meet their repayment obligations
could result in adverse material effects on the Bank’s results of operations, business and financial
condition. In addition, the deterioration in credit quality could result in higher provisions for impaired
loans, which could result in adverse material effects on the Bank’s results of operations, business
and financial condition, which may adversely affect the Bank’s ability to pay interest and principal on
the Instruments in full and in a timely manner.

Loans more than 90 days past due (“90DPD”) represented 35.2 per cent. of the Group’s loans as at
31 December 2015, compared to 33.4 per cent. as at 31 December 2014 and 29.4 per cent. as at 31
December 2013. The Group’s consolidated NPE ratio increased from 39.3 per cent. as at 31
December 2014 to 43.8 per cent. as at 31 December 2015, compared to 41.1 per cent. for the
Group’s loans in Greece as at 31 December 2014, and 46.7 per cent. as at 31 December 2015. As
at 31 December 2015, the Group’s forborne NPEs amounted to €5.6 billion. The effect of the
economic crisis in Greece and adverse macroeconomic conditions in the countries in which the
Group operates may result in further adverse effects on the credit quality of the Bank’s borrowers,
with increasing delinquencies and defaults. As at 31 December 2015, the Group had cumulative
provisions for impairment losses on loans and advances to customers of €11,790 million
(representing a 90DPD coverage ratio of 64.8 per cent.), an increase of €2,042] million compared to
€9,748 million as at 31 December 2014 and an increase of €3,902 million compared to €7,888 million
as at 31 December 2013. The target coverage ratio that the Group has used in the past to determine
provisions for impairment losses on loans and advances to customers may prove to have been
inadequate, and the Group’s target coverage ratio may change in the future. Any further deterioration
in the credit quality of the Bank’s loan portfolio, and any resulting increase in delinquencies and
defaults, could lead the Bank to further increase the Bank’s provision for impairment losses, which
could have a material adverse effect on the Bank’s capital position, financial condition and results of
operations, which may adversely affect the Bank’s ability to pay interest and principal on the
Instruments in full and in a timely manner.

Volatility in interest rates may negatively affect the Bank’s net interest income and have other
adverse consequences.

Interest rates are highly sensitive to many factors beyond the Bank’s control, including monetary
policies and domestic and international economic and political conditions. Events in the future could
alter the interest rate environment in Greece and the other markets in which the Group operates,
which may adversely affect the Bank’s ability to pay interest and principal on the Instruments in full
and in a timely manner.

As with any bank, changes in market interest rates may affect the interest rates the Bank earns on its
interest-earning assets differently than the interest rates the Bank pays on its interest-bearing
liabilities. This difference could reduce the Bank’s net interest income. Since the majority of the
Bank’s loan portfolio effectively re-prices within a year, rising interest rates may also result in an
increase in the Bank’s allowance for impairment on loans and advances to customers if customers
cannot refinance in a higher interest rate environment. Further, an increase in interest rates may
reduce the Bank’s clients’ capacity to repay in the current economic circumstances.
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Further deterioration in macroeconomic conditions could negatively affect the Bank’s fee-
generating businesses.

Potential adverse macroeconomic developments in Greece, such as a further decline in GDP or a
further increase in unemployment, would place additional pressure on the Bank’s fee-generating
businesses, including the Bank’s insurance, mutual funds, capital markets, network fees and lending
businesses, and their contributions to the Bank’s overall profitability. During Greece’s economic
crisis, the Group’s fee and commission income (including insurance fees) decreased from 0.9 per
cent. of total assets in 2007 to 0.3 per cent. in the year ended 31 December 2015. During the bank
holiday imposed between 28 June 2015 and 20 July 2015, lower banking activity in general
depressed banking fee and commission income, although this was partially offset by the increase in
volumes of digital banking (for example, POS turnover, e-Banking, telephone banking and credit and
debit card transactions). The Bank’s fee and commission income is highly correlated to the
macroeconomic environment and market performance generally, and any deterioration in the
macroeconomic environment in Greece or market conditions generally could have a material adverse
effect on the Bank’s fee-generating businesses.

Changes in consumer protection laws may limit the fees that the Group can charge in certain
banking transactions.

Changes in consumer protection laws in Greece and other jurisdictions where the Group has
operations could limit the fees that banks may charge for certain products and services such as
mortgages, unsecured loans, credit cards and funds transfers and remittances. If introduced, such
laws could reduce the Group’s net income, which could have a material adverse effect on the Bank’s
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects, which may adversely affect the
Bank’s ability to pay interest and principal on the Instruments in full and in a timely manner.

Laws regarding the bankruptcy of individuals and laws governing creditors’ rights in Greece
and various European countries may limit the Group’s ability to receive payments on past due
loans.

Laws regarding the bankruptcy of individuals and other laws and regulations governing creditors’
rights generally vary significantly within the region in which the Group operates. If the current
economic crisis persists or worsens, bankruptcies could intensify, or applicable bankruptcy protection
laws and regulations may change to limit the impact of the recession on corporate and retail
borrowers. Such changes may have an adverse effect on the Group’s business, operating results
and financial condition, which may adversely affect the Bank’s ability to pay interest and principal on
the Instruments in full and in a timely manner.

The Group’s business is subject to increasingly complex regulation, which may increase the
Bank’s regulatory and capital requirements.

The Group is subject to financial services laws, regulations, administrative actions and policies in
each jurisdiction in which it operates. All of these regulatory requirements are subject to change,
particularly in the current market environment, where there have been unprecedented levels of
government intervention and changes to the regulations governing financial institutions. In response
to the global financial crisis, national governments, as well as supranational groups, such as the EU,
have been considering significant changes to current bank regulatory frameworks, including those
pertaining to capital adequacy, liquidity and the scope of banks’ operations, such as the CRD IV
which was transposed in Greece pursuant to Law 4261/2014 in May 2014, and the CRR (see
“Regulation and Supervision of Banks in the Hellenic Republic”). Under the CRD IV, the minimum
Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio is now 4.5 per cent., the minimum Tier 1 capital ratio is now 6 per
cent., and banks are required to gradually increase their capital conservation buffer to 2.5 per cent.
by 2019 beyond existing minimum equity (i.e., 0.65 per cent. as at 1 January 2016, 1.25 per cent. as
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at 1 January 2017 and 1.87 per cent. as at 1 January 2018), raising the minimum Common Equity
Tier 1 capital ratio to 7 per cent. and the total capital ratio to 10.5 per cent. in 2019. These and any
future regulatory requirements in countries where the Group operates may require the Group to
increase its Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital by way of further issues of securities, and could result in existing
Tier 1 and Tier 2 securities issued by the Group ceasing to count towards its regulatory capital, either
at the same level as at present or at all. As a result of these and other ongoing and possible future
changes in the financial services regulatory framework (including requirements imposed by virtue of
the Bank’s participation in any government or regulator-led initiatives, such as the Hellenic Republic
Bank Support Plan), the Bank may face stricter regulation, and compliance with such regulations may
increase the Bank’s capital requirements and costs. Current and future regulatory requirements may
be different across jurisdictions, and even requirements with EEA-wide application may be
implemented or applied differently in different jurisdictions.

Compliance with these new requirements may increase the Bank’s regulatory capital and liquidity
requirements and costs and the Bank’s disclosure requirements, restrict certain types of transactions,
affect the Bank’s strategy and limit or require the modification of rates or fees that the Bank charges
on certain loans and other products, any of which could lower the return on the Group’s investments,
assets and equity, and in turn adversely affect the Bank’s ability to pay interest and principal on the
Instruments in full and in a timely manner. The Bank may also face increased compliance costs and
limitations on the Bank’s ability to pursue certain business opportunities. The new regulatory
framework may have significant scope and may have indirect consequences for the global financial
system, the Greek financial system or the Bank’'s business, including increasing competition,
increasing general uncertainty in the markets or favouring or disfavouring certain lines of business.
The Bank cannot predict the effect of any such changes on its business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects.

The requirements of the new deposit guarantee schemes applicable throughout the European
Union may result in additional costs to the Group.

Directive 2014/49/EU on deposit guarantee schemes (the “DGS”) entered into force in May 2014 (the
“DGSD”) recasting the Directive 94/19/EC and introducing new harmonised rules on DGS applicable
throughout the European Union. Amongst other things, the DGSD preserves the harmonised
coverage level of €100,000 per depositor, which will continue to be offered in the form of repayment
in the case of a bank’s liquidation where deposits would become unavailable. It also reconfirms the
fundamental principle underpinning DGS, namely that it is banks that finance DGS and not the
taxpayers. In addition, for the first time since the introduction of DGS in 1994, there are legislative
financing requirements for DGS. In principle, the target level for ex ante funds of the DGS is 0.8 per
cent. of covered deposits to be paid by member banks (in the case of highly concentrated banking
sectors, the European Commission may authorise a Member State to set a lower target level for its
DGS, but this may not be lower than 0.5 per cent. of covered deposits). A maximum of 30 per cent.
of the funding can be made up of payment commitments. The target fund level must be reached
within a 10-year period (which can be extended by 4 years if there is a substantial cumulative
disbursement of amounts under DGS during the phasing-in period). In the case of insufficient ex
ante funds, DGS will collect ex post contributions from the banking sector, and, if necessary, as a last
resort, alternative funding arrangements such as loans from public or private third parties are
permitted. There will also be a voluntary scheme facilitating mutual borrowing between DGS from
different EU countries.

In addition, the DGSD introduced a requirement for contributions to be risk-based, while Article 13
thereof lays down a number of criteria for the calculation of contributions to DGS, notably that:

° contributions are compulsorily based on the amount of covered deposits and the risk
profile of each member institution;
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° DGS are allowed to develop and use their own calculation methods in order to tailor
contributions to market circumstances and risk profiles; and

° Member States may provide for lower contributions from institutional protection
scheme members and low-risk sectors regulated under national law.

To ensure consistent application of the DGSD across Member States, the European Banking
Authority on 28 May 2015 adopted detailed guidelines to specify methods for calculating
contributions to, DGS in accordance with the above Article 13 of the DGSD, which are binding on the
Member States DGS.

In line with Article 10(1) of the DGSD, DGS will have to collect contributions at least annually
beginning on 3 July 2015 (the deadline for transposing the DGSD). From this date, pursuant to
Article 13 of the DGSD, contributions will have to be risk-based, unless the appropriate authorities of
a Member State have established that a DGS is not yet in a position to comply with Article 14 of the
DGSD, in which case the risk-based requirement can be deferred, but no later than 31 May 2016.

The DGSD has been transposed into the national legislation of Bulgaria, Romania, Cyprus and
Luxembourg, where the Group has activities. In Greece, the DGSD was recently transposed into
Greek law by virtue of Law 4370/2016 which came into force on 7 March 2016 (see “Regulation and
Supervision of Banks in the Hellenic Republic — Hellenic Deposit and Investment Guarantee Fund
(HDIGF)”). The said Law 4370/2016 which replaces Law 3746/2009 previously in force, defines,
among other, the scope and certain aspects of the operation of the HDIGF, the terms of participation
of credit institutions as well as the process for determining and paying contributions to its Schemes.
The Group may be required to increase the contributions in the relevant DGS, which in turn may
adversely affect the Group’s operating results and the Group’s ability to pay interest and principal on
the Instruments in full and in a timely manner.

The new framework on bank recovery and resolution may adversely affect the composition of
the Bank’s Board of Directors and management team and the Bank’s financial condition,
results of operations and prospects.

The BRRD entered into force on 2 July 2014 with the aim of safeguarding financial stability and
minimising taxpayers’ contributions to bail-outs or exposures relating to credit institutions and
investment firms considered to be at risk of failing. The BRRD was transposed into Greek law
pursuant to Law 4335/2015 which came into force on 23 July 2015, except for the bail-in tool. The
bail-in tool became effective on 1 November 2015 following the amendment of Law 4335/2015 by
Greek law 4340/2015, except for certain provisions relating to certain eligible liabilities and the loss
absorption requirement for the implementation of government financial stabilisation tools, which
became effective as of 1 January 2016 (see “Regulation and Supervision of Banks in the Hellenic
Republic—Recovery and Resolution of Credit Institutions”).

The BRRD, as transposed into Greek law, provides for either the recovery or the resolution of credit
institutions facing financial difficulties. Under the new regime, the national competent authority for
credit institutions and the resolution authority are equipped with tools and powers to handle crises at
the earliest possible moment. These tools and powers include preparatory and preventative
measures as well as early intervention measures (including, as the case may be, the removal or
replacement of senior management or members of the board of directors of the credit institution
concerned) to address emerging problems at an early stage. In the event that such measures prove
to be insufficient and the financial situation of the credit institution concerned has significantly
deteriorated or the credit institution has seriously infringed certain laws, regulations or its articles of
association or there are serious administrative irregularities, the ECB may require the removal of
senior management or the management body of the credit institution concerned, in its entirety or with
regard to certain individuals, and the appointment of new senior management and a new
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management body subject to the approval of the ECB, or it may even appoint one or more temporary
administrators to such institution.

Where a credit institution fails or is likely to fail and there is no reasonable prospect that any
alternative solution would prevent such failure, Law 4335/2015 empowers the resolution authority to
take resolution action, provided that this is necessary in the public interest, which is intended to
ensure the continuity of the credit institution’s critical services and manage its failure in an orderly
fashion. The resolution powers and tools available to the resolution authority comprise the asset
separation tool, the bridge institution tool, the sale of business tool and the bail-in tool. In addition, in
the event of an extreme systemic crisis, extraordinary public financial support may be provided, in
accordance with article 56 of Law 4335/2015, for the purpose of participating in the resolution of an
institution with a view to meeting the objectives for resolution and preventing its liquidation. However,
the provision of extraordinary public financial support shall be used as a last resort after having
assessed and exploited the resolution tools, including the bail-in tool, to the maximum extent
practicable whilst maintaining financial stability.

In view of establishing a single resolution process in the EU, the Single Resolution Fund (SRF) has
been created to provide funding support for the resolution of banks and will be financed by bank
levies raised at a national level (see “Regulation and Supervision of Banks in the Hellenic Republic—
Single Resolution Mechanism”). The SRF would reach a target level of at least 1 per cent. of
covered deposits of all credit institutions in Member States participating in the Banking Union over an
eight-year period. During this transitional period, the SRF would comprise national compartments
corresponding to each participating Member State. The resources accumulated in those
compartments will be progressively mutualised over a period of eight years. Although the European
Council has adopted an implementing act to calculate the contributions of banks to the SRF and an
implementing regulation specifying uniform conditions of application of the SRM Regulation with
regard to ex ante contributions to the SRF, the calculation and payment terms of the contribution
amounts have not been specified by the relevant national resolution authorities. In Greece, Law
4370/2016, which replaces Law 3746/2009 previously in forces, defines, among other things, the
scope and certain aspects of the operation of the HDIGF, the terms of participation of credit
institutions, as well as the process for determining and paying contributions to its Schemes (see
above).

The new framework may materially and adversely affect the composition of the Bank’s Board of
Directors and management team, the Bank’s financial condition, results of operations, prospects and
credit ratings. For a description of the BRRD framework see “Regulation and Supervision of Banks in
the Hellenic Republic—Recovery and Resolution of Credit Institutions”.

The Group conducts significant international activities and as a result, the Group is exposed
to political instability and other risks in these countries.

In addition to the Bank’s operations in Greece, the Bank has substantial operations in Bulgaria,
Romania, Serbia, Cyprus and Luxembourg, as well as a presence in Ukraine, which is classified as
held for sale. The Group’s international operations, excluding Ukraine, accounted for 14.7 per cent.
of its gross loans as at 31 December 2015 (compared to 14.6 per cent. as at 31 December 2014) and
28 per cent. of its net interest income for the year ended 31 December 2015 (compared to 27.7 per
cent. for the year ended 31 December 2014). The Bank’s international operations are exposed to the
risk of adverse political, governmental or economic developments in the countries in which the Bank
operates. Furthermore, the majority of the countries outside Greece where the Group conducts
business are “emerging economies” in which the Group faces particular financial and operational
risks. These factors could have a material adverse effect on the Bank’s business, results of
operations, financial condition and prospects. The Bank’s international operations also expose the
Bank to foreign currency risk. A decline in the value of the currencies in which the Bank’s
international subsidiaries receive their income or value their assets relative to the value of the euro
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may have an adverse effect on the Bank’s results of operations and financial condition, which may
adversely affect the Bank’s ability to pay interest and principal on the Instruments in full and in a
timely manner.

If the Group’s reputation is damaged, this would affect its image and customer relations,
which could adversely affect the Bank’s business, financial condition, results of operation
and prospects.

Reputational risk is inherent to the Group’s business activity. Negative public opinion towards the
Group or the financial services sector as a whole could result from real or perceived practices in the
banking sector in general, such as money laundering, negligence during the provision of financial
products or services, or even from the way that the Group conducts, or is perceived to conduct, its
business. Negative publicity and negative public opinion could adversely affect the Group’s ability to
maintain and attract customers, in particular, institutional and retail depositors, which could adversely
affect the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects and, in an
extreme case, could lead to an accelerated outflow of funds from customer deposits which could
result in the Bank or another member of the Group being unable to continue operating without
additional funding support, which it may not be able to secure, and which may adversely affect the
Bank’s ability to pay interest and principal on the Instruments in full and in a timely manner.

The loss of senior management may adversely affect the Bank’s ability to implement the
Bank’s strategy.

The Bank’s current senior management team includes a number of executives whom the Bank
believes contribute significant experience and expertise to the Bank’s management in the banking
sectors in which the Bank operates. The continued performance of the Bank’s business and the
Bank’s ability to execute the Bank’s business strategy will depend, in large part, on the efforts of the
Bank’s senior management. If any of the Bank’s senior management were to leave, the Bank’s
business may be materially adversely affected.

The Bank may be unable to recruit or retain experienced and/or qualified personnel.

The Bank’s competitive position depends, in part, on the Bank’s ability to continue to attract, retain
and motivate qualified and experienced banking and management personnel. Competition for
personnel with relevant expertise is high due to the relatively limited availability of qualified
individuals. Under the current terms of the Hellenic Republic Bank Support Plan, the Bank is
prohibited from paying bonuses to the members of the Board of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer
and any general managers or their deputies. Furthermore, as a result of the economic crisis and
regulatory restrictions on bonus payments, the Bank is limiting or restricting the bonuses and other
performance incentives the Bank pays its personnel, which may inhibit the retention and recruitment
of qualified and experienced personnel. The inability to recruit and retain qualified and experienced
personnel in Greece and countries where the Bank operates, or manages the Bank’s current
personnel successfully, could adversely affect the Bank’s business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects.

The Greek banking sector is subject to strikes, which may adversely affect the Group’s
operations.

Most of the Bank’s employees belong to a union, and the Greek banking industry has been subject to
strikes over the issues of pensions and wages. Greek bank unions in general participate in general
strikes, which have increased in number. Prolonged labour unrest or collective action in which a
significant number of the Bank’s employees participate could have a material adverse effect on the
Bank’s operations in Greece, either directly or indirectly, for example on the willingness or ability of
the government to pass the reforms necessary to successfully implement the Third Economic
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Adjustment Programme, which may adversely affect the Bank’s ability to pay interest and principal on
the Instruments in full and in a timely manner.

The value of certain financial instruments recorded at fair value is determined using financial
models incorporating assumptions, judgments and estimates that may change over time or
may not be accurate.

In establishing the fair value of certain financial instruments, the Group relies on quoted market
prices or, where the market for a financial instrument is not sufficiently active, internal valuation
models that utilise observable financial market data. In certain circumstances, the data for individual
financial instruments or classes of financial instruments utilised by such valuation models may not be
available or may become unavailable due to changes in financial market conditions. In such
circumstances, the Group’s internal valuation models require the Group to make assumptions,
judgments and estimates to establish fair value. These internal valuation models are complex, and
the assumptions, judgments and estimates the Group is required to make often relate to matters that
are inherently uncertain, such as expected cash flows. Such assumptions, judgments and estimates
may need to be updated to reflect changing facts, trends and market conditions. The resulting
change in the fair values of the financial instruments could have a material adverse effect on the
Group’s earnings and financial condition. In addition, recent market volatility and illiquidity has
challenged the factual bases of certain underlying assumptions and has made it difficult to value
certain of the Group’s financial instruments. Valuations in future periods, reflecting prevailing market
conditions, may result in changes in the fair values of these instruments, which could have a material
adverse effect on the Group’s financial condition, results of operations and prospects and in turn may
adversely affect the Bank’s ability to pay interest and principal on the Instruments in full and in a
timely manner.

The Group is exposed to credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk and operational risk.

As a result of the Group’s activities, the Group is exposed to a variety of risks. Among the most
significant of these risks are credit, market, liquidity and operational. The Group’s failure to
effectively manage these risks could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business,
financial condition, results of operation and prospects, which may adversely affect the Group’s ability
to pay interest and principal on the Instruments in full and in a timely manner.

Credit Risk

The Group takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty will be unable to fulfil
its payment obligations. Impairment provisions are recognised as losses incurred at the balance
sheet date. Significant changes in the economy or in the state of a particular sector of activity
forming an important part of the Group’s portfolio may lead to losses differing from those recognised
on the balance sheet date.

Market Risk

The Group is exposed to market risks. Market risks are created by open positions in interest rate
products, products based on exchange rates or shares, or a combination thereof, which are affected
by general and specific market fluctuations. More specifically, the market risks to which the Group is
exposed are as follows:

(a) Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest

rates on its financial position and cash flows. Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.
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Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates.

(b) Currency risk

The Group’s financial position and cash flows are exposed to risk from the effects of
fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency exchange rates in relation to the reference
currency (EUR).

(c) Equity risk

Equity price risk is the risk of decrease in fair values as a result of changes in equity indices
and the value of individual stocks. The exposure to fluctuations in equity prices that the
Group undertakes arises mainly from the investment portfolio.

Liquidity Risk

The Group is continuously exposed to liquidity risks due to deposit withdrawals, maturity of medium-
or long-term notes, loan drawdowns and guarantees. Furthermore, changes in secured funding
transactions (repo-type agreements with the market), secured funding facilities with central banks
and risk mitigation contracts involving provisions of collateral in the form of cash (CSAs, GMRAS)
result in variations in the levels of liquidity that the Group holds at any point in time.

Since 2011 and as a result of the Greek debt crisis, Greek banks had to rely on the ECB and the
Bank of Greece for a significant part of their funding requirements. As at 31 December 2015, the net
financing received by the ECB and the Bank of Greece amounted to €25.3 billion, compared to €12.6
billion as at 31 December 2014 and €17 billion as at 31 December 2013.

Continuing volatility as a result of market forces that are beyond the Group’s control could result in
the Group’s liquidity position to deteriorate further. Such deterioration would increase both the
funding requirement from the ECB and Bank of Greece and the cost of funding, thus affecting the
Group’s capital generating capacity and capital ratios, which could have a material adverse effect on
the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss due to inadequate or failed internal processes, or due to external
events, whether deliberate, accidental or natural occurrences. The events associated to internal
processes include, but are not limited to, fraud and mistakes by employees, clerical and record-
keeping errors and information system malfunctions or manipulations. External events include
floods, fires, earthquakes, civil unrest or terrorist attacks, fraud by outsiders and equipment failures.
Finally, the Bank may also fail to comply with regulatory requirements or conduct of business rules.

The Bank is exposed to the risk of fraud and illegal activities.

Like all financial institutions, the Bank is exposed to risks of fraud and other illegal activities, which
could have a material adverse effect on the Bank’s business, financial condition, results of operations
and prospects. Although the Bank believes that it has effective policies designed to prevent fraud,
the Group’s risk management procedures may not be able to eliminate all cases of fraud.

The Group is also subject to rules and regulations related to money laundering and terrorism
financing. Compliance with anti-money laundering and anti-terrorist financing rules entails significant
cost and effort. Non-compliance with these rules may have serious consequences, including adverse
legal and reputational consequences. Although the Bank believes that its current anti-money
laundering and anti-terrorism financing policies and procedures are adequate to ensure compliance
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with applicable legislation, the Bank may not be able to comply at all times with all rules applicable to
money laundering and terrorism financing as extended to the whole Group and applied to the Bank’s
workers in all circumstances. A violation, or even any suspicion of a violation, of these rules may
have serious legal and financial consequences, which could have a material adverse effect on the
Bank’s business, reputation, financial condition, results of operations and prospects and in turn may
adversely affect the Bank’s ability to pay interest and principal on the Instruments in full and in a
timely manner.

The Bank’s economic hedging may not prevent losses.

If any of the variety of instruments and strategies that the Bank uses to economically hedge the
Bank’s exposure to market risk is not effective, the Bank may incur losses. Many of the Bank’s
strategies are based on historical trading patterns and correlations. Unexpected market
developments therefore may adversely affect the effectiveness of the Bank’s hedging strategies.
Moreover, the Bank does not economically hedge all of the Bank’s risk exposure in all market
environments or against all types of risk. The Group is exposed to several types of risk including, but
not limited to, counterparty risk, which is taken into consideration in the valuation of the fair values of
the various items, or currency risk from the Bank’s participations in certain non-Eurozone foreign
subsidiaries, where currency derivatives against local currencies may be unavailable. These risks
are described in detail in “The Bank is exposed to credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk and operational
risk—Credit Risk” and “The Bank is exposed to credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk and operational
risk—Market Risk”. Even when the Bank is able to hedge certain of the Bank’s risk exposures, the
methodology by which certain risks are economically hedged may not qualify for hedge accounting,
in which case, changes in the fair value of such instruments are recognised immediately in the
income statement, which may result in additional volatility in the Group’s income statement and in
turn may adversely affect the Bank’s ability to pay interest and principal on the Instruments in full and
in a timely manner.

Transactions in the Bank’s portfolio involve risks.

The Bank carries out various proprietary activities, such as trading in primary and secondary markets
for government/corporate securities or interest rate futures. The management of the Bank’s portfolio
includes taking positions in fixed income and equity markets, both through spot and derivative
products and other financial instruments. Trading on account of the Bank’s portfolio carries risks,
since the Bank’s results from proprietary trading depends partly on market conditions. Moreover, the
Bank relies on a vast range of reporting and internal management tools in order for its management
to be able to report its exposure to such transactions correctly and in due time. The Bank may incur
significant losses from proprietary trading, which could have a material adverse effect on the Bank’s
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects and in turn may adversely affect the
Bank’s ability to pay interest and principal on the Instruments in full and in a timely manner.

The Bank’s loan portfolio in Greece may continue to contract.

In the current recessionary economic environment, the Group’s loan portfolio in Greece may continue
to contract, and the Group’s loan portfolio outside of Greece may not grow at historic rates or may
even contract. Furthermore, the number of high credit quality customers in the markets that the
Group targets is limited. Developments in the Bank’s loan portfolio will be affected mainly by, among
other factors, the health of the Greek economy and the successful implementation of the Third
Economic Adjustment Programme. Continued contraction of the Bank’s loan portfolio, in combination
with past due loans, may limit the Bank’s net interest income, which could have a material adverse
effect on the Bank’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects and in turn may
adversely affect the Bank’s ability to pay interest and principal on the Instruments in full and in a
timely manner.
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The Group’s operational systems and networks have been, and will continue to be, exposed
to an increasing risk of continually evolving cybersecurity or other technological threats,
which could result in the disclosure of confidential customer or corporate information, put at
risk the Group’s reputation, increase costs to the Group, or even cause regulatory penalties
and financial or other claims.

Certain of the Group’s operations, including those outsourced to third parties, rely on the secure
processing, storage and transmission of confidential and other information. The Group stores an
extensive amount of personal and other customer-specific information for its retail, corporate and
governmental customers and must accurately and securely record, process and reflect their
extensive account transactions. The proper functioning of the Bank’s payment systems, financial and
sanctions controls, risk management, credit analysis and reporting, accounting, customer service and
other information technology systems, as well as the communication networks between its branches
and main data processing centres, are critical to the Bank’s operations. These activities have been,
and will continue to be, subject to an increasing risk of cyber-attacks. The Group’s computer
systems, software and networks have been and will continue to be exposed to technological failure or
cyber-threats including, but not limited to, unauthorised access, intentional or inadvertent loss or
destruction of data (including confidential customer information), denial of service, computer viruses
or other malicious code and other events. If one or more of these events occurs, it could result in the
disclosure of confidential customer or corporate information, disruptions or malfunctions in the
operations of the Group, its customers or other third parties, putting at risk the Group’s reputation
with its customers and the market, and even causing regulatory penalties and financial claims,
against both the Group and its customers. While the Group maintains insurance coverage that may,
subject to policy terms and conditions, cover certain aspects of cyber risks effects such as fraud and
financial crime, such insurance coverage may have limitations in covering all losses, which may
adversely affect the Bank’s ability to pay interest and principal on the Instruments in full and in a
timely manner.

Additional taxes may be imposed on the Group

Law 4334/2015 imposed an increase in the corporate income tax rate for legal entities from 26 per
cent. to 29 per cent. for fiscal years 2015 and onwards. In addition, in the event that the Greek state
does not achieve the fiscal adjustment targets under the Third Economic Adjustment Programme, the
above tax rate may be further increased and additional taxes, contributions and levies may be
imposed on companies established and operating in Greece, which may adversely affect the Bank
and its Greek subsidiaries.

Additional taxes and penalties may be imposed on Group companies with respect to unaudited tax
years, subject to the statute of limitation applicable to each entity based on local tax legislation. Any
additional taxes imposed on the Bank in the future, or any increases in tax rates, may have a material
adverse effect on the Bank’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

For the years ended 31 December 2011 to 31 December 2014, Group entities in Greece that have
obtained an “unqualified” annual tax certificate from statutory auditors, may be under certain
conditions subject to a tax re-audit from tax authorities within the applicable statute of limitations (i.e.
in principle five years as from the end of the fiscal year within which the relevant tax return should
have been submitted).

Particularly according to Ministerial Decision POL1159/2011 as amended by Ministerial Decision
POL 1034/2016, issued for the implementation of the provisions relevant to the fiscal years starting
prior to 1 January 2014, the Ministry of Finance will select, using certain criteria on the basis of a risk
analysis method, audited companies for tax re-audit by the competent tax authorities. In addition, the
tax authorities may conduct a partial tax audit in Group entities in Greece that have obtained an
“‘unqualified” tax certificate, in cases where (a) they have evidences or information for tax offences
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not identified by the statutory auditors or (b) additional information, not available to the statutory
auditors during their tax audit, brought to their attention at a later stage. Indicatively, partial tax audit
may be conducted by the tax authorities, within the applicable statute of limitations, in case of
evidence or information regarding breaches of the money laundering legislation, forced or fictitious
invoices, transactions with certain companies or breaches of transfer pricing rules, etc.

For fiscal years starting from 1 January 2014 onwards, according to a Ministerial Circular POL 1006/
2016 issued by the Greek Ministry of Finance accepting a relevant opinion of the State’s Legal
Counsel (NSK 256/2015), additional taxes and penalties may be imposed within the applicable
statute of limitations (i.e. in principle five years as from the end of the fiscal year within which the
relevant tax return should have been submitted), irrespective of whether an unqualified tax certificate
has been obtained from the taxpaying company.

The Bank may face difficulties in integrating, as well as potential liabilities relating to,
businesses the Bank has acquired in the past or may acquire in the future.

Despite the passage of time and the integration of acquired businesses into the Group, the Bank may
discover issues relating to the Acquired Businesses or other businesses that the Bank has acquired
or may in the future acquire, including legal, regulatory, control, compliance and operational issues,
that may have a material adverse effect on the Bank’'s business, results of operations, financial
condition and reputation and in turn may adversely affect the Bank’s ability to pay interest and
principal on the Instruments in full and in a timely manner. As a result, liabilities associated with
acquired businesses, including provisions, may be substantial and may exceed the amount of
liabilities that the Bank initially anticipated. In addition, the Bank may face difficulties integrating
acquired businesses, such as the acquisition of Alpha Bank’s Bulgarian branch, and may not achieve
the anticipated benefits or synergies of such acquisitions.

Factors which are material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated with
Instruments issued under the Programme

Each of the risks highlighted below could adversely affect the trading price of any Instruments or the
rights of investors under any Instruments and, as a result, investors could lose some or all of their
investment.

Instruments may not be a suitable investment for all investors

Each potential investor in any Instruments must determine the suitability of that investment in light of
its own circumstances. In particular, each potential investor should:

0] have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the relevant
Instruments, the merits and risks of investing in the relevant Instruments and the information
contained or incorporated by reference in this Prospectus, the applicable Final Terms or any
applicable supplement;

(i) have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of
its particular financial situation, an investment in the relevant Instruments and the impact such
investment will have on its overall investment portfolio;

(iii) have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the
relevant Instruments, including where principal or interest is payable in one or more
currencies or where the currency for principal or interest payments is different from the
currency in which such investor’s financial activities are principally denominated;

(iv) understand thoroughly the terms of the relevant Instruments and be familiar with the
behaviour of any relevant indices and financial markets; and
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(v) be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for
economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear
the applicable risks.

In addition, an investment in any Exempt Instruments that are Reference Item Linked Instruments
may entail significant risks not associated with investments in conventional securities such as debt or
equity securities, including, but not limited to, the risks set out in “Risks related to the structure of a
particular issue of Instruments” set out below.

Some Instruments are complex financial instruments and such Instruments may be purchased as a
way to reduce risk or enhance yield with an understood, measured, appropriate addition of risk to
their overall portfolios. A potential investor should not invest in Instruments which are complex
financial instruments unless it has the expertise (either alone or with the assistance of a financial
adviser) to evaluate how such Instruments will perform under changing conditions, the resulting
effects on the value of such Instruments and the impact this investment will have on the potential
investor’s overall investment portfolio.

Risks related to the structure of a particular issue of Instruments

A wide range of Instruments may be issued under the Programme. A number of these Instruments
may have features which contain particular risks for potential investors. Set out below is a description
of certain such features:

Instruments subject to optional or mandatory redemption by the relevant Issuer

An optional redemption feature is likely to limit the market value of Instruments. During any period
when the relevant Issuer may elect to redeem Instruments, the market value of those Instruments
generally will not rise substantially above the price at which they can be redeemed. This also may be
true prior to any redemption period.

In respect of Instruments which are conventional debt securities, the relevant Issuer may be
expected to redeem such Instruments when its cost of borrowing is lower than the interest rate on the
Instruments. At those times, an investor generally would not be able to reinvest the redemption
proceeds at an effective interest rate as high as the interest rate on the Instruments being redeemed
and may only be able to do so at a significantly lower rate. Potential investors should consider
reinvestment risk in light of other investments available at that time.

In the event that the relevant Issuer determines that the performance of the relevant Issuer’s
obligations under any Instruments or (if applicable) the Guarantor's obligations in respect thereof
under the Deed of Guarantee has or will become unlawful, illegal, or otherwise prohibited in whole or
in part, the relevant Issuer may redeem all (but not some only) of such Instruments, each Instrument
being redeemed at the Early Termination Amount specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement,
together, if appropriate, with accrued interest.

If Autocall is specified as applying in the applicable Pricing Supplement and an Autocall Event (as set
out in the applicable Pricing Supplement) occurs, the relevant Issuer will redeem all (but not some
only) of the Exempt Instruments, each Exempt Instrument being redeemed at the Autocall
Redemption Amount specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Reference Item Linked Instruments

Each Issuer may issue Exempt Instruments (“Reference Item Linked Instruments”, such term to
include, but not be limited to, Dual Currency Instruments, Index Linked Instruments and Equity
Linked Instruments) with principal and/or interest determined by reference to an underlying
comprising one or more equity securities, indices, debt securities, commodities, interest rates,
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currency exchange rates or other item(s) (each a “Reference Item”). Potential investors should be
aware that:

0] the market price of such Exempt Instruments may be volatile;
(i) they may receive no interest;

(iii) payment of principal or interest may occur at a different time or in a different currency than
expected;

(iv) the amount of principal payable at redemption may be less than the nominal amount of such
Exempt Instruments or even zero;

(V) a Reference Item may be subject to significant fluctuations that may not correlate with
changes in interest rates, currencies or other indices;

(vi) if a Reference Item is applied to Exempt Instruments in conjunction with a multiplier greater
than one or contains some other leverage factor, the effect of changes in the Reference Item
on principal or interest payable is likely to be magnified; and

(vii)  the timing of changes in a Reference Item may affect the actual yield to investors, even if the
average level is consistent with their expectations. In general, the earlier the change in the
Reference Item, the greater the effect on yield.

Reference Item Linked Instruments may involve a high degree of risk.

Prospective investors in Reference Item Linked Instruments should understand the risks of
transactions involving Reference Item Linked Instruments and should reach an investment decision
only after careful consideration, with their advisers, of the suitability of such Reference Item Linked
Instruments in light of their particular financial circumstances, the information set forth herein and the
information regarding the relevant Reference Item Linked Instruments and the particular Reference
ltem(s) to which the value of, or payments in respect of, the relevant Reference Item Linked
Instruments may relate, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

As the amount of interest payable periodically and/or the Maturity Redemption Amount payable at
maturity may be linked to the performance of the Reference Item(s), an investor in a Reference Item
Linked Instrument must generally be correct about the direction, timing and magnitude of an
anticipated change in the value of the Reference Item(s).

Where the applicable Pricing Supplement specifies one or more Reference ltem(s), the relevant
Reference Item Linked Instruments will represent an investment linked to the economic performance
of such Reference Item(s) and prospective investors should note that the return (if any) on their
investment in Reference Item Linked Instruments will depend upon the performance of such
Reference ltem(s). Potential investors should also note that whilst the market value of such
Reference Item Linked Instruments is linked to such Reference Item(s) and will be influenced
(positively or negatively) by such Reference Item(s), any change may not be comparable and may be
disproportionate. It is impossible to predict how the level of the Reference Item(s) will vary over time.
In contrast to a direct investment in the Reference Item(s), Reference Item Linked Instruments
represent the right to receive payment of the relevant Maturity Redemption Amount on the relevant
Maturity Date as well as periodic payments of interest (if specified in the applicable Pricing
Supplement), all or some of which may be determined by reference to the performance of the
Reference Item(s). The applicable Pricing Supplement will set out the provisions for the
determination of the Maturity Redemption Amount and of any periodic interest payments.
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PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS MUST REVIEW THE APPLICABLE PRICING SUPPLEMENT TO
ASCERTAIN WHAT THE REFERENCE ITEM(S) ARE AND TO SEE HOW BOTH THE MATURITY
REDEMPTION AMOUNT AND ANY PERIODIC INTEREST PAYMENTS ARE DETERMINED AND
WHEN ANY SUCH AMOUNTS ARE PAYABLE, BEFORE MAKING ANY DECISION TO
PURCHASE ANY REFERENCE ITEM LINKED INSTRUMENTS.

Fluctuations in the value and/or volatility of the Reference Item(s) may affect the value of the relevant
Reference Item Linked Instruments. Investors in Reference Item Linked Instruments may risk losing
their entire investment if the value(s) of the Reference Item(s) does/do not move in the anticipated
direction.

There is no return on Reference Item Linked Instruments other than the potential payment of the
Maturity Redemption Amount on maturity and payment of any periodic interest payments.

Other factors which may influence the market value of Reference Item Linked Instruments include
interest rates, potential dividend or interest payments (as applicable) in respect of the Reference
Item(s), changes in the method of calculating the level of the Reference Item(s) from time to time and
market expectations regarding the future performance of the Reference Item(s), its constituents and
such Reference Item Linked Instruments.

If any of the Reference Item(s) is an index, the value of such Reference Item on any day will reflect
the value of its constituents on such day. Changes in the composition of such Reference Item and
factors (including those described above) which either affect or may affect the value of the
constituents, will affect the value of such Reference Item and therefore may affect the return on an
investment in the relevant Reference Item Linked Instruments.

An Issuer may issue several issues of Reference Item Linked Instruments relating to particular
Reference Item(s). However, no assurance can be given that any Issuer will issue any Reference
Item Linked Instruments other than the Reference Item Linked Instruments to which the applicable
Pricing Supplement relates. At any given time, the number of Reference Item Linked Instruments
outstanding may be substantial. Reference Item Linked Instruments provide opportunities for
investment and pose risks to investors as a result of fluctuations in the value of the Reference Item(s)
to which such Reference Item Linked Instruments relate.

If any of the Reference Item(s) is an equity security or a basket of equity securities, an investment in
the relevant Reference Item Linked Instruments may bear similar market risks to a direct equity
investment and investors should take advice accordingly.

PROSPECTIVE PURCHASERS OF REFERENCE ITEM LINKED INSTRUMENTS MUST REVIEW
THE APPLICABLE PRICING SUPPLEMENT TO ASCERTAIN WHAT PROVISIONS AS
DESCRIBED HEREIN ARE RELEVANT IN RELATION TO SUCH EXEMPT INSTRUMENTS AND
HOW SUCH PROVISIONS APPLY.

Dual Currency Instruments

Dual Currency Instruments may be redeemable by payment of either the par value amount or an
amount determined by reference to the value of the Reference Item(s), which may be less than the
par value amount. Interest payable on Dual Currency Instruments may be calculated by reference to
the value of one or more Reference Item(s).

Equity Linked Instruments

Each Issuer may issue Exempt Instruments where the amount of principal (“Equity Linked
Redemption Instruments”) and/or interest (“Equity Linked Interest Instruments”) payable is dependent
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upon the price of or changes in the price of an equity security or a basket of equity securities
(together, “Equity Linked Instruments”).

Potential investors in any such Exempt Instruments should be aware that, depending on the terms of
the Equity Linked Instruments (i) they may receive no or a limited amount of interest, (ii) payment of
principal or interest may occur at a different time than expected and (iii) they may lose all or a
substantial portion of their investment. In addition, movements in the price of the equity security or
basket of equity securities may be subject to significant fluctuations that may not correlate with
changes in interest rates, currencies or any relevant indices and the timing of changes in the relevant
price of the equity security or equity securities may affect the actual yield to investors, even if the
average level is consistent with their expectations. In general, the earlier the change in the price of
the equity security or equity securities, the greater the effect on yield.

If a Disrupted Day (being a day on which a relevant Exchange or Related Exchange fails to open or
on which a Market Disruption Event occurs) occurs, this may have an effect on the timing of valuation
and consequently the value of the Exempt Instruments and/or may delay (i) any applicable interest
payments, in the case of Equity Linked Interest Instruments, or (ii) settlement, in the case of Equity
Linked Redemption Instruments. Prospective purchasers should review the Terms and Conditions of
the Exempt Instruments and the applicable Pricing Supplement to ascertain whether and how such
provisions apply to the Exempt Instruments.

If Potential Adjustment Events and/or De-listing, Merger Event, Nationalisation and Insolvency and/or
Tender Offer is/are specified as applying in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the Exempt
Instruments may be subject to adjustment, including, if applicable, the substitution of the Underlying
Equity or Underlying Equities or, in the case of the occurrence of a De-listing, Merger Event,
Nationalisation or Insolvency and/or Tender Offer, may be redeemed as further provided in Condition
9.2.

In respect of Equity Linked Instruments relating to an equity security or equity securities originally
quoted, listed and/or dealt as of the relevant Trade Date in a currency of a member state of the
European Union that has not adopted the single currency in accordance with the Treaty on the
Functioning of the European Union, as amended, if such equity security or equity securities is/are at
any time after the Trade Date quoted, listed and/or dealt exclusively in euro on the relevant
Exchange, prospective purchasers should note that the Calculation Agent will adjust any one or more
of the relevant Interest Amount and/or the Maturity Redemption Amount and/or the Strike Price
and/or the Multiplier and/or any of the other terms of the Terms and Conditions and/or the applicable
Pricing Supplement as the Calculation Agent determines in its sole and absolute discretion to be
appropriate to preserve the economic terms of the Exempt Instruments. Prospective purchasers
should also note that the Calculation Agent will make any conversion necessary for the purposes of
any such adjustment as of the relevant Valuation Time at an appropriate mid-market spot rate of
exchange determined by the Calculation Agent prevailing as of the relevant Valuation Time.

The market price of such Exempt Instruments may be volatile and may be affected by the time
remaining to the redemption date, the volatility of the equity security or equity securities, the dividend
rate (if any) and the financial results and prospects of the issuer or issuers of the relevant equity
security or equity securities as well as economic, financial and political events in one or more
jurisdictions, including factors affecting the stock exchange(s) or quotation system(s) on which any
such securities may be traded.

Index Linked Instruments

Each Issuer may issue Exempt Instruments where the amount of principal (“Index Linked
Redemption Instruments”) and/or interest (“Index Linked Interest Instruments”) payable is dependent
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upon the level, or changes in the level, of an index or a basket of indices (together, “Index Linked
Instruments”).

Potential investors in any such Exempt Instruments should be aware that, depending on the terms of
the Index Linked Instruments (i) they may receive no or a limited amount of interest, (ii) payment of
principal or interest may occur at a different time than expected and (iii) they may lose all or a
substantial portion of their principal investment. In addition, movements in the level of the index or
basket of indices may be subject to significant fluctuations that may not correlate with changes in
interest rates, currencies or other indices and the timing of changes in the relevant level of the index
or indices may affect the actual yield to investors, even if the average level is consistent with their
expectations. In general, the earlier the change in the level of an index or result of a formula, the
greater the effect on yield.

If a Disrupted Day (being a day on which either a relevant Exchange or Related Exchange fails to
open or the relevant index level is not published or on which a Market Disruption Event occurs)
occurs, this may have an effect on the timing of valuation and consequently the value of the Exempt
Instruments and/or may delay (i) any applicable interest payments, in the case of Index Linked
Interest Instruments, or (i) settlement, in the case of Index Linked Redemption Instruments.
Prospective purchasers should review the Terms and Conditions of the Exempt Instruments and the
applicable Pricing Supplement to ascertain how such provisions apply to the Exempt Instruments.

If an Index Adjustment Event (as defined in the “Terms and Conditions of the Instruments” and
relating to a relevant index maodification, cancellation or disruption) occurs, the relevant Issuer may
either require the Calculation Agent to determine if such Index Adjustment Event has a material effect
on the Exempt Instruments and if so, to calculate the Reference Price as further provided in
Condition 8.2(ii)(A), may require the Calculation Agent to substitute the relevant Index with a
replacement index using the same or a substantially similar method of calculation as used in the
calculation of the relevant Index or the relevant Issuer may elect to redeem all (but not some only) of
the Exempt Instruments, each Calculation Amount being redeemed at the Early Termination Amount.

The market price of such Exempt Instruments may be volatile and may be affected by the time
remaining to the redemption date and the volatility of the level of the index or indices. The level of the
index or indices may be affected by the economic, financial and political events in one or more
jurisdictions, including the stock exchange(s) or quotation system(s) on which any securities
comprising the index or indices may be traded.

Additional Disruption Events (Index Linked Instruments and Equity Linked Instruments only)

If Additional Disruption Events are specified as applying in the applicable Pricing Supplement and
any such event as specified occurs, the Exempt Instruments will be subject to adjustment or may be
redeemed, each Calculation Amount being redeemed at the Early Termination Amount specified in
the applicable Pricing Supplement. Prospective investors must review the “Terms and Conditions of
the Instruments” and the applicable Pricing Supplement to ascertain whether and how such
provisions apply to the Exempt Instruments.

Partly Paid Instruments
In the case of Exempt Instruments only, each Issuer may issue Exempt Instruments where the issue

price is payable in more than one instalment. Failure to pay any subsequent instalment could result in
an investor losing all of its investment.
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Variable rate Instruments with a multiplier or other leverage factor

Instruments with variable interest rates can be volatile investments. If they are structured to include
multipliers or other leverage factors, or caps or floors, or any combination of those features or other
similar related features, their market values may be even more volatile than those for securities that
do not include those features.

Inverse Floating Rate Instruments

Inverse Floating Rate Instruments have an interest rate equal to a fixed rate minus a rate based upon
a reference rate such as LIBOR. The market values of such Instruments typically are more volatile
than market values of other conventional floating rate debt securities based on the same reference
rate (and with otherwise comparable terms). Inverse Floating Rate Instruments are more volatile
because an increase in the reference rate not only decreases the interest rate of the Instruments, but
may also reflect an increase in prevailing interest rates, which further adversely affects the market
value of these Instruments.

Fixed/Floating Rate Instruments

Fixed/Floating Rate Instruments may bear interest at a rate that the relevant Issuer may elect to
convert from a fixed rate to a floating rate, or from a floating rate to a fixed rate. The relevant Issuer’s
ability to convert the interest rate will affect the secondary market in, and the market value of, such
Instruments since the relevant Issuer may be expected to convert the rate when it is likely to result in
a lower overall cost of borrowing for the Issuer. If the relevant Issuer converts from a fixed rate to a
floating rate, the spread on the Fixed/Floating Rate Instruments may be less favourable than then
prevailing spreads on comparable Floating Rate Instruments tied to the same reference rate. In
addition, the new floating rate at any time may be lower than the rates on other Instruments. If the
relevant Issuer converts from a floating rate to a fixed rate, the fixed rate may be lower than then
prevailing rates on its Instruments.

Instruments issued at a substantial discount or premium

The market values of securities issued at a substantial discount or premium to their nominal amount
tend to fluctuate more in relation to general changes in interest rates than do prices for conventional
interest-bearing securities. Generally, the longer the remaining term of the securities, the greater the
price volatility as compared to conventional interest-bearing securities with comparable maturities.

The relevant Issuer’s obligations under Subordinated Instruments are subordinated

As described under Condition 3B under “Terms and Conditions of the Instruments”, the payment
obligations of the relevant Issuer in respect of Subordinated Instruments issued by it will be
subordinated and will rank behind the claims of Senior Creditors of the Issuer. “Senior Creditors of
the Issuer” means creditors of the relevant Issuer who are either unsubordinated creditors of the
relevant Issuer or who are subordinated creditors of the relevant Issuer but whose claims are
expressed to rank in priority to the claims of the Holders of Subordinated Instruments (whether only
in the winding-up of the relevant Issuer or otherwise). Payments of principal and interest in respect of
Subordinated Instruments (whether in the winding-up of the relevant Issuer or otherwise) will be
conditional upon the relevant Issuer being solvent at the time of making such payments. Principal or
interest will not be paid in respect of Subordinated Instruments except to the extent that the relevant
Issuer could make such payment and still be solvent immediately thereafter.

In the event of the dissolution, liquidation, special liquidation and/or bankruptcy (to the extent

applicable) of the relevant Issuer, the Holders of Subordinated Instruments will only be paid by the
relevant Issuer after all Senior Creditors of the Issuer have been paid in full.
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The Guarantor’s obligations under the Deed of Guarantee in respect of Subordinated
Instruments issued by ERB Hellas PLC and ERB Hellas (Cayman Islands) Limited are
subordinated

As described under Condition 4B under “Terms and Conditions of the Instruments”, the payment
obligations of the Guarantor under the Deed of Guarantee in respect of Subordinated Instruments
issued by ERB Hellas PLC and ERB Hellas (Cayman Islands) Limited will be subordinated and will
rank behind the claims of Senior Creditors of the Guarantor. “Senior Creditors of the Guarantor”
means creditors of the Guarantor who are either unsubordinated creditors of the Guarantor or who
are subordinated creditors of the Guarantor but whose claims are expressed to rank in priority to the
claims of the Holders of Subordinated Instruments or other persons claiming under the Deed of
Guarantee (whether only in the winding-up of the Guarantor or otherwise). Payments under the Deed
of Guarantee will be conditional upon the Guarantor being solvent at the time of making such
payments. Payment will not be made under the Deed of Guarantee except to the extent that the
Guarantor could make such payment and still be solvent immediately thereafter.

In the event of the dissolution, liquidation, special liquidation and/or bankruptcy (to the extent
applicable) of the Guarantor, the Holders of Subordinated Instruments will only be paid by the
Guarantor after all Senior Creditors of the Guarantor have been paid in full.

Although Subordinated Instruments may pay a higher rate of interest than comparable Instruments
which are not subordinated, there is a significant risk that an investor in Subordinated Instruments will
lose all or some of his investment in the event that the relevant Issuer and (if applicable) the
Guarantor become insolvent. Furthermore, pursuant to Law 3864/2010, as amended by Law
4254/2014, in certain circumstances where a credit institution has been unable to cover a capital
shortfall through voluntary measures, subordinated instruments may mandatorily be converted into
Tier 1 capital instruments, including ordinary shares, or the nominal value of such subordinated
obligations may mandatorily be decreased.

General risks related to a particular issue of Instruments
No Claim against any Reference Iltem(s)

An Exempt Instrument will not represent a claim against any Reference Item(s) and, in the event that
the amount paid on redemption of the Exempt Instruments is less than the nominal amount of the
Exempt Instruments, a Holder will not have recourse under any Exempt Instrument to any Reference
Item(s).

An investment in Exempt Instruments linked to one or more Reference Item(s) may entail
significant risks not associated with investments in conventional debt securities, including
but not limited to the risks set out in this section “General risks related to a particular issue of
Instruments”. The amount paid on redemption of such Exempt Instruments may be less than
the nominal amount of the Exempt Instruments, together with any accrued interest, and may
in certain circumstances be zero.

Hedging

In the ordinary course of its business, including without limitation in connection with its market making
activities, the Bank and/or any of its affiliates may effect transactions for its own account or for the
account of its customers and hold long or short positions in the Reference Item(s) or related
derivatives. In addition, in connection with an offering of Exempt Instruments, the relevant Issuer, (if
applicable) the Guarantor and/or any of their respective affiliates may enter into one or more hedging
transactions with respect to the Reference Item(s) or related derivatives. In connection with such
hedging or market-making activities or with respect to proprietary or other trading activities by the
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relevant Issuer, (if applicable) the Guarantor and/or any of their respective affiliates, the relevant
Issuer, (if applicable) the Guarantor and/or any of their respective affiliates may enter into
transactions in the Reference Item(s) or related derivatives which may affect the market price,
liquidity or value of the relevant Instruments and which could be deemed to be adverse to the
interests of the Holders of such Exempt Instruments.

Potential Conflicts of Interest

Where the relevant Issuer or (if applicable) the Guarantor acts as Calculation Agent or the
Calculation Agent is an affiliate of the relevant Issuer or (if applicable) the Guarantor, potential
conflicts of interest may exist between the Calculation Agent and Holders of the relevant Instruments,
including with respect to certain determinations and judgements that the Calculation Agent may make
pursuant to the terms of such Instruments that may influence the amount receivable in respect of the
relevant Instruments. The relevant Issuer, (if applicable) the Guarantor and/or any Dealer may at the
date hereof or at any time hereafter be in possession of information in relation to any Reference
Item(s) that is or may be material in the context of an issue of Instruments and may or may not be
publicly available to Holders of the relevant Instruments. There is no obligation on the relevant Issuer,
(if applicable) the Guarantor or any Dealer to disclose to Holders of the relevant Instruments any
such information. The relevant Issuer, (if applicable) the Guarantor and/or any of their respective
affiliates may have existing or future business relationships with any Reference Item(s) (including, but
not limited to, lending, depositary, risk management, advisory and banking relationships), and will
pursue actions and take steps that they or it deems necessary or appropriate to protect their and/or
its interests arising therefrom without regard to the consequences for a Holder of any Instrument.

Impact of the bank recovery and resolution directive

On 2 July 2014, the BRRD, providing for the establishment of an EU framework for the recovery and
resolution of credit institutions and investment firms, entered into force. The BRRD is designed to
provide authorities with a credible set of resolution tools and powers to intervene sufficiently early
and quickly in an unsound or failing institution, so as to ensure the continuity of the institution's critical
financial and economic functions, while minimising the impact of an institution's failure on the
economy and financial system.

The BRRD, as transposed into Greek law by Law 4335/2015 (as amended by Laws 4340/2015,
4346/2015, 4354/2015 and 4370/2016 and in force) contains four resolution tools and powers which
may be used alone or in combination where the relevant resolution authority considers that (a) an
institution is failing or likely to fail, (b) there is no reasonable prospect that any alternative private
sector measures would prevent the failure of such institution within a reasonable timeframe, and (c) a
resolution action is in the public interest: (i) sale of business — which enables resolution authorities to
direct the sale of the firm or the whole or part of its business on commercial terms; (i) bridge
institution — which enables resolution authorities to transfer all or part of the business of the firm to a
“pbridge institution” (an entity created for this purpose that is wholly or partially in public control); (iii)
asset separation — which enables resolution authorities to transfer impaired or problem assets to one
or more publicly owned asset management vehicles to allow them to be managed with a view to
maximising their value through eventual sale or orderly wind-down (this can be used together with
another resolution tool only); and (iv) bail-in — which gives resolution authorities the power to write
down certain claims of unsecured creditors of a failing institution and to convert certain unsecured
debt claims to equity (the “general bail-in tool”).

In particular, with respect to the general bail-in tool, the resolution authority (i.e. the Single Resolution
Board as of 1 January 2016) will exercise the write-down and/or conversion powers in accordance
with the priority of claims described in Law 4335/2015 (see “Regulation and Supervision of Banks in
the Hellenic Republic — Resolution tools & Resolution Authority’s powers”). The equity resulting from
such conversion may also be subject to future cancellation, transfer or significant dilution. It should
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be noted that upon exercise of the general bail-in tool, the Bank may not be in a position to pay
interest and principal on the Instruments in full and in a timely manner and any rights of the Holders
of the Instruments may be varied, if necessary, so as to give effect to any bail-in action by the
relevant resolution authority.

The BRRD, as transposed into Greek law by Law 4335/2015, as amended and in force, also provides
for a Member State as a last resort, after having assessed and exploited the above resolution tools to
the maximum extent possible whilst maintaining financial stability, to be able to provide extraordinary
public financial support through additional financial stabilisation tools. These consist of the public
equity support and temporary public ownership tools. Any such extraordinary financial support must
be provided in accordance with the EU state aid framework.

An institution will be considered as failing or likely to fail when: it is, or is likely in the near future to be,
in breach of its requirements for continuing authorisation; its assets are, or are likely in the near
future to be, less than its liabilities; it is, or is likely in the near future to be, unable to pay its debts as
they fall due; or it requires extraordinary public financial support (except in limited circumstances).

In addition to the general bail-in tool, the BRRD, as transposed into Greek law, provides for resolution
authorities to have the further power to permanently write-down or convert into equity capital
instruments such as Subordinated Instruments at the point of non-viability and before any other
resolution action is taken (“non-viability loss absorption”). Any shares issued to holders of
Subordinated Instruments upon any such conversion into equity may also be subject to the general
bail-in tool, resulting in their future cancellation, transfer or significant dilution.

For the purposes of the application of any non-viability loss absorption measure, the point of non-
viability is the point at which the relevant authority determines that the institution meets the conditions
for resolution (but no resolution action has yet been taken) or that the institution will no longer be
viable unless the relevant capital instruments (such as Subordinated Instruments) are written-down
or converted or extraordinary public support is to be provided and without such support the
appropriate authority determines that the institution would no longer be viable.

Accordingly, the Holders of Instruments may be subject to write-down or conversion into equity on
any application of the general bail-in tool and, in the case of Subordinated Instruments, non-viability
loss absorption, which may result in such holders losing some or all of their investment, including
principal amount plus any accrued interest. The write-down or conversion into equity may be
imposed, without any prior notice by the resolution authority to the Holders of the Instruments of its
decision to exercise such power. It should be further noted that the obligations of the Bank, in its
capacity as Guarantor against the Holders of Instruments, may also be subject to the general bail-in
tool and therefore the Bank’s ability to meet its obligations under the Deed of Guarantee may be
adversely affected.

The occurrence of circumstances under which write-down or conversion powers would need to be
exercised would be likely to affect trading behaviour of the Bank, if the latter is considered as failing
or likely to fail by the resolution authority and to generally have a material adverse impact on the
Bank’s business, assets, cash flows, financial condition and results of operation, as well as on its
funding activities and the products and services offered.

As a result, any remaining Instruments may be of little trading value at the time that any bail-in power
is exercised or become so thereafter as a result of legal challenges that may be raised against such
bail-in action by any interested parties. Moreover, the Instruments may not follow the trading
behaviour or patterns associated with this type of instruments under different market conditions.

Finally, to the extent that any resolution action is exercised pursuant to Law 4335/2015 or otherwise,
the trading of the Instruments may be restricted or suspended.
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Other than the general bail-in tool and, in the case of Subordinated Instruments, non-viability loss
absorption, the Bank may also be subject to further resolution measures that may have a significant
adverse effect on the Instruments, including the establishment of a bridge institution, whereby the
Instruments may not be transferred to the bridge institution, but remain with the residual part of the
Bank that will cease to operate and will be wound up under normal insolvency proceedings (i.e.
special liquidation). In such a case, the Holders of the Instruments may lose some or all of their
investment and the Bank’s ability to perform its obligations under the Instruments, in its capacity as
Guarantor, may be adversely affected.

The exercise of any power under the BRRD, as transposed into Greek law by Law 4335/2015, or any
suggestion of such exercise could, therefore, materially adversely affect the rights of Holders of
Instruments, the price or value of their investment in the Instruments and/or the ability of the relevant
Issuer to satisfy its obligations under the Instruments and (if applicable) the ability of the Guarantor to
satisfy its obligations under the Guarantee.

Moreover, the powers set out in the BRRD, as implemented into Greece by virtue of Law 4335/2015,
impact how credit institutions and investment firms are managed, as well as, in certain
circumstances, the rights of creditors (see also “Risk Factors — The new framework on bank recovery
and resolution may adversely affect the composition of the Bank’s Board of Directors and
management team and the Bank’s financial condition, results of operations and prospects” above).

The claims of Holders of Instruments against the Bank will be of low ranking in case the Bank
is placed under special liquidation.

In the event of special liquidation of the Bank, and subject to certain exemptions regarding claims of
preferential treatment (arising from financial collateral arrangements within the meaning of article 2 of
Law 3301/2004 or in connection to deposits of the Deposits Cover Scheme and Investments Cover
Scheme of the HDIGF held with the Bank or in connection to contributions owed to such schemes by
the Bank), the claims against the Bank shall be satisfied in the order of priority set out in par. 1 of
article 145A, which was added to Law 4261/2014 by means of Law 4335/2015.

In particular, pursuant to article 145A of Law 4261/2014, in case the Bank has been placed under
special liquidation, claims against it shall be ranked as follows: (i) employment claims, as further
defined in article 154 (c) of Law 3588/2007 (“Bankruptcy Code”); (ii) State claims in case that the
public equity support tool has been used pursuant to articles 57 and 58 of Law 4335/2015; (iii) claims
stemming from guaranteed deposits or subrogation claims of the HDGIF or claims of the HDIGF
under the Deposits Cover Scheme in the context of resolution under article 104 of Law 4335/2015;
(iv) State claims, irrespective of cause, including surcharges of any nature and interest charged on
these claims; (v) claims of the Resolution Fund provided for under par. 6 of article 98 of Law
4335/2015 in case of financing for the purposes of fulfilling the obligations of the Resolution Fund, as
further specified in article 95 of Law 4335/2015 and claims stemming from eligible deposits, insofar
as they exceed €100,000 for deposits of individuals and small enterprises and SMEs; (vi) claims from
covered investment services or relevant subrogation claims of the HDGIF; (vii) claims from eligible
deposits, insofar as they exceed €100,000, but do not fall under (v) above; (viii) claims from deposits
not covered under the compensation scheme of the HDGIF, with the exception of certain deposits set
out in article 145A of Law 4261/2014; (ix) all claims neither falling under (i) to (viii) above nor being
subordinated in accordance with the respective agreements, excluding, inter alia, claims from bonds
issued by the Bank (unless guaranteed by the Hellenic Republic) and claims arising from guarantees
granted by the Bank in relation to bonds or hybrid instruments issued by the Bank’s subsidiaries,
having their registered seat in Greece or abroad.

In light of the above, in case the Bank is placed under special liquidation, the claims of Holders of

Instruments will rank after all claims referred to under (i) to (ix) above and therefore, the Bank’s ability
to fulfil its obligations under the Programme in full and in a timely manner may be adversely affected.
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Risks related to Instruments generally
Set out below is a brief description of certain risks relating to the Instruments generally:
Modification, waivers and substitution

The Terms and Conditions of the Instruments contain provisions for calling meetings of Holders of
Instruments to consider matters affecting their interests generally. These provisions permit defined
majorities to bind all Holders of Instruments including Holders who did not attend and vote at the
relevant meeting and Holders who voted in a manner contrary to the majority.

The Terms and Conditions of the Instruments also provide that each Issuer may, without the consent
of any Holder, substitute for itself any other body corporate incorporated in any country in the world
as the debtor in respect of the outstanding Instruments issued by such Issuer upon notice by the
relevant Issuer and the substituted debtor provided that certain conditions as set out in Condition 21
of the Terms and Conditions of the Instruments are complied with. These conditions include the
relevant Issuer not being in default in respect of any amount payable under the Instruments and the
relevant Issuer and the substituted debtor entering into such documents as are necessary to give
effect to the substitution. Upon such substitution, the substituted debtor shall succeed to, and be
substituted for, and may exercise every right and power, of the relevant Issuer under the outstanding
Instruments issued by the relevant Issuer with the same effect as if the substituted debtor had been
named as the issuer thereof.

U.S. Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act Withholding

Whilst the Instruments are in global form and held within Euroclear Bank SA/NV or Clearstream
Banking, S.A. (together the “ICSDs”), in all but the most remote circumstances, it is not expected that
the new reporting regime and potential withholding tax imposed by sections 1471 through 1474 of the
U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (“FATCA”) will affect the amount of any payment received by
the ICSDs (see “Taxation — Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act”). However, FATCA may affect
payments made to custodians or intermediaries in the subsequent payment chain leading to the
ultimate investor if any such custodian or intermediary generally is unable to receive payments free of
FATCA withholding. It also may affect payment to any ultimate investor that is a financial institution
that is not entitled to receive payments free of withholding under FATCA, or an ultimate investor that
fails to provide its broker (or other custodian or intermediary from which it receives payment) with any
information, forms, other documentation or consents that may be necessary for the payments to be
made free of FATCA withholding. Investors should choose their custodians or intermediaries with
care (to ensure each is compliant with FATCA or other laws or agreements related to FATCA), and
provide each custodian or intermediary with any information, forms, other documentation or consents
that may be necessary for such custodian or intermediary to make a payment free of FATCA
withholding. Investors should consult their own tax adviser to obtain a more detailed explanation of
FATCA and how FATCA may affect them. The Issuer's obligations under the Instruments are
discharged once it has made payment to, or to the order of, the common depositary or common
safekeeper for the ICSDs (as bearer of the Instruments) and the Issuer has therefore no
responsibility for any amount thereafter transmitted through the ICSDs and custodians or
intermediaries. Further, foreign financial institutions in a jurisdiction which has entered into an
intergovernmental agreement with the United States (an “IGA”) are generally not expected to be
required to withhold under FATCA or an IGA (or any law implementing an IGA) from payments they
make.

Hiring Incentives to Restore Employment Act Withholding

The U.S. Hiring Incentives to Restore Employment Act (the “HIRE Act”) imposes a 30 per cent.
withholding tax on amounts attributable to U.S. source dividends that are paid or "deemed paid"
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under certain financial instruments if certain conditions are met. If the Issuer or any withholding
agent determines that withholding is required, neither the Issuer nor any withholding agent will be
required to pay any additional amounts with respect to amounts so withheld. Prospective investors
should refer to the section “Taxation — Hiring Incentives to Restore Employment Act”.

Change of law

The Terms and Conditions of the Instruments are based on English law (save for (i) in the case of
Instruments issued by the Bank, the subordination provisions in Condition 3B, (ii) in the case of
Instruments issued by ERB Hellas PLC or ERB Hellas (Cayman Islands) Limited, the subordination
provisions in Condition 4B and the subordination provisions set out in the Deed of Guarantee, and
(i) Condition 22 which are governed by the laws of the Hellenic Republic) in effect as at the date of
issue of the relevant Instruments. No assurance can be given as to the impact of any possible judicial
decision or change to English law (or the Hellenic Republic law or to the European legislative regime,
as applicable) or administrative practice after the date of issue of the relevant Instruments.

Instruments where denominations involve integral multiples: Definitive Instruments

In relation to any issue of Instruments which have denominations consisting of a minimum
denomination plus one or more higher integral multiples of another smaller amount, it is possible that
such Instruments may be traded in amounts that are not integral multiples of such minimum
denomination. In such a case a holder who, as a result of trading such amounts, holds an amount
which is less than the minimum denomination in his account with the relevant clearing system would
not be able to sell the remainder of such holding without first purchasing a principal amount of
Instruments at or in excess of the minimum denomination such that its holding amounts to a
denomination. Further, a holder who, as a result of trading such amounts, holds an amount which is
less than the minimum denomination in his account with the relevant clearing system at the relevant
time may not receive a Definitive Instrument in respect of such holding (should Definitive Instruments
be printed) and would need to purchase a principal amount of Instruments at or in excess of the
minimum denomination such that its holding amounts to a denomination.

If Definitive Instruments are issued, holders should be aware that Definitive Instruments which have a
denomination that is not an integral multiple of the minimum denomination may be illiquid and difficult
to trade.

Because the Global Instruments are held on behalf of Euroclear and Clearstream,
Luxembourg, investors will have to rely on their procedures for transfer, payment and
communication with the relevant Issuer

Instruments issued under the Programme may be represented by one or more Global Instruments.
Such Global Instruments will be deposited with a common depositary or a common safekeeper for
Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. Except in the circumstances described in the relevant
Global Instrument, investors will not be entitled to receive definitive Instruments. Euroclear and
Clearstream, Luxembourg will maintain records of the beneficial interests in the Global Instruments.
While the Instruments are represented by one of more Global Instruments, investors will be able to
trade their beneficial interests only through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg.

While the Instruments are represented by one of more Global Instruments, the relevant Issuer and/or
the Guarantor, if applicable, will discharge their payment obligations under the Instruments by making
payments to the common depositary or common safekeeper for Euroclear and Clearstream,
Luxembourg for distribution to their account holders. A holder of a beneficial interest in a Global
Instrument must rely on the procedures of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg to receive
payments under the relevant Instruments. The relevant Issuer has no responsibility or liability for the
records in relation to, or payments made in respect of, beneficial interests in the Global Instruments.
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Holders of beneficial interests in the Global Instruments will not have a direct right to vote in respect
of the relevant Instruments. Instead, such holders will be permitted to act only to the extent that they
are enabled by Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg to appoint appropriate proxies. Similarly,
holders of beneficial interests in the Global Instruments will not have a direct right under the Global
Instruments to take enforcement action against the relevant Issuer in the event of a default under the
relevant Instruments.

Risks related to the market generally

Set out below is a brief description of certain market risks, including liquidity risk, exchange rate risk,
interest rate risk and credit risk:

The secondary market generally

Instruments may have no established trading market when issued, and one may never develop. If a
market for the Instruments does develop, it may not be liquid. Therefore, investors may not be able to
sell their Instruments easily or at prices that will provide them with a yield comparable to similar
investments that have a developed secondary market. This is particularly the case for Instruments
that are especially sensitive to interest rate, currency or market risks, are designed for specific
investment objectives or strategies or have been structured to meet the investment requirements of
limited categories of investors. These types of Instruments generally would have a more limited
secondary market and more price volatility than conventional debt securities. llliquidity may have a
severely adverse effect on the market value of Instruments.

Exchange rate risks and exchange controls

The relevant Issuer will pay principal and interest on the Instruments and (if applicable) the Guarantor
will make any payments under the Deed of Guarantee in the Currency of Payment specified in the
applicable Final Terms. This presents certain risks relating to currency conversions if an investor’s
financial activities are denominated principally in a currency or currency unit (the “Investor’s
Currency”) other than the Currency of Payment. These include the risk that exchange rates may
significantly change (including changes due to devaluation of the Currency of Payment or revaluation
of the Investor’s Currency) and the risk that authorities with jurisdiction over the Investor’s Currency
may impose or modify exchange controls. An appreciation in the value of the Investor’'s Currency
relative to the Currency of Payment would decrease (i) the Investor’s Currency-equivalent yield on
the Instruments, (i) the Investor's Currency-equivalent value of the principal payable on the
Instruments and (iii) the Investor’s Currency-equivalent market value of the Instruments.

Government and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange
controls that could adversely affect an applicable exchange rate. As a result, investors may receive
less interest or principal than expected, or no interest or principal.

Interest rate risks

Investment in fixed rate Instruments involves the risk that if market interest rates subsequently
increase above the rate paid on the Fixed Rate Instruments, this will adversely affect the value of the
Fixed Rate Instruments.

Credit ratings may not reflect all risks

One or more independent credit rating agencies may assign credit ratings to an issue of Instruments.
The ratings may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, market, additional
factors discussed above, and other factors that may affect the value of the Instruments. A credit
rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be revised or withdrawn by the
rating agency at any time.
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In general, European regulated investors are restricted under the CRA Regulation from using credit
ratings for regulatory purposes, unless such ratings are issued by a credit rating agency established
in the EU and registered under the CRA Regulation (and such registration has not been withdrawn or
suspended), subject to transitional provisions that apply in certain circumstances whilst the
registration application is pending. Such general restriction will also apply in the case of credit
ratings issued by non-EU credit rating agencies, unless the relevant credit ratings are endorsed by an
EU-registered credit rating agency or the relevant non-EU rating agency is certified in accordance
with the CRA Regulation (and such endorsement action or certification, as the case may be, has not
been withdrawn or suspended). The list of registered and certified rating agencies published by
ESMA on its website in accordance with the CRA Regulation is not conclusive evidence of the status
of the relevant rating agency included in such list, as there may be delays between certain
supervisory measures being taken against a relevant rating agency and the publication of the
updated ESMA list. Certain information with respect to the credit rating agencies and ratings will be
disclosed in the applicable Final Terms.

Market Value of Instruments

The market value of an issue of Instruments will be affected by a number of factors independent of
the creditworthiness of the relevant Issuer or (if applicable) the Guarantor, including, but not limited
to:

(1) in the case of Reference Item Linked Instruments, the value and volatility of the Reference
Iltem(s) and, where the Reference Item(s) is/are equity securities, the dividend rate on the
Reference Item(s) and the financial results and prospects of the issuer of each Reference
Item;

(i) market interest and yield rates;

(iii) fluctuations in exchange rates;

(iv) liquidity of the Instruments or any Reference Item(s) in the secondary market;
(V) the time remaining to any redemption date or the maturity date; and

(vi) economic, financial and political events in one or more jurisdictions, including factors affecting
capital markets generally and the stock exchange(s) on which any Reference Item may be
traded.

In relation to Reference Item Linked Instruments, the price at which a Holder will be able to sell any
such Exempt Instruments prior to maturity may be at a discount, which could be substantial, to the
market value of such Exempt Instruments on the issue date, if, at such time, the market price of the
Reference Item(s) is below, equal to or not sufficiently above the market price of the Reference
Item(s) on the issue date. The historical market prices of any Reference Item should not be taken as
an indication of such Reference Item’s future performance during the term of any such Exempt
Instrument.

Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments

The investment activities of certain investors are subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or
review or regulation by certain authorities. Each potential investor should consult its legal advisers to
determine whether and to what extent (i) Instruments are legal investments for it, (ii) Instruments can
be used as collateral for various types of borrowing and (iii) other restrictions apply to its purchase or
pledge of any Instruments. Financial institutions should consult their legal advisers or the appropriate
regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of Instruments under any applicable risk-based
capital or similar rules.
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Additional Risk Factors

Additional risk factors in relation to specific issues of Exempt Instruments may be included in the
applicable Pricing Supplement.

Prospective investors who consider purchasing any Instruments should reach an investment

decision only after carefully considering the suitability of such Instruments in light of their
particular circumstances.
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OVERVIEW OF THE PROGRAMME

The following is an overview only and should be read in conjunction with the rest of this
Prospectus and, in relation to any Instruments, in conjunction with the applicable Final Terms
and, to the extent applicable, the Terms and Conditions of the Instruments set out herein. Any
decision to invest in any Instruments should be based on a consideration of this Prospectus
as a whole, including any documents incorporated by reference, by any investor. The Issuers,
the Guarantor and any relevant Dealer may agree that Instruments shall be issued in a form
other than that contemplated in the Terms and Conditions, in which event, in the case of PD
Instruments only and, if appropriate, a supplement to this Prospectus or a new Prospectus
will be published.

This Overview constitutes a general description of the Programme for the purposes of Article 22.5(3)
of Commission Regulation (EC) No. 809/2004 (as amended) implementing the Prospectus Directive
(the “Prospectus Regulation”).

Words and expressions defined in “Terms and Conditions of the Instruments” shall have the same
meanings in this Overview.

Information relating to the Issuers and the Guarantor

Issuers: ERB Hellas PLC, a public limited company incorporated under
the laws of England and Wales with registration number
3798157. The registered office of ERB Hellas PLC is at 1st
Floor, 25 Berkeley Square, London W1J 6HN, United Kingdom,
with telephone number +44(0)207 973 8630.

ERB Hellas (Cayman lIslands) Limited, an exempted company
with limited liability incorporated under the laws of the Cayman
Islands with number CR 117363. The registered office of ERB
Hellas (Cayman Islands) Limited is at Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111 Cayman
Islands, with telephone number +1 (345) 945 3901.

Eurobank Ergasias S.A., a public company limited by shares
incorporated under the laws of the Hellenic Republic with
General Commercial Registry number 000223001000. The
registered office of ERB Eurobank Ergasias S.A. is at 8
Othonos Street, Athens 10557, Greece, with telephone number
+30 210 333 7000.

Guarantor of Instruments issued Eurobank Ergasias S.A.
by ERB Hellas PLC and ERB
Hellas (Cayman Islands) Limited:

Business of ERB Hellas PLC and Each of ERB Hellas PLC and ERB Hellas (Cayman Islands)

ERB Hellas (Cayman Islands) Limited is a finance subsidiary of the Bank whose principal

Limited: business is raising debt to be deposited with the Bank.

Business of the Bank: The Bank is currently the third largest bank in Greece in terms
of assets.

In Greece, the Bank enjoys leading positions in Retail Banking,
Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises (“SMEs”), Investment
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Risk Factors:

Banking, Capital Markets, Private Banking and Asset
Management. The Bank is also active in the wider financial
services sector, with a presence in areas such as insurance,
real estate and payroll services.

The Bank operated a total network of more than 1,100
branches, business centres and points of sale as at the end of
2013, in Greece and in Central, Eastern and South-eastern
Europe (“New Europe”), offering a wide range of banking and
financial services to its individual and corporate clients. The
Bank is a public company under Greek law, listed on the
Athens Exchange since April 1999. It is subject to regulation
and supervision by the Bank of Greece and as of 3 November
2014 by the ECB (as defined below) pursuant to the provisions
of Regulation 1024/2013. The Bank is also regulated by the
Hellenic Capital Market Commission.

Risks relating to ERB Hellas PLC, ERB Hellas (Cayman
Islands) Limited and Eurobank Ergasias S.A.

There are certain factors which may affect the relevant Issuer’s
ability to fulfil its obligations under any Instruments issued by it
and (if applicable) the Guarantor’s ability to fulfil its obligations
under the Deed of Guarantee. These include the following:

o each of ERB Hellas PLC and ERB Hellas (Cayman
Islands) Limited is a finance vehicle whose principal
purpose is to raise debt to be deposited with the Bank.
Accordingly, if the Bank’s financial condition was to
deteriorate, the Issuers and investors in the Instruments
may suffer direct and materially adverse consequences;

o uncertainty resulting from Greece’s financial and
economic crisis is likely to continue to have a significant
adverse impact on the Bank’s business;

o recessionary pressures in Greece stemming from the
Second Economic Adjustment Programme may have a
continuing adverse effect on the Bank;

o the Bank is currently restricted in its ability to obtain
funding in the capital markets;

o an accelerated outflow of funds from customer deposits
could cause an increase in costs of funding;

. there are risks associated with the Bank’s need for
additional capital and liquidity;

o the Bank’s wholesale borrowing costs and access to
liquidity and capital have been negatively affected by a
series of recent credit rating downgrades of the Bank
and may be negatively affected by further downgrades;
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the Bank’s borrowing costs and liquidity levels may be
negatively affected by deteriorating asset valuations;

the Bank is exposed to the risk of political instability in
Greece;

the Bank may not be able to pay dividends to its holders
of ordinary shares and preference shares;

the EU regulatory and supervisory framework may
constrain the economic environment and adversely
impact the operating environment of the Bank;

the Group is vulnerable to on-going political disruptions
and volatility in the global financial markets, including
the sovereign debt crisis in the Eurozone;

the Greek state, the European Commission and the
HFSF exercise significant influence on the Bank;

the implementation of the state aid restructuring plan
could subject the Group to a variety of risks;

changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, equity
prices and other market factors affect the Bank’s
businesses;

risks arising from changes in credit quality and the
recoverability of loans and amounts due from
counterparties;

each of the Bank’s businesses is subject to substantial
regulation and regulatory oversight. Any significant
regulatory developments could have an effect on how
the Bank conducts its business and on the results of its
operations;

the Bank conducts significant international activities
outside Greece and as a result, the Group is exposed to
risks in these countries;

liquidity risk is inherent in the Bank’s businesses;
operational risks are inherent in the Bank’s businesses;
the Bank is exposed to the risk of fraud and illegal
activity and various cyber security and technological
risks;

additional taxes may be imposed on the Group; and

there are risks to the Bank’s business relating to the
Bank’s acquisition of New TT HPB and New Proton
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Bank.
Risks relating to Instruments
Certain issues of Instruments may involve a high degree of risk.

There are certain factors which are material for the purpose of
assessing the market risks associated with investing in any
Instruments, which include, without limitation, the fact that
Instruments are unsecured obligations of the relevant Issuer
and (if applicable) the fact that the obligations of the Guarantor
under the Deed of Guarantee (as defined below) are
unsecured, that there may be a time lag between valuation and
settlement in relation to an Instrument, that there may be
potential conflicts of interest, that market disruptions or other
events may occur in respect of the particular Reference Item(s)
(as defined under “Risks related to the structure of a particular
issue of Instruments” in “Risk Factors”) to which the amounts
payable in respect of the relevant Instruments may relate, as
specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement in the case of an
issue of Exempt Instruments, that there may be taxation risks,
that there may be illiquidity of the Instruments in the secondary
market, that there may be the risk that performance of the
relevant Issuer's obligations under the Instruments or (if
applicable) the Guarantor’s obligations under the Deed of
Guarantee in respect thereof may become illegal, that there
may be exchange rate risks and exchange controls and that the
market value of the Instruments may be affected by the
creditworthiness of the relevant Issuer and/or (if applicable) the
Guarantor and a number of additional factors.

In addition, prospective investors in Exempt Instruments that
are Reference Item Linked Instruments (as defined under
‘Risks related to the structure of a particular issue of
Instruments” in “Risk Factors”) should understand the risks of
transactions involving Reference Item Linked Instruments and
should reach an investment decision only after careful
consideration, with their advisers, of the suitability of such
Reference Item Linked Instruments in light of their particular
financial circumstances, the information set forth herein and the
information regarding the relevant Reference Item Linked
Instruments and the particular Reference Item(s) to which the
value of, or payments in respect of, the relevant Reference Item
Linked Instruments may relate, as specified in the applicable
Pricing Supplement.

Where the applicable Pricing Supplement specifies one or more
Reference Item(s), the relevant Instruments will represent an
investment linked to the performance of such Reference Item(s)
and prospective investors should note that the return (if any) on
their investment in the Instruments will depend upon the
performance of such Reference Iltem(s).

See “Risks related to the structure of a particular issue of
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Instruments” in “Risk Factors”.

PROSPECTIVE PURCHASERS OF REFERENCE ITEM
LINKED INSTRUMENTS MUST REVIEW THE APPLICABLE
PRICING SUPPLEMENT TO ASCERTAIN WHAT THE
REFERENCE ITEM(S) ARE AND TO SEE HOW BOTH THE
MATURITY REDEMPTION AMOUNT AND ANY PERIODIC
INTEREST PAYMENTS ARE DETERMINED AND WHEN
ANY SUCH AMOUNTS ARE PAYABLE BEFORE MAKING
ANY DECISION TO PURCHASE ANY REFERENCE ITEM
LINKED INSTRUMENTS.

CERTAIN ISSUES OF INSTRUMENTS (INCLUDING
REFERENCE ITEM LINKED INSTRUMENTS) INVOLVE A
HIGH DEGREE OF RISK AND POTENTIAL INVESTORS
SHOULD BE PREPARED TO SUSTAIN A LOSS OF ALL OR
PART OF THEIR INVESTMENT.

Information relating to the Programme

Arranger:

Dealer:

Issue and Paying Agent:

Initial Programme Amount:

Distribution:

Form of Instruments:

Eurobank Ergasias S.A.
Eurobank Ergasias S.A.

and any other Dealers appointed from time to time by the
Issuers either generally in respect of the Programme or in
relation to a particular Tranche (as defined below).

Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch

€25,000,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of Instruments
outstanding at any one time, which may be increased, subject
to compliance with the provisions of the Dealership Agreement
(as defined under “Subscription and Sale”).

Instruments will be issued on a syndicated or non-syndicated
basis. Instruments will be issued in series (each, a “Series”).
Each Series may comprise one or more tranches (“Tranches”
and each, a “Tranche”) issued on different issue dates. The
Instruments of each Series will all be subject to identical terms,
except that the issue date and the amount of the first payment
of interest may be different in respect of different Tranches. The
Instruments of each Tranche will all be subject to identical
terms in all respects save that a Tranche may comprise
Instruments of different denominations.

Instruments will be issued in bearer form or, in the case of
Exempt Instruments, if so specified in the applicable Pricing
Supplement, in registered form. Each Tranche of Instruments to
be issued in bearer form will be represented by a Temporary
Global Instrument or (if so specified in the applicable Final
Terms in respect of Instruments to which U.S. Treasury
Regulation 81.163-5(c)(2)())(C) (or any successor Treasury
Regulation section including, without limitation, regulations
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Currencies:

Status of Instruments:

Status of Guarantee:

Issue Price:

Terms of the Instruments:

issued in accordance with United States Internal Revenue
Service Notice 2012-20 or otherwise in connection with the
United States Hiring Incentives to Restore Employment Act of
2010) (the “TEFRA C Rules”) applies or to which TEFRA does
not apply) a Permanent Global Instrument. Each Temporary
Global Instrument will be exchangeable for a Permanent Global
Instrument or, if so specified in the applicable Final Terms, for
Definitive Instruments. Each Permanent Global Instrument will
be exchangeable for Definitive Instruments in accordance with
its terms (see further under “Provisions Relating to the
Instruments Whilst in Global Form” below). In respect of each
Tranche of Exempt Instruments to be issued in registered form,
the provisions applicable thereto will be specified in the
applicable Pricing Supplement. Any such Instruments in
registered form will be held outside Euroclear and Clearstream,
Luxembourg. In relation to Instruments in bearer form, see
“Provisions Relating to the Instruments Whilst in Global Form”
below.

Instruments may be denominated in any currency or
currencies.

Instruments may be issued on a subordinated or
unsubordinated basis, as specified in the applicable Final
Terms. Unsubordinated Instruments will contain a negative
pledge as set out in Condition 5 and events of default, including
a cross-acceleration provision as set out in Condition 11.1.
Subordinated Instruments will not contain a negative pledge
and will have limited events of default (with no cross-
acceleration provision) as set out in Condition 11.3.

Instruments issued by ERB Hellas PLC and ERB Hellas
(Cayman Islands) Limited will be unconditionally and
irrevocably guaranteed by the Guarantor on a subordinated or
an unsubordinated basis, as specified in the applicable Final
Terms, pursuant to a Deed of Guarantee dated 27 May 2014
(the “Deed of Guarantee”).

Instruments may be issued at any price and either on a fully or,
in the case of Exempt Instruments only, partly paid basis, as
specified in the applicable Final Terms.

The following types of Instrument may be issued: (i)
Instruments which bear interest at a fixed rate or a floating rate;
(i) Instruments which do not bear interest; (iii) Exempt
Instruments which bear interest, and/or the Maturity
Redemption Amount of which is, calculated by reference to
specified Reference Item(s) such as movements in interest
rates within specified range(s) or by reference to specified
benchmark(s) or movements in an index or indices or
movements in a currency exchange rate or changes in the
prices of one or more equity securities; and (iv) Instruments
which have any combination of the foregoing features
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Change of Interest/Payment Basis:

Maturities:

Exempt Instruments:

Interest periods, rates of interest and the terms of and/or
amounts payable on redemption will be specified in the
applicable Final Terms.

Instruments may be converted from one interest and/or
payment basis to another if so provided in the applicable Final
Terms.

Any maturity.

Any Instruments issued by ERB Hellas PLC or ERB Hellas
(Cayman lIslands) Limited which (i) have a maturity of less than
one year and (ii) in the case of ERB Hellas (Cayman Islands)
Limited only, if the issue proceeds are accepted in the United
Kingdom, must (a) have a minimum denomination of £100,000
(or its equivalent in other currencies) and be issued only to
persons whose ordinary activities involve them in acquiring,
holding, managing or disposing of investments (as principal or
agent) for the purposes of their businesses; or who it is
reasonable to expect will acquire, hold, manage or dispose of
investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of their
businesses or (b) be issued in other circumstances which do
not constitute a contravention of section 19 of the Financial
Services and Markets Act 2000 (the “FSMA”).

The Issuers may issue Exempt Instruments which are Index
Linked Instruments, Dual Currency Instruments or Exempt
Instruments redeemed in one or more instalments. The Issuers
may also issue Exempt Instruments which are Partly Paid
Instruments in respect of which the issue price is paid in
separate instalments in such amounts and on such dates as
the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer may agree.

Index Linked Instruments: Payments of principal in respect of
Index Linked Redemption Instruments or of interest in respect
of Index Linked Interest Instruments will be calculated by
reference to such index and/or formula or to changes in the
prices of securities or commodities or to such other factors as
the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer may agree.

Dual Currency Instruments: Payments (whether in respect of
principal or interest and whether at maturity or otherwise) in
respect of Dual Currency Instruments will be made in such
currencies, and based on such rates of exchange, as the
relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer may agree.

Instruments redeemable in instalments: The relevant Issuer
may issue Exempt Instruments which may be redeemed in
separate instalments in such amounts and on such dates as
the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer may agree.

The relevant Issuer, and in the case of Exempt Instruments
issued by ERB Hellas PLC and ERB Hellas (Cayman Islands)
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Index Linked Instruments:

Equity Linked Instruments:

Limited, the Guarantor, may agree with any Dealer that Exempt
Instruments may be issued in a form not contemplated by the
Terms and Conditions of the Instruments, in which event the
relevant provisions will be included in the applicable Pricing
Supplement.

Index Linked Instruments are Exempt Instruments. Payments of
interest in respect of Index Linked Interest Instruments will be
calculated by reference to a single index or a basket of indices
and/or such formula as specified in the applicable Pricing
Supplement.

Payments of principal in respect of Index Linked Redemption
Instruments will be calculated by reference to a single index or
a basket of indices. Each nominal amount of such Exempt
Instruments equal to the Calculation Amount specified in the
applicable Pricing Supplement will be redeemed by payment of
the Maturity Redemption Amount specified in the applicable
Pricing Supplement.

If an Index Adjustment Event (as defined in the “Terms and
Conditions of the Instruments” and relating to a relevant index
modification, cancellation or disruption) occurs, the relevant
Issuer may require certain adjustments to be made including
potentially a substitution of the relevant index or may redeem
the Exempt Instruments, each Calculation Amount being
redeemed at the Early Termination Amount specified in the
applicable Pricing Supplement.

Prospective investors must review the “Terms and Conditions
of the Instruments” and the applicable Pricing Supplement to
ascertain whether and how such provisions apply to the
Exempt Instruments.

Equity Linked Instruments are Exempt Instruments. Payments
of interest in respect of Equity Linked Interest Instruments will
be calculated by reference to a single equity security or basket
of equity securities on such terms as specified in the applicable
Pricing Supplement.

Payments of principal in respect of Equity Linked Redemption
Instruments will be calculated by reference to a single equity
security or a basket of equity securities. Each nominal amount
of such Exempt Instruments equal to the Calculation Amount
specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement will be
redeemed by payment of the Maturity Redemption Amount
specified in the Pricing Supplement. An investment in Equity
Linked Redemption Instruments may bear similar risks to a
direct equity investment and investors should take advice
accordingly.

If Potential Adjustment Events and/or De-listing, Merger Event,

Nationalisation and Insolvency and/or Tender Offer are
specified as applying in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the
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Additional Disruption Events (Index
Linked Instruments and Equity
Linked Instruments only):

Disrupted Days:

lllegality:

Autocallable Instruments:

Exempt Instruments may be subject to adjustment (including, if
“Equity Substitution” is specified as applying in the applicable
Pricing Supplement, substitution of a relevant equity security by
another) or, if De-listing, Merger Event, Nationalisation and
Insolvency and/or Tender Offer are specified as applying in the
applicable Pricing Supplement, redeemed, each Calculation
Amount being redeemed at the Early Termination Amount
specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Prospective investors must review the “Terms and Conditions
of the Instruments” and the applicable Pricing Supplement to
ascertain whether and how such provisions apply to such
Exempt Instruments.

Payments of principal and interest in respect of Equity Linked
Instruments will be settled in cash only.

Additional Disruption Events are applicable in the case of
Exempt Instruments only. If Additional Disruption Events are
specified as applying in the applicable Pricing Supplement and
any such event as specified occurs, the Exempt Instruments
will be subject to adjustment or may be redeemed, each
Calculation Amount being redeemed at the Early Termination
Amount specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Prospective investors must review the “Terms and Conditions
of the Instruments” and the applicable Pricing Supplement to
ascertain whether and how such provisions apply to the
Exempt Instruments.

Disrupted Days are applicable in the case of Exempt
Instruments only. Where the Exempt Instruments are Index
Linked Instruments or Equity Linked Instruments, the
Calculation Agent may determine that a Disrupted Day has
occurred or exists at a relevant time. Any such determination
may have an effect on the value of the Exempt Instruments
and/or may delay settlement in respect of the Instruments.

Prospective investors must review the “Terms and Conditions
of the Instruments” and the applicable Pricing Supplement to
ascertain whether and how such provisions apply to the
Exempt Instruments.

In the event that the relevant Issuer determines that the
performance of the relevant Issuer’s obligations under any
Instruments or (if applicable) the Guarantor's obligations in
respect thereof under the Deed of Guarantee has or will
become unlawful, illegal, or otherwise prohibited in whole or in
part, the relevant Issuer may redeem all (but not some only) of
such Instruments, each Calculation Amount being redeemed at
the Early Termination Amount specified in the applicable Final
Terms, together, if appropriate, with accrued interest.

Autocallable Instruments are Exempt Instruments. If Autocall is
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Redemption:

Denominations:

Taxation:

specified as applying in the applicable Pricing Supplement and
an Autocall Event (as set out in the applicable Pricing
Supplement) occurs, the Exempt Instruments will be redeemed,
each Calculation Amount being redeemed at the Autocall
Redemption Amount specified in the applicable Pricing
Supplement.

The applicable Final Terms relating to each Tranche will
indicate either that such Instruments cannot be redeemed prior
to their stated maturity (other than in the case of Exempt
Instruments in specified instalments (see below), if applicable,
or for taxation reasons or following an Event of Default or on an
illegality or, in the case of Exempt Instruments to which Autocall
is specified as applying in the applicable Pricing Supplement,
following an Autocall Event, or, in the case of Index Linked
Instruments, following an Index Adjustment Event, or, in the
case of Equity Linked Instruments and if so specified as
applying in the applicable Pricing Supplement, following a De-
listing, Merger Event, Nationalisation and Insolvency and/or
Tender Offer, or, in the case of Index Linked Instruments or
Equity Linked Instruments and if so specified in the applicable
Pricing Supplement, following an Additional Disruption Event
subject, in the case of Subordinated Instruments, under the
requirements of applicable law, to consent thereto having been
obtained from the Bank of Greece or the ECB (as defined
below), as the case may be) or that such Instruments will be
redeemable at the option of the relevant Issuer and/or the
Holders upon giving the required notice, on a specified date or
dates and at a price or prices and on such terms as are
indicated in the applicable Final Terms.

The applicable Pricing Supplement may provide that Exempt
Instruments may be redeemable in two or more instalments of
such amounts and on such dates as are indicated in the
applicable Pricing Supplement.

Instruments will be issued in such denominations as may be
specified in the applicable Final Terms. The minimum
denomination of each PD Instrument admitted to trading on a
regulated market within the European Economic Area and/or
offered to the public in a Member State of the European
Economic Area in circumstances which require the publication
of a prospectus under the Prospectus Directive will be
€100,000 (or the equivalent amount in the relevant currency).

Unless required by law, all payments in respect of the
Instruments will be made without deduction for, or on account
of, withholding taxes of the United Kingdom (in the case of
Instruments issued by ERB Hellas PLC) or the Cayman Islands
(in the case of Instruments issued by ERB Hellas (Cayman
Islands) Limited) or the Hellenic Republic (in the case of
Instruments issued by Eurobank Ergasias S.A.), as the case
may be, and (in the case of Instruments issued by ERB Hellas
PLC and ERB Hellas (Cayman Islands) Limited) all payments
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Governing Law:

Listing and Admission to Trading:

Terms and Conditions:

by the Guarantor under the Deed of Guarantee will be made
without deduction for, or on account of, withholding taxes of the
Hellenic Republic, as provided in Condition 12. In the event that
any such deduction is required, the relevant Issuer or, as the
case may be, the Guarantor (if applicable) will, save in certain
limited circumstances provided in Condition 12, be required to
pay additional amounts as will result in the receipt by Holders of
the relevant Instruments of such net amount as they would
have received had no such deduction been required.

All payments in respect of the Instruments will be made subject
to any withholding or deduction required pursuant to FATCA
(as defined below), as provided in Condition 13C.

The Instruments and the Deed of Guarantee and any
non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with
them shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with,
English law except that (i) in the case of Instruments issued by
the Bank, the subordination provisions in Condition 3B, (i) in
the case of Instruments issued by ERB Hellas PLC or ERB
Hellas (Cayman lIslands) Limited, the subordination provisions
in Condition 4B and the subordination provisions set out in the
Deed of Guarantee, and (iii) Condition 22 shall be governed by,
and construed in accordance with, the laws of the Hellenic
Republic and Regulation (EU) No. 575/2013 of the European
Parliament and of the Council of 26 June 2013 (the
“‘Regulation”).

Application has been made to the CSSF to approve this
Prospectus as a base prospectus. Application has also been
made for PD Instruments issued under the Programme to be
listed on the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange
and admitted to trading on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange’s
regulated market.

Instruments may be listed or admitted to trading, as the case
may be, on other or further stock exchanges or markets or not
listed or admitted to trading on any market. The applicable Final
Terms will state whether or not the relevant Instruments are to
be listed and/or admitted to trading and, if so, on which stock
exchanges and/or markets.

Final Terms will be prepared in respect of each Tranche of
Instruments. A copy of such Final Terms will, in the case of PD
Instruments to be listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange or
offered to the public in the European Economic Area in
circumstances which require the publication of a prospectus
under the Prospectus Directive, be delivered to the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange and/or the CSSF on or before the
date of issue of such PD Instruments. The terms and conditions
applicable to each Tranche of PD Instruments will be those set
out herein under “Terms and Conditions of the Instruments” as
completed by Part A of the applicable Final Terms. The terms
and conditions applicable to each Tranche of Exempt
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Clearing Systems:

Bondholders' Agent:

Selling Restrictions:

Instruments will be those set out herein under “Terms and
Conditions of the Instruments” as modified, amended and/or
completed by Part A of the applicable Pricing Supplement.

For Instruments in global form, holders will have the benefit of,
in the case of Instruments issued by ERB Hellas PLC, a Deed
of Covenant executed by ERB Hellas PLC dated 27 May 2014,
in the case of Instruments issued by ERB Hellas (Cayman
Islands) Limited, a Deed of Covenant executed by ERB Hellas
(Cayman Islands) Limited dated 27 May 2014 and, in the case
of Instruments issued by the Bank, a Deed of Covenant
executed by the Bank dated 27 May 2014, copies of which will
be available for inspection at the specified office of the Issue
and Paying Agent.

Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or, in relation to any
Instruments, any other clearing system as may be specified in
the applicable Final Terms.

In the case of Instruments issued by the Bank (“Bank
Instruments”) to which Greek law 3156/2003 applies and for the
purposes of which the appointment of a Bank Holders’ Agent
(as defined below) is required, as per Greek law 3156/2003, the
Bank shall appoint an agent of the Holders of Bank Instruments
(the “Bank Holders’ Agent”) in accordance with Condition 22 of
the Instruments.

For a description of certain restrictions on offers, sales and
deliveries of Instruments and on the distribution of offering
material in the United States of America, the European
Economic Area (including the United Kingdom, Greece and the
Republic of France), Japan and the Cayman Islands, see under
“Subscription and Sale”.
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The following documents, which have previously been published and have been filed with the CSSF,
shall be incorporated by reference in, and form part of, this Prospectus:

(@)

(b)

(€)

the audited consolidated annual financial statements of the Bank for each of the financial
years ended 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014, as contained within Part l1lI
(Consolidated Financial Statements for the 2015 Financial Year (Auditor’'s Report included) of
the Bank’s Annual Financial Report for the Year Ended 31 December 2015 and Part Il
(Consolidated Financial Statements for the 20714 Financial Year (Auditor’s Report included) of
Annual Financial Report for the Year Ended 31 December 2014, in each case prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted by the European
Union (“IFRS”), including the information set out at the following pages of the Bank’s
‘Consolidated Financial Statements for the Year Ended 2015’ and ‘Consolidated Financial
Statements for the Year Ended 2014’, respectively:

2015 2014
Independent Auditors’ Report...........cccccvveieiiieiiiieiiiieee e, page 1-2 pages 1-2
Consolidated Balance Sheet........ccccceeeveeeiiiiiiiiiiiiii e, page 3 page 3
Consolidated Income Statement ............ccccvvvvvvviiiiiiiienennnn. page 4 page 4
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income........... page 5 page 5
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity ................... page 6 page 6
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement ............cccccceeeeieeeeinennn, page 7 page 7
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements................. pages 8-122  pages 8-118

the audited annual financial statements of ERB Hellas PLC for each of the financial years
ended 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013, in each case prepared in accordance with
IFRS, including the information set out at the following pages of ERB Hellas PLC’s ‘Annual
Report 2014’ and ERB Hellas PLC’s ‘Annual Report 2013’, respectively:

2014 2013
Independent Auditors’ Report............ccoovveeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiceeee, pages 10-12 pages 9-10
Statement of Comprehensive InCOMe ..........cccccccevvvvveeennnn. page 13 page 11
Balance Sheet.......ccooooioi page 14 page 12
Statement of Changes in EQUItY ..., page 15 page 13
Cash Flow Statement ...........oooovveiiiiiiiie e page 16 page 14
Notes to the Financial Statements................ccoooiiienneenn. pages 17-38  pages 15-38

the audited annual non-statutory financial statements of ERB Hellas (Cayman Islands)
Limited for each of the financial years ended 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013, in
each case prepared in accordance with IFRS, including the information set out at the
following pages of ERB Hellas (Cayman Islands) Limited’s ‘Annual Report 2014’ and ERB
Hellas (Cayman Islands) Limited’s ‘Annual Report 2013’, respectively:

2014 2013
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Independent Auditors’ Report............couviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie e, pages 8-9 pages 9-10

Statement of Comprehensive InCOMe ...........cccccevvvvvveenenn. page 10 page 11
Balance Sheet........ccooooiiiiiiiiiii e page 11 page 12
Statement of Changes in EQUItY .......cccoooeeviiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeee, page 12 page 13
Cash Flow Statement............ccoovviiiiiiiiieeeecceeee e, page 13 page 14
Notes to the Financial Statements...............coeoeeeeeeeeeeeeen. pages 14-36  pages 15-40

Any information not referred to in the cross-reference lists above but included in the documents
incorporated by reference is given for information purposes only rather than information required by
the relevant Annexes of the Prospectus Regulation.

Following the publication of this Prospectus a supplement may be prepared by the Obligors and
approved by the CSSF in accordance with Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive. Statements
contained in any such supplement (or contained in any document incorporated by reference therein)
shall, to the extent applicable (whether expressly, by implication or otherwise), be deemed to modify
or supersede statements contained in this Prospectus or in a document which is incorporated by
reference in this Prospectus. Any statement so modified or superseded shall not, except as so
modified or superseded, constitute a part of this Prospectus.

In the event of any significant new factor arising or any material mistake or inaccuracy relating to the
information included in this Prospectus which is capable of affecting the assessment of any
Instruments, the Obligors will prepare and publish a supplement to this Prospectus or prepare and
publish a new prospectus for use in connection with any subsequent issue of Instruments.

Copies of documents incorporated by reference in this Prospectus can be obtained from the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange’s website at www.bourse.lu and, free of charge, from the registered
office of each Obligor.
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IMPORTANT INFORMATION RELATING TO THE USE OF THIS PROSPECTUS AND OFFERS OF
INSTRUMENTS GENERALLY

This Prospectus has been prepared on the basis that would permit an offer of Exempt Instruments
with a denomination of less than €100,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency) only in
circumstances where there is an exemption from the obligation under the Prospectus Directive to
publish a prospectus. As a result, any offer of Exempt Instruments in any Member State of the
European Economic Area which has implemented the Prospectus Directive (each, a “Relevant
Member State”) must be made pursuant to an exemption under the Prospectus Directive, as
implemented in that Relevant Member State, from the requirement to publish a prospectus for offers
of Instruments. Accordingly any person making or intending to make an offer of Exempt Instruments
in that Relevant Member State may only do so in circumstances in which no obligation arises for any
of the relevant Issuer, (if applicable) the Guarantor and/or any Dealer to publish a prospectus
pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive or supplement a prospectus pursuant to Article 16 of
the Prospectus Directive, in each case, in relation to such offer. Neither the relevant Issuer, (if
applicable) the Guarantor and any Dealer has authorised, nor does any of them authorise, the
making of any offer of Instruments in circumstances in which an obligation arises for any of the
relevant Issuer, (if applicable) the Guarantor and/or any Dealer to publish or supplement a
prospectus for such offer.

Instruments will be issued in bearer form or, in the case of Exempt Instruments and if so specified in
the applicable Pricing Supplement, in registered form. In respect of each Tranche of Instruments to
be issued in bearer form, the relevant Issuer will deliver a temporary global Instrument (a “Temporary
Global Instrument”) or (if so specified in the applicable Final Terms) a permanent global instrument (a
“‘Permanent Global Instrument”). Such global Instrument, if the global Instruments are intended to be
issued in new global instrument form (“NGI form”), as specified in the applicable Final Terms, will be
delivered on or prior to the original issue date of the Tranche to a common safekeeper for Euroclear
Bank SA/NV (“Euroclear”’) and Clearstream Banking, S.A. (“Clearstream, Luxembourg”) and, if the
global Instruments are not intended to be issued in NGI form, will be delivered on or prior to the
original issue date of the Tranche to a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream,
Luxembourg. Each Temporary Global Instrument will be exchangeable for a Permanent Global
Instrument or, if so specified in the applicable Final Terms, for Instruments in definitive bearer form
(“Definitive Instruments”). Each Permanent Global Instrument will be exchangeable for Definitive
Instruments in accordance with its terms. In respect of each Tranche of Exempt Instruments to be
issued in registered form, the provisions applicable thereto will be specified in the applicable Pricing
Supplement. Any such Exempt Instruments in registered form will be held outside Euroclear and
Clearstream, Luxembourg. In relation to Instruments in bearer form, see “Provisions Relating to the
Instruments Whilst in Global Form” below.

All references in this document to “U.S.$” and “$” are to United States dollars, those to “Sterling” and
“£” are to pounds sterling and those to “€”, “euro”, “Euro” and “EUR” are to the lawful currency
introduced at the start of the third stage of European economic and monetary union pursuant to the
Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, as amended.
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SIZE OF THE PROGRAMME

This Prospectus and any supplement will only be valid for listing PD Instruments on the Luxembourg
Stock Exchange during the period of 12 months from the date of approval of this Prospectus in an
aggregate nominal amount which, when added to the aggregate nominal amount then outstanding of
all Instruments previously or simultaneously issued under the Programme, does not exceed
€25,000,000,000 or its equivalent in other currencies. For the purpose of calculating the euro
equivalent of the aggregate nominal amount of Instruments issued under the Programme from time
to time:

@) the euro equivalent of Instruments denominated in another Currency of Denomination (as
specified in the applicable Final Terms in relation to the relevant Instruments) shall be
determined, at the discretion of the relevant Issuer, either as of the date on which agreement
is reached for the issue of Instruments or on the preceding day on which commercial banks
and foreign exchange markets are open for business in London, in each case on the basis of
the spot rate for the sale of the euro against the purchase of such Currency of Denomination
in the London foreign exchange market quoted by any leading international bank selected by
the relevant Issuer on the relevant day of calculation;

(b) the euro equivalent of Exempt Instruments with different Currency of Denomination and
Currency of Payment, Index Linked Instruments, Equity Linked Instruments and Partly Paid
Instruments (each as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement in relation to the relevant
Exempt Instruments) shall be calculated in the manner specified above by reference to the
original nominal amount on issue of such Exempt Instruments (in the case of Partly Paid
Instruments regardless of the subscription price paid); and

(©) the euro equivalent of Non-interest bearing Instruments (as specified in the applicable Final
Terms in relation to the relevant Instruments) and other Instruments issued at a discount or a
premium shall be calculated in the manner specified above by reference to the net proceeds
received by the relevant Issuer for the relevant issue.
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE INSTRUMENTS
This section applies to both Exempt Instruments and PD Instruments (each as defined below).

The following are the Conditions of the Instruments which will be incorporated by reference into each
Instrument in global form (a “Global Instrument”) and each definitive Instrument, in the latter case
only if permitted by the relevant stock exchange or other relevant authority (if any) and agreed by the
relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer at the time of issue but, if not so permitted and agreed, such
definitive Instrument will have endorsed thereon or attached thereto such Conditions. The applicable
Pricing Supplement in relation to any Tranche of Exempt Instruments may specify other terms and
conditions which shall, to the extent so specified or to the extent inconsistent with the following
Conditions, replace or modify the following Conditions for the purpose of such Exempt Instruments.
The applicable Final Terms (in the case of PD Instruments) or the applicable Pricing Supplement (in
the case of Exempt Instruments) (or, in either case, the relevant provisions thereof) will be endorsed
upon, or attached to, each Global Instrument and definitive Instrument. Reference should be made (i)
in the case of PD Instruments, to the “applicable Final Terms” for a description of the content of the
Final Terms and (ii) in the case of Exempt Instruments, to the “applicable Pricing Supplement”, each
of which will specify which of such terms are to apply in relation to the relevant Instruments.

The Instruments are issued pursuant to and in accordance with an amended and restated issue and
paying agency agreement (as amended, supplemented or replaced, the “Issue and Paying Agency
Agreement”) dated 25 April 2016 and made between ERB Hellas PLC, ERB Hellas (Cayman Islands)
Limited and Eurobank Ergasias S.A. (the “Bank”) (each of which may issue Instruments and
references in these Terms and Conditions (the “Conditions”) to the “Issuer” are to the relevant Issuer
of such Instruments as specified in the applicable Final Terms (as defined below) or an entity
substituted for that Issuer in accordance with Condition 21), the Bank in its capacity as guarantor of
Instruments issued by ERB Hellas PLC and ERB Hellas (Cayman Islands) Limited (in such capacity,
the “Guarantor”), Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch in its capacity as issue and paying agent (the
‘Issue and Paying Agent”, which expression shall include any successor to Deutsche Bank AG,
London Branch in its capacity as such) and the paying agents named therein (the “Paying Agents”,
which expression shall include the Issue and Paying Agent and any substitute or additional paying
agents appointed in accordance with the Issue and Paying Agency Agreement). If the Instruments
are issued by ERB Hellas PLC or ERB Hellas (Cayman Islands) Limited they will be irrevocably and
unconditionally guaranteed by the Guarantor pursuant and subject to the terms of the Deed of
Guarantee (as defined below). References herein to the Guarantor and the Deed of Guarantee shall
only be relevant where the Issuer is ERB Hellas PLC or ERB Hellas (Cayman Islands) Limited and
shall not apply where the Issuer is the Bank.

For the purposes of making determinations or calculations of interest rates, interest amounts,
redemption amounts or any other matters requiring determination or calculation in accordance with
the Conditions of any Series (as defined below) of Instruments, the Issuer may appoint a calculation
agent (the “Calculation Agent”) for the purposes of such Instruments, in accordance with the
provisions of the Issue and Paying Agency Agreement, and such Calculation Agent shall be specified
in the applicable Final Terms.

The Instruments issued by ERB Hellas PLC have the benefit of a deed of covenant dated 27 May
2014 executed by ERB Hellas PLC, the Instruments issued by ERB Hellas (Cayman Islands) Limited
have the benefit of a deed of covenant dated 27 May 2014, executed by ERB Hellas (Cayman
Islands) Limited and the Instruments issued by the Bank have the benefit of a deed of covenant
dated 27 May 2014 executed by the Bank (each, as amended, supplemented or replaced, a “Deed of
Covenant” and references to the “Deed of Covenant” in these Conditions are to the Deed of
Covenant executed by the Issuer of such Instruments as specified in the applicable Final Terms or an
entity substituted for that Issuer in accordance with Condition 21).
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The Guarantor has, for the benefit of the holders of Instruments issued by ERB Hellas PLC and ERB
Hellas (Cayman Islands) Limited, executed and delivered an amended and restated deed of
guarantee dated 27 May 2014 (as amended or supplemented from time to time, the “Deed of
Guarantee”) under which it has guaranteed (on an unsubordinated basis in the case of
Unsubordinated Instruments (as defined below) and on a subordinated basis in the case of
Subordinated Instruments (as defined below)) the due and punctual payment of all amounts due by
the Issuer under the Instruments and the Deed of Covenant as and when the same shall become due
and payable.

In the case of Instruments issued by the Bank (“Bank Instruments”) to which Greek law 3156/2003
applies and for the purposes of which the appointment of a Bank Holders’ Agent (as defined below) is
required, as per Greek law 3156/2003, the Bank shall appoint an agent of the Holders of Bank
Instruments (the “Bank Holders' Agent”) in accordance with Condition 22 below.

Copies of the Issue and Paying Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant, the Deed of Guarantee
and (to the extent applicable) the Bank Holders' Agency Agreement (as defined below) are available
for inspection during normal business hours at the registered office of the Issuer and the Guarantor
and at the specified office of each of the Paying Agents and, in the case of Bank Instruments, the
Bank Holders’ Agent. All persons from time to time entitled to the benefit of obligations under any
Instruments shall be deemed to have notice of, and shall be bound by, all of the provisions of the
Issue and Paying Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant and the Deed of Guarantee insofar as
they relate to the relevant Instruments.

The final terms for this Instrument (or the relevant provisions thereof) are set out in Part A of the Final
Terms (the “Final Terms”) attached to or endorsed on this Instrument which complete these
Conditions or, if this Instrument is an Instrument which is neither admitted to trading on a regulated
market in the European Economic Area nor offered in the European Economic Area in circumstances
where a prospectus is required to be published under the Prospectus Directive (an “Exempt
Instrument”), the final terms (or the relevant provisions thereof) are set out in Part A of the Pricing
Supplement (the “Pricing Supplement”) and may specify other terms and conditions which shall, to
the extent so specified or to the extent inconsistent with the Conditions, replace or modify the
Conditions for the purposes of this Instrument (where this Instrument is an Exempt Instrument).
References to the “applicable Final Terms” are, unless otherwise stated, to Part A of the Final Terms
(or the relevant provisions thereof) attached to or endorsed on this Instrument. Any reference in the
Conditions to “applicable Final Terms” shall be deemed to include a reference to “applicable Pricing
Supplement” where relevant. The expression “Prospectus Directive” means Directive 2003/71/EC
(as amended, including by Directive 2010/73/EU), and includes any relevant implementing measure
in a relevant Member State of the European Economic Area.

The Instruments are issued in series (each, a “Series”), and each Series may comprise one or more
tranches (“Tranches” and each, a “Tranche”) of Instruments.

Each Tranche of Instruments listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange or offered to the public in the
European Economic Area in circumstances which require the publication of a prospectus under the
Prospectus Directive (“PD Instruments”), will be the subject of an applicable Final Terms document, a
copy of which will be available on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange at www.bourse.lu
and, free of charge, at the registered office of the Issuer and the Guarantor. Each Tranche of Exempt
Instruments will be the subject of an applicable Pricing Supplement document, but a copy of which
will only be available at the registered office of the Issuer and the Guarantor (if applicable) by a
holder of the relevant Exempt Instruments where such holder produces evidence satisfactory to the
Issuer or the Guarantor, as the case may be, as to its holding of such Exempt Instruments.

References in these Conditions to Instruments are to Instruments of the relevant Series and any
references to Coupons (as defined in Condition 1.2) and, in the case of Exempt Instruments only,
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Receipts (as defined in Condition 1.3) are to Coupons and, in the case of Exempt Instruments only,
Receipts relating to Instruments of the relevant Series.

In these Conditions, “euro” means the currency introduced at the start of the third stage of European
economic and monetary union pursuant to the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, as
amended.

1. Form and Denomination
Form of Instruments

11 Unless the Instruments are Exempt Instruments and are specified in the applicable Pricing
Supplement as being in registered form, the Instruments are issued in bearer form and if in
definitive form are serially numbered. If the Instruments are Exempt Instruments and issued
in registered form, the provisions applicable thereto will be set out in the applicable Pricing
Supplement.

1.2 Interest-bearing Instruments have attached thereto at the time of their initial delivery coupons
(“Coupons”), presentation of which will be a prerequisite to the payment of interest save in
certain circumstances specified herein. In addition, in the case of Instruments which, when
issued in definitive form, have more than 27 interest payments remaining, such Instruments
will have attached thereto at the time of their initial delivery a talon (“Talon”) for further
coupons and the expression “Coupons” shall, where the context so requires, include Talons.

1.3 This Condition 1.3 is applicable only to Exempt Instruments. Where the principal amount is
repayable by instalments (“Instalment Exempt Instruments”), such Instalment Exempt
Instruments have attached thereto at the time of their initial delivery payment receipts
(“Receipts”) in respect of the instalments of principal.

Denomination of Instruments

14 Instruments are in the denomination or denominations specified in the applicable Final Terms.
Instruments of one denomination may not be exchanged for Instruments of any other
denomination.

Currency of Instruments

15 The Instruments are denominated in the currency specified in the applicable Final Terms. Any
currency may be so specified, subject to compliance with all applicable legal and/or regulatory
and/or central bank requirements.

Partly Paid Instruments
This Condition 1.6 is applicable only to Exempt Instruments.

1.6 Exempt Instruments may be issued on a partly paid basis (“Partly Paid Instruments”) if so
specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement. The subscription moneys therefor shall be
paid in such number of instalments (“Partly Paid Instalments”) in such amounts, on such
dates and in such manner as may be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement. The first
such instalment shall be due and payable on the date of issue of the Exempt Instruments. For
the purposes of these Conditions, in respect of any Partly Paid Instrument, “Paid Up Amount”
means the aggregate amount of all Partly Paid Instalments in respect thereof as shall have
fallen due and been paid up in full in accordance with the Conditions.
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2.1

2.2

2.3

3A

3A.1

Not less than 14 days nor more than 30 days prior to the due date for payment of any Partly
Paid Instalment (other than the first such instalment) the Issuer shall publish a notice in
accordance with Condition 18 stating the due date for payment thereof and stating that failure
to pay any such Partly Paid Instalment on or prior to such date will entitle the Issuer to forfeit
the Instruments with effect from such date (“Forfeiture Date”) as may be specified in such
notice (not being less than 14 days after the due date for payment of such Partly Paid
Instalment), unless payment of the relevant Partly Paid Instalment together with any interest
accrued thereon is paid prior to the Forfeiture Date. The Issuer shall procure that any Partly
Paid Instalments paid in respect of any Instruments subsequent to the Forfeiture Date in
respect thereof shall be returned promptly to the persons entitled thereto. The Issuer shall not
be liable for any interest on any Partly Paid Instalment so returned.

Interest shall accrue on any Partly Paid Instalment which is not paid on or prior to the due
date for payment thereof at the Interest Rate (in the case of non-interest bearing Instruments,
at the rate applicable to overdue payments) and shall be calculated in the same manner and
on the same basis as if it were interest accruing on the Instruments for the period from and
including the due date for payment of the relevant Partly Paid Instalment up to but excluding
the Forfeiture Date. For the purpose of the accrual of interest, any payment of any Partly Paid
Instalment made after the due date for payment shall be treated as having been made on the
day preceding the Forfeiture Date (whether or not a Business Day as defined in Condition
6.9).

Unless an Event of Default or a Subordinated Default Event (or an event which with the giving
of notice, the lapse of time or the making or giving of any determination or certification would
constitute an Event of Default or a Subordinated Default Event) shall have occurred and be
continuing, on the Forfeiture Date, the Issuer shall forfeit all of the Instruments in respect of
which any Partly Paid Instalment shall not have been duly paid, whereupon the Issuer shall
be entitled to retain all Partly Paid Instalments previously paid in respect of such Exempt
Instruments and shall be discharged from any obligation to repay such amount or to pay
interest thereon.

Title and Transfer

Title to Instruments and Coupons passes by delivery. References herein to the “Holders” of
Instruments or of Coupons are to the bearers of such Instruments or such Coupons.

This Condition 2.2 is applicable only to Exempt Instruments. In the case of Exempt
Instruments, title to Receipts passes by delivery. References herein to “Holders” of Receipts
are to the bearers of such Receipts.

The Holder of any Instrument or Coupon will (except as otherwise required by applicable law
or regulatory requirement) be treated as its absolute owner for all purposes (whether or not it
is overdue and regardless of any notice of ownership, trust or any interest thereof or therein,
any writing thereon, or any theft or loss thereof) and no person shall be liable for so treating
such Holder.

Status of the Instruments
Status — Unsubordinated Instruments
This Condition 3A is applicable only in relation to Instruments specified in the applicable Final

Terms as being unsubordinated or not specified as being subordinated (“Unsubordinated
Instruments”).
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3A.2

3B

3B.1

3B.2

4A

4A.1

4A.2

4B

4B.1

The Unsubordinated Instruments constitute direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and (subject
to the provisions of Condition 5) unsecured obligations of the Issuer which will at all times
rank pari passu without any preference among themselves and at least pari passu with all
other present and future unsecured (subject as aforesaid) and unsubordinated obligations of
the Issuer (save for such obligations as may be preferred by mandatory provisions of
applicable law).

Status — Subordinated Instruments

This Condition 3B is applicable only in relation to Instruments specified in the applicable Final
Terms as being subordinated (“Subordinated Instruments”).

The Subordinated Instruments constitute direct, unsecured and subordinated obligations of
the Issuer and rank at all times pari passu among themselves.

The claims of the Holders will be subordinated to the claims of Senior Creditors of the Issuer
(as defined below) in that payments of principal and interest in respect of the Instruments
(whether in the winding-up of the Issuer or otherwise) will be conditional upon the Issuer
being solvent at the time of payment by the Issuer and in that no principal or interest shall be
payable in respect of the Subordinated Instruments (whether in the winding-up of the Issuer
or otherwise) except to the extent that the Issuer could make such payment and still be
solvent immediately thereafter. For this purpose, the Issuer shall be considered to be solvent
if it can pay principal and interest in respect of the Subordinated Instruments and still be able
to pay its outstanding debts to Senior Creditors of the Issuer which are due and payable.

“Senior Creditors of the Issuer” means creditors of the Issuer (a) who are unsubordinated
creditors of the Issuer, or (b) who are subordinated creditors of the Issuer whose claims are
expressed to rank in priority to the claims of the Holders (whether only in the winding-up of
the Issuer or otherwise).

In the case of dissolution, liquidation, special liquidation and/or bankruptcy (as the case may
be and to the extent applicable) of the Issuer, the Holders will only be paid by the Issuer after
all Senior Creditors of the Issuer have been paid in full and the Holders irrevocably waive their
right to be treated equally with all other unsecured, unsubordinated creditors of the Issuer in
such circumstances. Such waiver constitutes a genuine contract benefitting third parties and,
according to article 411 of the Greek Civil Code, creates rights for Senior Creditors.

Status of Guarantee
Status — Unsubordinated Guarantee

This Condition 4A is applicable only in relation to Unsubordinated Instruments issued by ERB
Hellas PLC or ERB Hellas (Cayman Islands) Limited.

The obligations of the Guarantor under the Deed of Guarantee constitute direct, general,
unconditional and unsubordinated obligations of the Guarantor which will at all times rank at
least pari passu with all other present and future unsecured (subject to the provisions of
Condition 5) and unsubordinated obligations of the Guarantor (save for such obligations as
may be preferred by mandatory provisions of applicable law).

Status — Subordinated Guarantee

This Condition 4B is applicable only in relation to Subordinated Instruments issued by ERB
Hellas PLC or ERB Hellas (Cayman Islands) Limited.
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4B.2

The obligations of the Guarantor under the Deed of Guarantee constitute direct, general,
unconditional, subordinated and unsecured obligations of the Guarantor. All claims under the
Deed of Guarantee will be subordinated to the claims of Senior Creditors of the Guarantor (as
defined below) in that payments under the Deed of Guarantee (whether in the winding-up of
the Guarantor or otherwise) will be conditional upon the Guarantor being solvent at the time of
payment by the Guarantor and in that no amount shall be payable under the Deed of
Guarantee (whether in the winding-up of the Guarantor or otherwise) except to the extent that
the Guarantor could make such payment and still be solvent immediately thereafter. For this
purpose, the Guarantor shall be considered to be solvent if it can pay principal and interest in
respect of the Instruments and still be able to pay, in accordance with the Deed of Guarantee,
its outstanding debts to Senior Creditors of the Guarantor which are due and payable.

“Senior Creditors of the Guarantor” means creditors of the Guarantor (a) who are
unsubordinated creditors of the Guarantor, or (b) who are subordinated creditors of the
Guarantor whose claims are expressed to rank in priority to the claims of the Holders or other
persons claiming under the Deed of Guarantee (whether only in the winding-up of the
Guarantor or otherwise).

In the case of dissolution, liquidation, special liquidation and/or bankruptcy (as the case may
be and to the extent applicable) of the Guarantor the Holders will only be paid by the
Guarantor after all Senior Creditors of the Guarantor have been paid in full and the Holders
irrevocably waive their right to be treated equally with all other unsecured, unsubordinated
creditors of the Guarantor in such circumstances.

Negative Pledge
This Condition 5 is applicable only to Unsubordinated Instruments.

So long as any of the Instruments remains outstanding (as defined in the Issue and Paying
Agency Agreement), neither the Issuer nor the Guarantor shall create or permit to be
outstanding any mortgage, charge, lien, pledge or other similar encumbrance or security
interest upon the whole or any part of its undertaking or assets, present or future (including
any uncalled capital), to secure any Indebtedness (as defined below) or any guarantee or
indemnity given in respect of any Indebtedness, without, in the case of the creation of an
encumbrance or security interest, at the same time and, in any other case, promptly
according to the Holders of the Instruments an equal and rateable interest in the same or
providing to the Holders of the Instruments such other security as shall be approved by an
Extraordinary Resolution (as defined in the Issue and Paying Agency Agreement) of the
Holders of the Instruments, save that the Issuer or the Guarantor may create or permit to
subsist a security interest or like arrangement to secure Indebtedness and/or any guarantee
or indemnity given in respect of Indebtedness of any person, in each case as aforesaid, (but
without the obligation to accord or provide to the Holders of the Instruments either an equal
and rateable interest in the same or such other security or like arrangement as aforesaid)
where such security interest or like arrangement:

(1) is created pursuant to any securitisation, asset-backed financing or like arrangement
in accordance with normal market practice and whereby the amount of Indebtedness
secured by such security interest or in respect of which any guarantee or indemnity is
secured by such security interest is limited to the value of the assets secured; or

(i) is granted in relation to any Covered Bonds issued by the Issuer or the Guarantor.
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“Covered Bond” means any bond, note, debenture or other security (however defined)
designated by the Issuer and the Guarantor as a covered bond and secured on a segregated
pool of assets.

“Indebtedness” means any borrowings having an original maturity of more than one year in
the form of or represented by bonds, notes, debentures or other securities which, with the
consent of the Issuer are, or are intended to be, listed or traded on any stock exchange, over-
the-counter or other organised market for securities (whether or not initially distributed by way
of private placing).

6. Interest
Interest

6.1 Instruments may be interest-bearing or non interest-bearing, as specified in the applicable
Final Terms. Words and expressions appearing in this Condition 6 and not otherwise defined
herein or in the applicable Final Terms shall have the meanings given to them in Condition
6.9.

Interest-bearing Instruments

6.2 Instruments which are specified in the applicable Final Terms as being interest-bearing shall
bear interest from their Interest Commencement Date at the Interest Rate payable in arrear
on each Interest Payment Date.

Floating Rate Instruments — Determination of Interest Rate

6.3 If the applicable Final Terms specify the Interest Rate applicable to the Instruments as being
Floating Rate they shall also specify which page (the “Relevant Screen Page”) on the Reuters
Screen or any other information vending service shall be applicable. If such a page is so
specified, the Interest Rate applicable to the relevant Instruments for each Interest Accrual
Period shall be determined by the Calculation Agent on the following basis:

0] the Calculation Agent will determine the offered rate for deposits (or, as the case may
require, the arithmetic mean (rounded, if necessary, to the nearest ten thousandth of a
percentage point, 0.00005 being rounded upwards) of the rates for deposits) in the
Specified Currency as specified in the applicable Final Terms for a period of the
duration of the relevant Interest Accrual Period on the Relevant Screen Page as of the
Relevant Time on the relevant Interest Determination Date;

(i) if, on any Interest Determination Date, no such rate for deposits so appears (or, as the
case may be, if fewer than two such rates for deposits so appear) or if the Relevant
Screen Page is unavailable, the Calculation Agent will request appropriate quotations
and will determine the arithmetic mean (rounded as aforesaid) of the rates at which
deposits in the Specified Currency are offered by four major banks in the London
interbank market (or, in the case of Instruments denominated or payable in euro, the
euro zone interbank market), selected by the Calculation Agent, at approximately the
Relevant Time on the Interest Determination Date to prime banks in the relevant
interbank market, for a period of the duration of the relevant Interest Accrual Period
and in an amount that is representative for a single transaction in the relevant market
at the relevant time;

(iii) if, on any Interest Determination Date, only two or three rates are so quoted, the
Calculation Agent will determine the arithmetic mean (rounded as aforesaid) of the
rates so quoted; or
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(iv) if fewer than two rates are so quoted, the Calculation Agent will determine the
arithmetic mean (rounded as aforesaid) of the rates quoted by four major banks in the
Relevant Financial Centre (or in such financial centre or centres within the euro zone
as the Calculation Agent may select) selected by the Calculation Agent, at
approximately 11.00 a.m. (Relevant Financial Centre time (or local time at such other
financial centre or centres as aforesaid)) on the first day of the relevant Interest
Accrual Period for loans in the relevant currency to leading European banks for a
period of the duration of the relevant Interest Accrual Period and in an amount that is
representative for a single transaction in the relevant market at the relevant time,

and the Interest Rate applicable to such Instruments during each Interest Accrual Period will
be the sum of the relevant margin (the “Relevant Margin”) specified in the applicable Final
Terms and the rate (or, as the case may be, the arithmetic mean (rounded as aforesaid) of
the rates) so determined provided, however, that, if the Calculation Agent is unable to
determine a rate (or, as the case may be, an arithmetic mean of rates) in accordance with the
above provisions in relation to any Interest Accrual Period, the Interest Rate applicable to
such Instruments during such Interest Accrual Period will be the sum of the Relevant Margin
and the rate (or, as the case may be, the arithmetic mean (rounded as aforesaid) of the rates)
determined in relation to such Instruments in respect of the last preceding Interest Accrual
Period.

ISDA Rate Instruments — Determination of Interest Rate

6.4

If the applicable Final Terms specify the Interest Rate applicable to the Instruments as being

ISDA Rate, each Instrument shall bear interest as from such date, and at such rate or in such

amounts, and such interest will be payable on such dates, as would have applied (regardless

of any event of default or termination event or tax event thereunder) if the Issuer had entered
into an interest rate swap transaction with the Holder of such Instrument under the terms of
an agreement to which the ISDA Definitions applied and under which:

- the Fixed Rate Payer, Fixed Amount Payer, Fixed Price Payer, Floating Rate Payer,
Floating Amount Payer, the Floating Price Payer is the Issuer (as specified in the
applicable Final Terms);

- the Effective Date is the Interest Commencement Date;

- the Termination Date is the Maturity Date;

- the Calculation Agent is the Calculation Agent as specified in the applicable Final
Terms;

- the Calculation Periods are the Interest Accrual Periods;

- the Period End Dates are the Interest Period End Dates;

- the Payment Dates are the Interest Payment Dates;

- the Reset Dates are the Interest Period End Dates;

- the Calculation Amount is the principal amount of such Instrument;

- the Day Count Fraction applicable to the calculation of any amount is that specified in

the applicable Final Terms or, if none is so specified, as may be determined in
accordance with the ISDA Definitions;
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- the Applicable Business Day Convention applicable to any date is that specified in the
applicable Final Terms or, if none is so specified, as may be determined in
accordance with the ISDA Definitions; and

- the other terms are as specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Maximum or Minimum Interest Rate

6.5

If any Maximum or Minimum Interest Rate is specified in the applicable Final Terms, then the
Interest Rate shall in no event be greater than the maximum or be less than the minimum so
specified.

Accrual of Interest

6.6

Interest shall accrue on the Outstanding Principal Amount of each Instrument during each
Interest Accrual Period from, and including, the Interest Commencement Date. Interest will
cease to accrue as from the due date for redemption therefor (or, in the case of an Instalment
Exempt Instrument only, in respect of each instalment of principal, on the due date for
payment of the relevant Instalment Amount) unless upon due presentation or surrender
thereof (if required), payment in full of the Redemption Amount (as defined in Condition 7.12).
In the case of Instalment Exempt Instruments only, the relevant Instalment Amount is
improperly withheld or refused or default is otherwise made in the payment thereof in which
case interest shall continue to accrue on the principal amount in respect of which payment
has been improperly withheld or refused or default has been made (as well after as before
any demand or judgment) at the Interest Rate then applicable or such other rate as may be
specified for this purpose in the applicable Final Terms until the date on which, upon due
presentation or surrender of the relevant Instrument (if required), the relevant payment is
made or, if earlier (except where presentation or surrender of the relevant Instrument is not
required as a precondition of payment), the seventh day after the date on which, the Issue
and Paying Agent having received the funds required to make such payment, notice is given
to the Holders of the Instruments in accordance with Condition 18 that the Issue and Paying
Agent has received the required funds (except to the extent that there is failure in the
subsequent payment thereof to the relevant Holder).

Interest Amount(s), Calculation Agent and Reference Banks

6.7

If a Calculation Agent is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the Calculation Agent, as
soon as practicable after the Relevant Time on each Interest Determination Date (or such
other time on such date as the Calculation Agent may be required to calculate any
Redemption Amount or, in the case of Instalment Exempt Instruments only, Instalment
Amount, obtain any quote or make any determination or calculation) will determine the
Interest Rate and calculate the amount(s) of interest payable (the “Interest Amount(s)”) in
respect of the Calculation Amount of the Instruments for the relevant Interest Accrual Period,
calculate the Redemption Amount or, in the case of Instalment Exempt Instruments only,
Instalment Amount, obtain such quote or make such determination or calculation, as the case
may be, and cause the Interest Rate and the Interest Amounts for each Interest Period and
the relevant Interest Payment Date or, as the case may be, the Redemption Amount or, in the
case of Instalment Exempt Instruments only, any Instalment Amount to be notified to the
Issue and Paying Agent, the Issuer, the Holders in accordance with Condition 18 and, if the
Instruments are listed on a stock exchange and the rules of such exchange so requires, such
exchange as soon as possible after their determination or calculation but in no event later
than the fourth London Banking Day thereafter or, if earlier in the case of notification to the
stock exchange, no later than the first day of the relevant Interest Accrual Period. The Interest
Amounts and the Interest Payment Date so notified may subsequently be amended (or
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appropriate alternative arrangements made by way of adjustment) without notice in the event
of an extension or shortening of an Interest Accrual Period or the Interest Period. If the
Instruments become due and payable under Condition 11, the Interest Rate and the accrued
interest payable in respect of the Instruments shall nevertheless continue to be calculated as
previously in accordance with this Condition but no publication of the Interest Rate or the
Interest Amount so calculated need be made. The determination of each Interest Rate,
Interest Amount, Redemption Amount and, in the case of Instalment Exempt Instruments
only, Instalment Amount, the obtaining of each quote and the making of each determination or
calculation by the Calculation Agent shall (in the absence of manifest error) be final and
binding upon the Issuer, the Guarantor and the Holders and neither the Calculation Agent nor
any Reference Bank shall have any liability to the Holders in respect of any determination,
calculation, quote or rate made or provided by it.

The Issuer will procure that there shall at all times be such Reference Banks as may be
required for the purpose of determining the Interest Rate applicable to the Instruments and a
Calculation Agent, if provision is made for one in the Conditions.

If the Calculation Agent is incapable or unwilling to act as such or if the Calculation Agent fails
duly to establish the Interest Rate for any Interest Accrual Period or to calculate the Interest
Amounts or any other requirements, the Issuer will appoint the London office of a leading
bank engaged in the London interbank market to act as such in its place. The Calculation
Agent may not resign its duties without a successor having been appointed as aforesaid.

Calculations and Adjustments

6.8

The amount of interest payable in respect of any Instrument for any period shall be calculated
by multiplying the product of the Interest Rate and the Outstanding Principal Amount by the
Day Count Fraction, save that if the applicable Final Terms specify a specific amount in
respect of such period, the amount of interest payable in respect of such Instrument for such
period will be equal to such specified amount. Where any Interest Period comprises two or
more Interest Accrual Periods, the amount of interest payable in respect of such Interest
Period will be the sum of the amounts of interest payable in respect of each of those Interest
Accrual Periods.

For the purposes of any calculations referred to in these Conditions (unless otherwise
specified in the applicable Final Terms), (a) all percentages resulting from such calculations
will be rounded, if necessary, to the nearest one hundred-thousandth of a percentage point
(with 0.000005 per cent. being rounded up to 0.00001 per cent.), (b) all United States Dollar
amounts used in or resulting from such calculations will be rounded to the nearest cent (with
one half cent being rounded up), (c) all Japanese Yen amounts used in or resulting from such
calculations will be rounded downwards to the next lower whole Japanese Yen amount, and
(d) all amounts denominated in any other currency used in or resulting from such calculations
will be rounded to the nearest two decimal places in such currency, with 0.005 being rounded
upwards.

Definitions

6.9

“Applicable Business Day Convention” means the “Business Day Convention” which may be
specified in the applicable Final Terms as applicable to any date in respect of the Instruments.
Where the applicable Final Terms specify “No Adjustment” in relation to any date, such date
shall not be adjusted in accordance with any Business Day Convention. Where the applicable
Final Terms fail either to specify an applicable Business Day Convention or “No Adjustment”
for the purposes of an Interest Payment Date or an Interest Period End Date, then in the case
of Instruments which bear interest at a fixed rate, “No Adjustment” shall be deemed to have
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been so specified and in the case of Instruments which bear interest at a floating rate, the
Modified Following Business Day Convention shall be deemed to have been so specified.
Different Business Day Conventions may apply, or be specified in relation to, the Interest
Payment Dates, Interest Period End Dates and any other date or dates in respect of any
Instruments.

“Banking Day” means, in respect of any city, any day (other than Saturdays and Sundays) on
which commercial banks are open for general business (including dealings in foreign
exchange and foreign currency deposits) in that city.

“Business Day” means a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday):

0] on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are
open for general business (including dealings in foreign exchange and foreign
currency deposits) in London;

(i) in relation to Instruments denominated or payable in euro, on which the TARGET2
System is operating; and

(iii) in relation to Instruments payable in any other currency, on which commercial banks
and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business in
the Relevant Financial Centre in respect of the relevant currency.

“Business Day Convention” means a convention for adjusting any date if it would otherwise
fall on a day that is not a Business Day and the following Business Day Conventions, where
specified in the applicable Final Terms in relation to any date applicable to any Instruments,
shall have the following meanings:

0] “Following Business Day Convention” means that such date shall be postponed to the
first following day that is a Business Day;

(ii) “‘Modified Following Business Day Convention” or “Modified Business Day
Convention” means that such date shall be postponed to the first following day that is
a Business Day unless that day falls in the next calendar month in which case that
date will be the first preceding day that is a Business Day;

(iii) “Preceding Business Day Convention” means that such date shall be brought forward
to the first preceding day that is a Business Day; and

(iv) “FRN Convention” or “Eurodollar Convention” means that each such date shall be the
date which numerically corresponds to the preceding such date in the calendar month
which is the number of months specified in the applicable Final Terms after the
calendar month in which the preceding such date occurred, provided that

(a) if there is no such numerically corresponding day in the calendar month in
which any such date should occur, then such date will be the last day which is
a Business Day in that calendar month;

(b) if any such date would otherwise fall on a day which is not a Business Day,
then such date will be the first following day which is a Business Day unless
that day falls in the next calendar month, in which case it will be the first
preceding day which is a Business Day; and

(© if the preceding such date occurred on the last day in a calendar month which
was a Business Day, then all subsequent such dates will be the last day which
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is a Business Day in the calendar month which is the specified number of
months after the calendar month in which the preceding such date occurred.

“‘Day Count Fraction” means, in respect of the calculation of an amount for any period of time
(“Calculation Period”), such day count fraction as may be specified in the applicable Final
Terms and

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

if “Actual/Actual (ICMA)” is so specified, means:

(a) where the Calculation Period is equal to or shorter than the Regular Period
during which it falls, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period
divided by the product of (A) the actual number of days in such Regular Period
and (B) the number of Regular Periods in any year; and

(b) where the Calculation Period is longer than one Regular Period, the sum of:

(A) the actual number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the
Regular Period in which it begins divided by the product of (A) the
actual number of days in such Regular Period and (B) the number of
Regular Periods in any year; and

(B) the actual number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the next
Regular Period divided by the product of (A) the actual number of days
in such Regular Period and (B) the number of Regular Periods in any
year;

if “Actual/Actual” or “Actual/Actual (ISDA)” is so specified, means the actual number of
days in the Calculation Period divided by 365 (or, if any portion of the Calculation
Period falls in a leap year, the sum of (A) the actual number of days in that portion of
the Calculation Period falling in a leap year divided by 366 and (B) the actual number
of days in that portion of the Calculation Period falling in a non-leap year divided by
365);

if “Actual/365 (Fixed)” is so specified, means the actual number of days in the
Calculation Period divided by 365;

if “Actual/360” is so specified, means the actual number of days in the Calculation
Period divided by 360;

if “30/360”, “360/360” or “Bond Basis” is so specified, means the number of days in the
Calculation Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

[360 X (Y, — Y;)] +[30 X (M; — M;)] + (D, — Dy)
360

Day Count Fraction =

where:

“Y,” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation
Period falls;

“Y,” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the
last day of the Calculation Period falls;

“M,” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the
Calculation Period falls;
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(vi)

(vii)

“‘M,” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately
following the last day of the Calculation Period falls;

“D,” is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless
such number is 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and

“D,” is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day
included in the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31 and D1 is greater
than 29, in which case D2 will be 30;

if “30E/360” or “Eurobond Basis” is so specified, means the number of days in the
Calculation Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

[360 X (Y, — Y;)] +[30 X (M; — M;)] + (D, — Dy)
360

Day Count Fraction =

where:

“Y{" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation
Period falls;

“Y,” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the
last day of the Calculation Period falls;

“‘M,” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the
Calculation Period falls;

“‘M,” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately
following the last day of the Calculation Period falls;

“D,” is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless
such number would be 31, in which case D; will be 30; and

“‘D,” is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day
included in the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D,
will be 30; and

if “30E/360 (ISDA)” is so specified, means the number of days in the Calculation
Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

[360 X (Y, — Y1 )] +[30 X (M; — M;)] + (D, — Dy)
360

Day Count Fraction =

where:

“Y,” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation
Period falls;

“Y,” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the
last day of the Calculation Period falls;

“M,” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the
Calculation Period falls;
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“‘M,” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately
following the last day of the Calculation Period falls;

“D,” is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless
(i) that day is the last day of February or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case
D; will be 30; and

“‘D,” is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day
included in the Calculation Period, unless (i) that day is the last day of February but
not the Maturity Date or (i) such number would be 31, in which case D, will be 30.

“‘euro zone” means the zone comprising the Member States of the European Union which
adopt or have adopted the euro as their lawful currency in accordance with the Treaty.

“Interest Accrual Period” means, in respect of an Interest Period, each successive period
beginning on, and including, an Interest Period End Date and ending on, but excluding, the
next succeeding Interest Period End Date during that Interest Period provided always that the
first Interest Accrual Period shall commence on and include the Interest Commencement
Date.

“Interest Commencement Date” means the date of issue of the Instruments (as specified in
the applicable Final Terms) or such other date as may be specified as such in the Final
Terms.

“Interest Determination Date” means, in respect of any Interest Accrual Period, the date falling
such number (if any) of Banking Days in such city(ies) as may be specified in the applicable
Final Terms prior to the first day of such Interest Accrual Period, or if none is specified:

0] in the case of instruments denominated or payable in euro, the date falling two
TARGET Business Days prior to the first day of such Interest Accrual Period; and

(ii) in any other case, the date falling two London Banking Days prior to the first day of
such Interest Accrual Period.

“Interest Payment Date” means the date or dates specified as such in, or, in the case of
Exempt Instruments only, determined in accordance with the provisions of, the applicable
Final Terms and, if an Applicable Business Day Convention is specified in the applicable Final
Terms, as the same may be adjusted in accordance with the Applicable Business Day
Convention or if the Applicable Business Day Convention is the FRN Convention and an
interval of a number of calendar months is specified in the applicable Final Terms as being
the Interest Period, each of such dates as may occur in accordance with the FRN Convention
at such specified period of calendar months following the date of issue of the Instruments (in
the case of the first Interest Payment Date) or the previous Interest Payment Date (in any
other case).

“Interest Period” means each successive period beginning on and including an Interest
Payment Date and ending on but excluding the next succeeding Interest Payment Date
provided always that the first Interest Period shall commence on and include the Interest
Commencement Date and the final Interest Period shall end on but exclude the date of final
maturity.

“Interest Period End Date” means the date or dates specified as such in, or, in the case of
Exempt Instruments only, determined in accordance with the provisions of, the applicable
Final Terms and, if an Applicable Business Day Convention is specified in the applicable Final
Terms, as the same may be adjusted in accordance with the Applicable Business Day
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Convention or, if the Applicable Business Day Convention is the FRN Convention and an
interval of a number of calendar months is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the
Interest Accrual Period, such dates as may occur in accordance with the FRN Convention at
such specified period of calendar months following the Interest Commencement Date (in the
case of the first Interest Period End Date) or the previous Interest Period End Date (in any
other case) or, if none of the foregoing is specified in the applicable Final Terms, means the
date or each of the dates which correspond with the Interest Payment Date(s) in respect of
the Instruments.

“Interest Rate” means the rate or rates (expressed as a percentage per annum) or amount or
amounts (expressed as a price per unit of relevant currency) of interest payable in respect of
the Instruments specified in, or, in the case of Exempt Instruments only, calculated or
determined in accordance with the provisions of, the applicable Final Terms.

“ISDA Definitions” means the 2006 ISDA Definitions as amended and updated as at the date
of issue of the first Tranche of the Instruments of the relevant Series (as specified in the
applicable Final Terms) as published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association,
Inc.

“Outstanding Principal Amount” means, in respect of an Instrument, its principal amount less,
in respect of any Instalment Exempt Instrument, any principal amount on which interest shall
have ceased to accrue in accordance with Condition 6.6 or, in the case of a Partly Paid
Instrument, the Paid Up Amount of such Exempt Instrument or otherwise as indicated in the
applicable Pricing Supplement except that the Paid Up Amount shall be deemed to be nil for
Exempt Instruments which have been forfeited by the Issuer on or after the Forfeiture Date as
provided for in Condition 1.6.

“‘Reference Banks” means such banks as may be specified in the applicable Final Terms as
the Reference Banks or, if none are specified, “Reference Banks” has the meaning given in
the ISDA Definitions, mutatis mutandis.

“‘Regular Period” means:

0] in the case of Notes where interest is scheduled to be paid only by means of regular
payments, each period from and including the Interest Commencement Date to but
excluding the first Interest Payment Date and each successive period from and
including one Interest Payment Date to but excluding the next Interest Payment Date;

(i) in the case of Notes where, apart from the first Interest Period, interest is scheduled to
be paid only by means of regular payments, each period from and including a Regular
Date falling in any year to but excluding the next Regular Date, where “Regular Date”
means the day and month (but not the year) on which any Interest Payment Date falls;
and

(iii) in the case of Notes where, apart from one Interest Period other than the first Interest
Period, interest is scheduled to be paid only by means of regular payments, each
period from and including a Regular Date falling in any year to but excluding the next
Regular Date, where “Regular Date” means the day and month (but not the year) on
which any Interest Payment Date falls other than the Interest Payment Date falling at
the end of the irregular Interest Period;

“Relevant Financial Centre” means (i) in the case of a rate at which deposits are offered in the
London interbank market, London or (ii) in the case of a rate at which deposits are offered in
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the euro zone interbank market, Brussels or, in the case of Exempt Instruments, such other
financial centre or centres as may be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

“‘Relevant Time” means 11:00 a.m. in the Relevant Financial Centre, or, in the case of Exempt
Instruments, such other time as may be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

“‘Reuters Screen” means, when used in connection with a designated page and any
designated information, the display page so designated on the Reuters Monitor Money Rates
Service (or such other page as may replace that page on that service for the purpose of
displaying such information).

“TARGET2 System” means the Trans-European Automated Real-Time Gross Settlement
Express Transfer (TARGETZ2) System.

“TARGET Business Day” means a day on which the TARGET2 System is operating.

“Treaty” means the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, as amended.

Non-Interest Bearing Instruments

6.10

If any Redemption Amount (as defined in Condition 7.12) or, in the case of Instalment Exempt
Instruments only, Instalment Amount (as defined in Condition 7.1) in respect of any
Instrument which is non-interest bearing is not paid when due, interest shall accrue on the
overdue amount at a rate per annum (expressed as a percentage per annum) equal to the
Amortisation Yield specified in, or, in the case of Exempt Instruments only, determined in
accordance with the provisions of, the applicable Final Terms or at such other rate as may be
specified for this purpose in the applicable Final Terms until the date on which, upon due
presentation or surrender of the relevant Instrument (if required), the relevant payment is
made or, if earlier (except where presentation or surrender of the relevant Instrument is not
required as a precondition of payment), the seventh day after the date on which, the Issue
and Paying Agent having received the funds required to make such payment, notice is given
to the Holders of the Instruments in accordance with Condition 18 that the Issue and Paying
Agent has received the required funds (except to the extent that there is failure in the
subsequent payment thereof to the relevant Holder). The amount of any such interest shall be
calculated in accordance with the provisions of Condition 6.8 as if the Interest Rate was the
Amortisation Yield, the Outstanding Principal Amount was the overdue sum and the Day
Count Fraction was as specified for this purpose in the applicable Final Terms or, if not so
specified, 30E/360 (as defined in Condition 6.9).

Index Linked Interest Instruments

This Condition 6.11 is applicable only to Exempt Instruments.

6.11

If the Instruments are Exempt Instruments and specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement
as being Index Linked Interest Instruments, the provisions relating to the computation of
interest for such Exempt Instruments will be set out in the applicable Pricing Supplement and
the provisions of this Condition 6 will be subject to Condition 8.

Equity Linked Interest Instruments

This Condition 6.12 is applicable only to Exempt Instruments.

6.12

If the Instruments are Exempt Instruments and specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement
as being Equity Linked Interest Instruments, the provisions relating to the computation of
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7.

interest for such Exempt Instruments will be set out in the applicable Pricing Supplement and
the provisions of this Condition 6 will be subject to Condition 9.

Redemption and Purchase

Redemption at Maturity

7.1

Except in the case of Exempt Instruments which are Index Linked Redemption Instruments (in
relation to which Condition 8.1 applies) and Exempt Instruments which are Equity Linked
Redemption Instruments (in relation to which Condition 9.1 applies), unless previously
redeemed, or purchased and cancelled or unless such Instrument is stated in the applicable
Final Terms as having no fixed maturity date, each Instrument shall be redeemed at its
maturity redemption amount (the “Maturity Redemption Amount”) being (i) in the case of PD
Instruments, at its Outstanding Principal Amount, (ii) in the case of Exempt Instruments, at its
Outstanding Principal Amount or such other redemption amount as may be specified in or
determined in accordance with the applicable Pricing Supplement on the Maturity Date or (iii),
in the case of Instalment Exempt Instruments, in such number of instalments and in such
amounts (“Instalment Amounts”) as may be specified in, or determined in accordance with the
provisions of, the applicable Pricing Supplement on the dates specified in the applicable
Pricing Supplement.

Early Redemption for Taxation Reasons

7.2

If, in relation to any Series of Instruments as a result of any change in the laws, regulations or
rulings of:

x) in respect of sub-paragraph (i) below, the Taxing Jurisdiction of the Issuer or, as the
case may be, the Guarantor; or

) in respect of subparagraph (ii) below, the Taxing Jurisdiction of the Guarantor,

or, in each case, of any political subdivision thereof or any authority or agency therein or
thereof having power to tax or in the interpretation or administration of any such laws,
regulations or rulings which becomes effective on or after the date on which agreement is
reached to issue the first Tranche of such Instruments,

0] the Issuer would be required to pay additional amounts as provided in Condition 12 or
the Guarantor would be unable for reasons outside its control to procure payment by
the Issuer and in making payment itself would be required to pay such additional
amounts;

(i) (in the case of Notes issued by ERB Hellas PLC only) if a Proceeds On-Loan Tax Call
is specified as being applicable in the applicable Final Terms and the Guarantor is
required to make any withholding or deduction for or on account of any present or
future taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature
imposed or levied by or on behalf the Taxing Jurisdiction of the Guarantor, in respect
of any amounts of principal, premium and interest in respect of any Proceeds On-Loan
(as defined below) payable by or on behalf of the Guarantor,

the Issuer may, at its option (but, in the case of Subordinated Instruments, subject to consent
thereto having been obtained from the Competent Authority), and having given no less than
thirty nor more than sixty days’ notice (ending, in the case of Instruments which bear interest
at a floating rate, on a day upon which interest is payable) to the Holders of the Instruments in
accordance with Condition 18 (which notice shall be irrevocable), redeem all (but not some
only) of the outstanding Instruments comprising the relevant Series at their early tax
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redemption amount (the “Early Redemption Amount (Tax)”) (which shall be their Outstanding
Principal Amount or, in the case of Instruments which are non-interest bearing, their
Amortised Face Amount (as defined in Condition 7.13) or such other redemption amount as
may be specified in, or, in the case of Exempt Instruments only, determined in accordance
with the provisions of, the applicable Final Terms), together with accrued interest (if any)
thereon provided, however, that, in the case of redemption pursuant to subparagraph (i)
above, no such notice of redemption may be given earlier than 90 days (or, in the case of
Instruments which bear interest at a floating rate, a number of days which is equal to the
aggregate of the number of days falling within the then current interest period applicable to
the Instruments plus 60 days) prior to the earliest date on which the Issuer or, as the case
may be, the Guarantor would be obliged to pay such additional amounts were a payment in
respect of the Instruments then due.

The Issuer may not exercise such option in respect of any Instrument which is the subject of
the prior exercise by the Holder thereof of its option to require the redemption of such
Instrument under Condition 7.6.

“Competent Authority” means, pursuant to Council Regulation (EU) 1024/2013, (i) until and
including 3 November 2014, the Bank of Greece and (ii) from and including 4 November
2014, the European Central Bank.

“Proceeds On-Loan” means any loan made by ERB Hellas PLC to the Guarantor with all (or
substantially all) of the net proceeds of the Instruments.

“Taxing Jurisdiction” means, in the case of ERB Hellas PLC, the United Kingdom, in the case
of ERB Hellas (Cayman Islands) Limited, the Cayman Islands, in the case of the Bank, the
Hellenic Republic and, in the case of the Guarantor, the Hellenic Republic.

Optional Early Redemption (Call)

7.3

7.4

If this Condition 7.3 is specified in the applicable Final Terms as being applicable, then the
Issuer may, subject, in the case of Subordinated Instruments to the prior consent of the
Competent Authority, having given the appropriate notice, and subject to such conditions as
may be specified in the applicable Final Terms, redeem all (but not, unless and to the extent
that the applicable Final Terms specify otherwise, some only) of the Instruments of the
relevant Series at their call early redemption amount (the “Early Redemption Amount (Call)”)
(which shall be their Outstanding Principal Amount or, in the case of Instruments which are
non-interest bearing, their Amortised Face Amount (as defined in Condition 7.13) or such
other redemption amount as may be specified in, or, in the case of Exempt Instruments only,
determined in accordance with the provisions of, the applicable Final Terms), together with
accrued interest (if any) thereon on the date specified in such notice.

The Issuer may not exercise such option in respect of any Instrument which is the subject of
the prior exercise by the Holder thereof of its option to require the redemption of such
Instrument under Condition 7.6.

The appropriate notice referred to in Condition 7.3 is a notice given by the Issuer to the
Holders of the Instruments of the relevant Series in accordance with Condition 18, which
notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify

- the Series of Instruments subject to redemption;

- whether such Series is to be redeemed in whole or in part only and, if in part only, the
aggregate principal amount of and (except in the case of a Temporary Global
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Instrument or Permanent Global Instrument) the serial numbers of the Instruments of
the relevant Series which are to be redeemed,;

- the due date for such redemption, which shall be not less than thirty days nor more
than sixty days after the date on which such notice is given and which shall be such
date or the next of such dates (“Call Option Date(s)”) or a day falling within such
period (“Call Option Period”), as may be specified in the applicable Final Terms and
which is, in the case of Instruments which bear interest at a floating rate, a date upon
which interest is payable; and

- the Early Redemption Amount (Call) at which such Instruments are to be redeemed.

Partial Redemption

7.5

If the Instruments of a Series are to be redeemed in part only on any date in accordance with
Condition 7.3, the Instruments to be redeemed shall be not less than the Minimum
Redemption Amount (if any) or not more than the Maximum Redemption Amount (if any),
both as indicated in the applicable Final Terms and shall be drawn by lot in such European
city as the Issue and Paying Agent may specify, or identified in such other manner or in such
other place as the Issue and Paying Agent may approve and deem appropriate and fair,
subject always to compliance with all applicable laws and the requirements of any stock
exchange on which the relevant Instruments may be listed.

A list of the Instruments called for redemption will be published in accordance with Condition
18 not less than fifteen days prior to the date fixed for redemption.

Optional Early Redemption (Put)

7.6

This Condition 7.6 is applicable only to Unsubordinated Instruments.

If this Condition 7.6 is specified in the applicable Final Terms as being applicable, then the
Issuer shall, upon the exercise of the relevant option by the Holder of any Instrument of the
relevant Series, redeem such Instrument on the date specified in the relevant Put Notice (as
defined below) at its put early redemption amount (the “Early Redemption Amount (Put)”)
(which shall be its Outstanding Principal Amount or, if such Instrument is non-interest bearing,
its Amortised Face Amount (as defined in Condition 7.13) or such other redemption amount
as may be specified in, or, in the case of Exempt Instruments only, determined in accordance
with the provisions of, the applicable Final Terms), together with accrued interest (if any)
thereon. In order to exercise such option, the Holder must, not less than forty-five days before
the date on which such redemption is required to be made as specified in the Put Notice
(which date shall be such date or the next of the dates (“Put Date(s)”) or a day falling within
such period (“Put Period”) as may be specified in the applicable Final Terms), deposit the
relevant Instrument (together, in the case of an interest-bearing Instrument, with all
unmatured Coupons appertaining thereto other than any Coupon maturing on or before the
date of redemption (failing which the provisions of Condition 13A.6 apply)) during normal
business hours at the specified office of any Paying Agent together with a duly completed
early redemption notice (“Put Notice”) in the form which is available from the specified office
of any of the Paying Agents. No Instrument so deposited and option exercised may be
withdrawn (except as provided in the Issue and Paying Agency Agreement).

The holder of an Instrument may not exercise such option in respect of any Instrument which

is (a) the subject of an exercise by the Issuer of its option to redeem such Instrument under
either Condition 7.2 or 7.3 or (b) a Subordinated Instrument.

87



Purchase of Instruments

7.7

The Issuer, the Guarantor and any of the Bank’s subsidiaries may at any time purchase
Instruments in the open market or otherwise and at any price provided that all unmatured
Coupons and, in the case of Exempt Instruments only, Receipts appertaining thereto are
purchased therewith. Such Instruments may be held, reissued or, at the option of the Issuer
or the Guarantor, surrendered to any Paying Agent for cancellation (subject, in the case of
Subordinated Instruments, as provided in Condition 7.8 below).

Cancellation of Redeemed and Purchased Instruments

7.8 All unmatured Instruments and Coupons and unexchanged Talons redeemed or purchased,
otherwise than in the ordinary course of business of dealing in securities or as a nominee in
accordance with this Condition 7, will be cancelled forthwith and may not be reissued or
resold. In the case of Subordinated Instruments, cancellation thereof may be subject to
consent thereto having been obtained from the Competent Authority.

lllegality

7.9 In the event that the Issuer determines that the performance of the Issuer’s obligations under

the Instruments or the Guarantor's obligations in respect thereof under the Deed of
Guarantee has or will become unlawful, illegal or otherwise prohibited in whole or in part as a
result of compliance with any applicable present or future law, rule, regulation, judgment,
order or directive of any governmental, administrative, legislative or judicial authority or
power, or in the interpretation thereof, the Issuer having given not less than 10 nor more than
30 days’ notice to Holders in accordance with Condition 18 (which notice shall be
irrevocable), may, on expiry of such notice redeem all (but not some only) of the Instruments,
each Calculation Amount (as set out in the applicable Final Terms) being redeemed at the
Early Termination Amount (as defined below) together with all interest (if any) accrued
thereon.

Autocallable Instruments

This Condition 7.10 is applicable only to Exempt Instruments.

7.10

If Autocall is specified as applying in the applicable Pricing Supplement, unless previously
redeemed or purchased and cancelled, upon the occurrence of an Autocall Event (as set out
in the applicable Pricing Supplement), each nominal amount of the Instruments equal to the
Calculation Amount set out in the applicable Pricing Supplement will be redeemed by the
Issuer at the Autocall Redemption Amount specified in, or determined in the manner specified
in, the applicable Pricing Supplement on the Autocall Redemption Date.

If the Exempt Instruments are to be so redeemed, the Issuer will give notice to the Holders of
the Exempt Instruments in accordance with Condition 18 as soon as practicable after the
Autocall Event has been determined.

Further Provisions applicable to Redemption Amount and Instalment Amounts

7.11

7.12

The provisions of Condition 6.7 and the last paragraph of Condition 6.8 shall apply to any
determination or calculation of the Redemption Amount or, in the case of Instalment Exempt
Instruments only, any Instalment Amount required by the applicable Final Terms to be made
by the Calculation Agent.

References herein to “Redemption Amount” shall mean, as appropriate, the Maturity
Redemption Amount, the final Instalment Amount (in the case of Instalment Exempt
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Instruments only), the Early Redemption Amount (Tax), the Early Redemption Amount (Call),
the Early Redemption Amount (Put) and the Early Termination Amount or such other amount
in the nature of a redemption amount as may be specified in, or, in the case of Exempt
Instruments only, determined in accordance with the provisions of, the applicable Final
Terms.

7.13 In the case of any Instrument which is non-interest bearing, the “Amortised Face Amount”
shall be an amount equal to the sum of:

() the Issue Price specified in the applicable Final Terms; and

(i) the product of the Amortisation Yield (compounded annually) being applied to the
Issue Price from (and including) the Issue Date specified in the applicable Final Terms
to (but excluding) the date fixed for redemption or (as the case may be) the date upon
which such Instrument becomes due and repayable.

Where such calculation is to be made for a period which is not a whole number of years, the
calculation in respect of the period of less than a full year shall be made on the basis of the
Day Count Fraction (as defined in Condition 6.9) specified in the applicable Final Terms for
the purposes of this Condition 7.13.

7.14 In the case of any Instrument which is non-interest bearing, if any Redemption Amount (other
than the Maturity Redemption Amount) is improperly withheld or refused or default is
otherwise made in the payment thereof, the Amortised Face Amount shall be calculated as
provided in Condition 7.13 but as if references in subparagraph (ii) to the date fixed for
redemption or the date upon which such Instrument becomes due and repayable were
replaced by references to the earlier of:

0] the date on which, upon due presentation or surrender of the relevant Instrument (if
required), the relevant payment is made; and

(ii) (except where presentation or surrender of the relevant Instrument is not required as a
precondition of payment), the seventh day after the date on which, the Issue and
Paying Agent having received the funds required to make such payment, notice is
given to the Holders of the Instruments in accordance with Condition 18 of that
circumstance (except to the extent that there is a failure in the subsequent payment
thereof to the relevant Holder).

8. Index Linked Instruments

This Condition 8 is applicable only to Exempt Instruments.
If an Exempt Instrument is specified as an Index Linked Interest Instrument and/or Index
Linked Redemption Instrument in the applicable Pricing Supplement then the provisions of
this Condition 8 apply, as applicable, as modified by the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Redemption at Maturity of Exempt Instruments that are Index Linked Redemption Instruments

8.1 Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, each nominal amount of the Index
Linked Redemption Instruments equal to the Calculation Amount set out in the applicable
Pricing Supplement will be redeemed by the Issuer at the Maturity Redemption Amount

specified in, or determined in the manner specified in, the applicable Pricing Supplement on
the Maturity Date.
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Adjustments to an Index

8.2

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Successor Index Sponsor Calculates and Reports an Index

If a relevant Index is (a) not calculated and announced by the Index Sponsor but is
calculated and announced by a successor sponsor (a “Successor Index Sponsor”)
acceptable to the Calculation Agent or (b) replaced by a successor index using, in the
determination of the Calculation Agent, the same or a substantially similar formula for
and method of calculation as used in the calculation of that Index, then, in each case,
that index (the “Successor Index”) will be deemed to be the Index.

Modification and Cessation of Calculation of an Index

If (a) on or prior to a Valuation Date or an Averaging Date the relevant Index Sponsor
or, if applicable, the relevant Successor Index Sponsor makes or announces that it will
make a material change in the formula for or the method of calculating a relevant
Index or in any other way materially modifies that Index (other than a modification
prescribed in that formula or method to maintain that Index in the event of changes in
constituent stock and capitalisation, contracts or commodities and other routine
events) (an “Index Modification”) or permanently cancels the Index and no Successor
Index exists (an “Index Cancellation”), or (b) on a Valuation Date or an Averaging Date
the relevant Index Sponsor or, if applicable, the relevant Successor Index Sponsor
fails to calculate and announce a relevant Index (an “Index Disruption” and, together
with an Index Modification and an Index Cancellation, each an “Index Adjustment
Event”), then the Issuer may take the action described in (A) or (B) below:

(A) in relation to any day on which the Calculation Agent is required to determine
the Reference Price for such Index for such day, require the Calculation Agent
to (x) determine if such Index Adjustment Event has a material effect on the
Instruments and, if so, to calculate the Reference Price using, in lieu of a
published level for that Index, the level for that Index as at the Valuation Time
on that Valuation Date or that Averaging Date, as the case may be, as
determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the formula for and
method of calculating that Index last in effect prior to the change, failure or
cancellation but using only those securities/commodities that comprised that
Index immediately prior to that Index Adjustment Event or (y) substitute the
relevant Index with a replacement index using the same or a substantially
similar method of calculation as used in the calculation of the relevant Index
and the Calculation Agent shall determine the appropriate adjustment, if any,
to be made to any one or more of the relevant Interest Amount and/or the
Maturity Redemption Amount and/or the Strike Price and/or the Multiplier
and/or any of the other terms of these Conditions and/or the applicable Pricing
Supplement to account for such substitution;

(B) give notice to the Holders in accordance with Condition 18 and redeem all (but
not some only) of the Instruments, each Calculation Amount being redeemed
at the Early Termination Amount.

Notice

Upon the occurrence of an Index Adjustment Event, the Issuer shall give notice as

soon as practicable to Holders in accordance with Condition 18 giving details of the
action proposed to be taken in relation thereto.
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Correction of an Index

8.3

If Correction of Index Levels is specified as applying in the applicable Pricing Supplement and
the level of an Index published on a Valuation Date or an Averaging Date used to determine
the relevant Interest Amount and/or Maturity Redemption Amount, as the case may be, is
subsequently corrected and the correction (the “Corrected Index Level”) is published by the
Index Sponsor or (if applicable) the Successor Index Sponsor prior to the Correction Cut-Off
Date specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, then such Corrected Index Level shall be
deemed to be the level for such Index for such Valuation Date or such Averaging Date, as the
case may be, and the Calculation Agent shall use such Corrected Index Level in determining
the relevant Interest Amount and/or the Maturity Redemption Amount, as the case may be.

Definitions applicable to Exempt Instruments that are Index Linked Instruments

8.4

“Averaging Date” means each date specified as an Averaging Date in the applicable Pricing
Supplement or (if any such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day) the immediately following
Scheduled Trading Day unless, in the opinion of the Calculation Agent, any such day is a
Disrupted Day. If any such day is a Disrupted Day, then:

0] if “Omission” is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as applying, then such
date will be deemed not to be an Averaging Date provided that, if through the
operation of this provision there would not be an Averaging Date, then the provisions
of the definition of “Valuation Date” will apply for the purposes of determining the
relevant level, price or amount on the final Averaging Date as if such Averaging Date
were a Valuation Date that was a Disrupted Day; or

(i) if “Postponement” is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as applying, then
the provisions of the definition of “Valuation Date” will apply for the purposes of
determining the relevant level, price or amount on that Averaging Date as if such
Averaging Date were a Valuation Date that was a Disrupted Day irrespective of
whether, pursuant to such determination, that deferred Averaging Date would fall on a
day that already is or is deemed to be an Averaging Date; or

(iii) if “Modified Postponement” is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as
applying:

(a) where the Exempt Instruments relate to a single Index, the Averaging Date
shall be the first succeeding Valid Date. If the first succeeding Valid Date has
not occurred as of the Valuation Time on the eighth Scheduled Trading Day
immediately following the original date that, but for the occurrence of another
Averaging Date or Disrupted Day, would have been the final Averaging Date,
then (A) that eighth Scheduled Trading Day shall be deemed to be the
Averaging Date (irrespective of whether the eighth Scheduled Trading Day is
already an Averaging Date), and (B) the Calculation Agent shall determine the
relevant level, price or amount for that Averaging Date in accordance with sub-
paragraph (i)(b) of the definition of “Valuation Date” below; and

(b) where the Exempt Instruments relate to a Basket of Indices, the Averaging
Date for each Index not affected by the occurrence of a Disrupted Day shall be
the originally designated Averaging Date (the “Scheduled Averaging Date”)
and the Averaging Date for an Index affected by the occurrence of a Disrupted
Day shall be the first succeeding Valid Date in relation to such Index. If the first
succeeding Valid Date in relation to such Index has not occurred as of the
Valuation Time on the eighth Scheduled Trading Day immediately following the
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original date that, but for the occurrence of another Averaging Date or
Disrupted Day, would have been the final Averaging Date, then (A) that eighth
Scheduled Trading Day shall be deemed to be the Averaging Date
(irrespective of whether that eighth Scheduled Trading Day is already an
Averaging Date) in relation to such Index, and (B) the Calculation Agent shall
determine the relevant level, price or amount for such Averaging Date in
accordance with sub-paragraph (ii)(b) of the definition of “Valuation Date”
below.

If the applicable Pricing Supplement specifies a number of Averaging Roll Days (other than
eight), references in this definition of “Averaging Date” to “eighth Scheduled Trading Day”
(and related references) shall be construed with reference to such number of Averaging Roll
Days.

“Disrupted Day” means (i) where the relevant Index is specified in the applicable Pricing
Supplement as not being a Multi-Exchange Index, any Scheduled Trading Day on which a
relevant Exchange or any Related Exchange fails to open for trading during its regular trading
session or on which a Market Disruption Event has occurred or (ii) where the relevant Index is
specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being a Multi-Exchange Index, any
Scheduled Trading Day on which (a) the relevant Index Sponsor fails to publish the level of
the Index, (b) any Related Exchange fails to open for trading during its regular trading session
or (c) a Market Disruption Event has occurred.

“Early Closure” means the closure on any Exchange Business Day of the Exchange in
respect of any Component Security or any Related Exchange prior to its Scheduled Closing
Time unless such earlier closing is announced by such Exchange or Related Exchange, as
the case may be, at least one hour prior to the earlier of: (i) the actual closing time for the
regular trading session on such Exchange or Related Exchange, as the case may be, on such
Exchange Business Day; and (ii) the submission deadline for orders to be entered into the
relevant Exchange or Related Exchange system for execution at the relevant Valuation Time
on such Exchange Business Day.

“‘Exchange” means:

@ where the relevant Index is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as not
being a Multi-Exchange Index, each exchange or quotation system specified as such
for such Index in the applicable Pricing Supplement, any successor to such exchange
or quotation system or any substitute exchange or quotation system to which trading
in the securities/commodities comprising such Index has temporarily relocated
(provided that the Calculation Agent has determined that there is comparable liquidity
relative to the securities/commodities comprising such Index on such temporary
substitute exchange or quotation system as on the original Exchange); and

(i) where the relevant Index is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being a
Multi-Exchange Index, in relation to each component security of that Index (each a
“Component Security”), the principal stock exchange on which such Component
Security is principally traded, as determined by the Calculation Agent.

‘Exchange Business Day” means either (i) where the relevant Index is specified in the
applicable Pricing Supplement as not being a Multi-Exchange Index, any Scheduled Trading
Day on which each Exchange and each Related Exchange is open for trading during their
respective regular trading sessions, notwithstanding any such Exchange or Related
Exchange closing prior to its Scheduled Closing Time or (ii) where the relevant Index is
specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being a Multi-Exchange Index, any
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Scheduled Trading Day on which (a) the Index Sponsor publishes the level of the Index and
(b) each Related Exchange is open for trading during its regular trading session,
notwithstanding the Related Exchange closing prior to its Scheduled Closing Time.

“Exchange Disruption” means any event (other than an Early Closure) that disrupts or impairs
(as determined by the Calculation Agent) the ability of market participants in general to effect
transactions in, or obtain market values for: (i) any Component Security on the Exchange in
respect of such Component Security; or (ii) futures or options contracts relating to the Index
on any Related Exchange.

“Indices” and “Index” mean, subject to adjustment in accordance with Condition 8.2, the
indices or index specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement and related expressions shall
be construed accordingly.

“Index Sponsor” means, in relation to an Index, the corporation or other entity that (i) is
responsible for setting and reviewing the rules and procedures and the methods of calculation
and adjustments, if any, related to such Index and (ii) announces (directly or through an
agent) the level of such Index on a regular basis during each Scheduled Trading Day, which
as of the Issue Date is the index sponsor specified for such Index in the applicable Pricing
Supplement.

“Market Disruption Event” means, in respect of an Index:

(@ where such Index is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as not being a
Multi-Exchange Index:

@) the occurrence or existence at any time during the one hour period that ends at
the relevant Valuation Time:

(A) of any suspension of or limitation imposed on trading by the relevant
Exchange or Related Exchange, or otherwise, and whether by reason
of movements in price exceeding limits permitted by the relevant
Exchange or Related Exchange or otherwise:

x) on any relevant Exchange(s) relating to securities that comprise
20 per cent. or more of the level of the relevant Index; or

) in futures or options contracts relating to the relevant Index on
any relevant Related Exchange; or

(B) of any event (other than an event described in (b) below) that disrupts
or impairs (as determined by the Calculation Agent) the ability of market
participants in general (I) to effect transactions in, or obtain market
values for, on any relevant Exchange(s), securities that comprise 20
per cent. or more of the level of the relevant Index, or (Il) to effect
transactions in, or obtain market values for, futures or options contracts
relating to the relevant Index on any relevant Related Exchange; or

(b) the closure on any Exchange Business Day of any relevant Exchange(s)
relating to securities/commaodities that comprise 20 per cent. or more of the
level of the relevant Index or any Related Exchange(s) prior to its Scheduled
Closing Time unless such earlier closing time is announced by such
Exchange(s) or such Related Exchange(s), as the case may be, at least one
hour prior to (A) the actual closing time for the regular trading session on such
Exchange(s) or such Related Exchange(s) on such Exchange Business Day
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(ii)

or, if earlier, (B) the submission deadline for orders to be entered into the
Exchange or Related Exchange system for execution at the Valuation Time on
such Exchange Business Day,

which in any such case the Calculation Agent determines is material; or

where such Index is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being a Multi-
Exchange Index, in respect of a Component Security included in such Index either:

(@)

(b)

(i)

(ii)

the occurrence or existence, in respect of any Component Security, of:

(A)

(B)

(©

a Trading Disruption in respect of such Component Security,
which the Calculation Agent determines is material, at any time
during the one hour period that ends at the relevant Valuation
Time in respect of the Exchange in respect of such Component
Security;

an Exchange Disruption in respect of such Component Security,
which the Calculation Agent determines is material, at any time
during the one hour period that ends at the relevant Valuation
Time in respect of the Exchange in respect of such Component
Security; or

an Early Closure in respect of such Component Security, which
the Calculation Agent determines is material; and

the aggregate of all Component Securities in respect of which a Trading
Disruption, an Exchange Disruption or an Early Closure occurs or exists
comprises 20 per cent. or more of the level of the Index; or

the occurrence or existence, in respect of futures or options contracts relating
to the Index, of:

(A)

(B)

(©)

a Trading Disruption at any time during the one hour period that ends at
the Valuation Time in respect of any Related Exchange;

an Exchange Disruption at any time during the one hour period that
ends at the Valuation Time in respect of any Related Exchange; or

an Early Closure,

in each case in respect of such futures or options contracts and which the
Calculation Agent determines is material.

For the purpose of determining whether a Market Disruption Event exists in relation to an
Index or in respect of a Component Security at any time, if an event giving rise to a Market
Disruption Event occurs in respect of a security included in the Index or such Component
Security at that time, then the relevant percentage contribution of that security or Component
Security, as the case may be, to the level of that Index shall be based on a comparison of (x)
the portion of the level of that Index attributable to that security or Component Security, as the
case may be, and (y) the overall level of that Index, in each case either (a) except where the
relevant Index is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being a Multi-Exchange
Index, immediately before the occurrence of such Market Disruption Event or (b) where the
relevant Index is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being a Multi-Exchange
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Index, using the official opening weightings as published by the Index Sponsor as part of the
market “opening data”.

The Issuer shall give notice as soon as practicable to the Holders in accordance with
Condition 18 of the occurrence of a Disrupted Day on any day that, but for the occurrence of a
Disrupted Day, would have been a Valuation Date or an Averaging Date. Without limiting the
obligation of the Issuer to give notice to the Holders as set forth in the preceding sentence,
failure by the Issuer to notify the Holders of the occurrence of a Disrupted Day shall not affect
the validity of the occurrence and effect of such Disrupted Day.

“Reference Price” means:

0] where the Exempt Instruments are specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement to
relate to a single Index, an amount equal to the official closing level of the Index as
determined by the Calculation Agent (or if a Valuation Time other than the Scheduled
Closing Time is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the level of the Index
determined by the Calculation Agent at such Valuation Time) on (a) if Valuation Dates
are specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, a Valuation Date (as defined
below) or (b) if Averaging Dates are specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, an
Averaging Date and, in either case, if specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement,
without regard to any subsequently published correction; and

(i) where the Exempt Instruments are specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement to
relate to a Basket of Indices, an amount equal to the sum of the values calculated for
each Index as the official closing level of each Index as determined by the Calculation
Agent (or if a Valuation Time other than the Scheduled Closing Time is specified in the
applicable Pricing Supplement, the level of the Index determined by the Calculation
Agent at such Valuation Time) on (a) if Valuation Dates are specified in the applicable
Pricing Supplement, a Valuation Date or (b) if Averaging Dates are specified in the
applicable Pricing Supplement, an Averaging Date and, in either case, if specified in
the applicable Pricing Supplement, without regard to any subsequently published
correction, multiplied by the relevant Multiplier specified in the applicable Pricing
Supplement.

‘Related Exchange” means, in relation to an Index, each exchange or quotation system
specified as such for such Index in the applicable Pricing Supplement, any successor to such
exchange or quotation system or any substitute exchange or quotation system to which
trading in futures or options contracts relating to such Index has temporarily relocated
(provided that the Calculation Agent has determined that there is comparable liquidity relative
to the futures or options contracts relating to such Index on such temporary substitute
exchange or quotation system as on the original Related Exchange), provided that where “All
Exchanges” is specified as the Related Exchange in the applicable Pricing Supplement,
“‘Related Exchange” shall mean each exchange or quotation system where trading has a
material effect (as determined by the Calculation Agent) on the overall market for futures or
option contracts relating to such Index.

“Scheduled Closing Time” means, in respect of an Exchange or Related Exchange and a
Scheduled Trading Day, the scheduled weekday closing time of such Exchange or Related
Exchange on such Scheduled Trading Day, without regard to after hours or any other trading
outside of the regular trading session hours.

“Scheduled Trading Day” means (i) where the relevant Index is specified in the applicable

Pricing Supplement as not being a Multi-Exchange Index, any day on which each Exchange
and each Related Exchange are scheduled to be open for trading for their respective regular
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trading sessions or (ii) where the relevant Index is specified in the applicable Pricing
Supplement as being a Multi-Exchange Index, (a) any day on which the Index Sponsor is
scheduled to publish the level of that Index and (b) each Related Exchange is scheduled to
be open for trading for its regular trading session.

“Scheduled Valuation Date” means, in relation to a Valuation Date, any original date that, but
for the occurrence of an event causing a Disrupted Day, would have been that Valuation
Date.

“Strike Price” means the price or prices specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

“Trading Disruption” means any suspension of or limitation imposed on trading by the relevant
Exchange or Related Exchange, as the case may be, or otherwise and whether by reason of
movements in price exceeding limits permitted by the relevant Exchange or Related
Exchange or otherwise: (i) relating to any Component Security on the Exchange in respect of
such Component Security; or (ii) in futures or options contracts relating to the Index on any
Related Exchange.

“Valid Date” means a Scheduled Trading Day that is not a Disrupted Day and on which
another Averaging Date does not or is not deemed to occur.

“Valuation Date” means the date or, in the case of Index Linked Interest Instruments, each
date specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement or, if any such date is not a
Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day unless, in the opinion of
the Calculation Agent, such day is a Disrupted Day. If such day is a Disrupted Day then:

0] where the Exempt Instruments are specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement to
relate to a single Index, that Valuation Date shall be the first succeeding Scheduled
Trading Day that is not a Disrupted Day unless each of the eight Scheduled Trading
Days immediately following the Scheduled Valuation Date is a Disrupted Day. In that
case (a) that eighth Scheduled Trading Day shall be deemed to be that Valuation Date
(notwithstanding the fact that such day is a Disrupted Day) and (b) the Calculation
Agent shall determine the Reference Price in the manner set out in the applicable
Pricing Supplement or, if not set out or not practicable, determine the Reference Price
by determining the level of the Index as of the Valuation Time on that eighth
Scheduled Trading Day in accordance with the formula for and method of calculating
the Index last in effect prior to the occurrence of the first Disrupted Day using the
Exchange traded or quoted price as of the Valuation Time on that eighth Scheduled
Trading Day of each security/commodity comprised in the Index (or if an event giving
rise to a Disrupted Day has occurred in respect of the relevant security/commodity on
that eighth Scheduled Trading Day, its estimate of the value for the relevant
security/commodity as of the Valuation Time on that eighth Scheduled Trading Day);
or

(i) where the Exempt Instruments are specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement to
relate to a Basket of Indices, that Valuation Date for each Index not affected by the
occurrence of a Disrupted Day shall be the Scheduled Valuation Date and that
Valuation Date for each Index affected by the occurrence of a Disrupted Day (each an
“Affected Index”) shall be the next following Scheduled Trading Day that is not a
Disrupted Day relating to the Affected Index, unless each of the eight Scheduled
Trading Days immediately following the Scheduled Valuation Date is a Disrupted Day
relating to that Index. In that case, (a) that eighth Scheduled Trading Day shall be
deemed to be that Valuation Date for the Affected Index, notwithstanding the fact that
such day is a Disrupted Day and (b) the Calculation Agent shall determine the
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9.

Reference Price using, in relation to the Affected Index, the level of that Index
determined in the manner set out in the applicable Pricing Supplement or, if not set
out or if not practicable, using the level of that Index as of the Valuation Time on that
eighth Scheduled Trading Day in accordance with the formula for and method of
calculating that Index last in effect prior to the occurrence of the Disrupted Day using
the Exchange traded or quoted price as of the Valuation Time on that eighth
Scheduled Trading Day of each security/commodity comprised in that Index (or if an
event giving rise to a Disrupted Day has occurred in respect of the relevant
security/commodity on that eighth Scheduled Trading Day, its estimate of the value for
the relevant security/commodity as of the Valuation Time on that eighth Scheduled
Trading Day).

If the applicable Pricing Supplement specifies a number of Valuation Roll Days (other than
eight), references in this definition of “Valuation Date” to “eight Scheduled Trading Days” and
“eighth Scheduled Trading Day” (and related references) shall be construed with reference to
such number of Valuation Roll Days.

“Valuation Time” means:

(i)

(ii)

in respect of each Index specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as not being a
Multi-Exchange Index, the Valuation Time specified in the applicable Pricing
Supplement or if no Valuation Time is specified, the Scheduled Closing Time on the
relevant Exchange on the relevant Valuation Date or Averaging Date, as the case may
be, in relation to such Index. If the relevant Exchange closes prior to its Scheduled
Closing Time and the specified Valuation Time is after the actual closing time for its
regular trading session, then the Valuation Time shall be such actual closing time; or

in respect of each Index specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being a
Multi-Exchange Index, (a)for the purposes of determining whether a Market
Disruption Event has occurred: (X) in respect of a Component Security, the Scheduled
Closing Time on the relevant Exchange and (y) in respect of any options contracts or
futures contracts on the relevant Index, the close of trading on the relevant Related
Exchange, and (b) in all other circumstances, the time at which the official closing
level of the Index is calculated and published by the Index Sponsor. If, for the
purposes of (a) above, the relevant Exchange closes prior to its Scheduled Closing
Time and the specified Valuation Time is after the actual closing time for its regular
trading session, then the Valuation Time shall be such actual closing time.

Equity Linked Instruments

This Condition 9 is applicable only to Exempt Instruments.

If an Exempt Instrument is specified as an Equity Linked Interest Instrument and/or Equity
Linked Redemption Instrument in the applicable Pricing Supplement then the provisions of
this Condition 9 apply, as applicable, as modified by the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Redemption at Maturity of Exempt Instruments that are Equity Linked Redemption Instruments

9.1

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, each nominal amount of Equity
Linked Redemption Instruments equal to the Calculation Amount set out in the applicable
Pricing Supplement will be redeemed by the Issuer by payment of the Maturity Redemption
Amount specified in, or determined in the manner specified in, the applicable Pricing
Supplement on the Maturity Date.
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Potential Adjustment Events, De-listing, Merger Event, Nationalisation and Insolvency, Tender Offer,
Adjustments for Equity Linked Instruments in respect of Underlying Equities quoted in European
Currencies and Correction of Underlying Equity Prices

9.2 0] If Potential Adjustment Events are specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement (as
applicable), then following the declaration by an Equity Issuer of the terms of any
Potential Adjustment Event, the Calculation Agent will determine whether such
Potential Adjustment Event has a diluting or concentrative or other effect on the
theoretical value of the Underlying Equities and, if so, will (a) make the corresponding
adjustment, if any, to any one or more of the relevant Interest Amount and/or the
Maturity Redemption Amount and/or the Strike Price and/or the Multiplier and/or any
of the other terms of these Conditions and/or the applicable Pricing Supplement as the
Calculation Agent determines appropriate to account for that diluting or concentrative
or other effect (including adjustments to account for changes in volatility, expected
dividends, stock loan rate or liquidity relevant to the Underlying Equity) including, if
“Equity Substitution” is specified as applying in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the
substitution of the Underlying Equity (the “Substituted Equity”) the subject of the
Potential Adjustment Event by an equity security selected by the Calculation Agent
from the Reference Index (the “New Equity”) and (b) determine the effective date of
that adjustment. If “Equity Substitution” is specified as applying in the applicable
Pricing Supplement, and the Calculation Agent selects a New Equity in substitution for
the Substituted Equity, the Issuer shall require the Calculation Agent to make such
other adjustments to these Conditions and/or the applicable Pricing Supplement as it
deems appropriate. The Calculation Agent may (but need not) determine the
appropriate adjustment by reference to the adjustment in respect of such Potential
Adjustment Event made by an options exchange to options on the Underlying Equities
traded on that options exchange.

In making any determination in respect of any such adjustment, the Calculation Agent
shall not have regard to any interests arising from circumstances particular to
individual Holders (whatever their number) and, in particular but without limitation,
shall not have regard to the consequences of any such determination for individual
Holders (whatever their number) resulting from their being for any purpose domiciled
or resident in, or otherwise connected with, or subject to the jurisdiction of, any
particular territory or any political sub-division thereof and no Holder shall be entitled
to claim from the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Calculation Agent or any other person any
indemnification or payment in respect of any tax consequences as a result of any such
determination and/or adjustment upon individual Holders.

Upon the making of any such adjustment by the Calculation Agent, the Issuer shall
give notice as soon as practicable to the Holders in accordance with Condition 18,
stating the adjustment to the relevant Interest Amount and/or the Maturity Redemption
Amount and/or the Strike Price and/or the Multiplier and/or any of the other terms of
these Conditions and/or the applicable Pricing Supplement and giving brief details of
the Potential Adjustment Event.

(i) If (a) De-listing, Merger Event, Nationalisation and Insolvency is specified as applying
in the applicable Pricing Supplement and/or (b) Tender Offer is specified as applying
in the applicable Pricing Supplement and (in the case of (a)) a De-listing, Merger
Event, Nationalisation or Insolvency occurs or (in the case of (b)) a Tender Offer
occurs, in each case, in relation to an Underlying Equity, the Issuer may:

(A) require the Calculation Agent to determine the appropriate adjustment, if any,
to be made to any one or more of the relevant Interest Amount and/or the
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(iii)

Maturity Redemption Amount and/or the Strike Price and/or the Multiplier
and/or any of the other terms of these Conditions and/or the applicable Pricing
Supplement to account for the De-listing, Merger Event, Nationalisation,
Insolvency or Tender Offer, as the case may be, including, if “Equity
Substitution” is specified as applying in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the
substitution of the Substituted Equity the subject of the De-listing, Merger
Event, Nationalisation, Insolvency or Tender Offer by a New Equity and
determine the effective date of that adjustment; or

(B) give notice to the Holders in accordance with Condition 18 and redeem all (but
not some only) of the Instruments, with each Calculation Amount being
redeemed at the Early Termination Amount.

If the provisions of Condition 9.2(ii)(A) apply, the Calculation Agent may (but need not)
determine the appropriate adjustment by reference to the adjustment in respect of the
De-listing, Merger Event, Nationalisation, Insolvency or Tender Offer, as the case may
be, made by an options exchange to options on the Underlying Equities traded on that
options exchange.

If “Equity Substitution” is specified as applying in the applicable Pricing Supplement,
and the Calculation Agent selects a New Equity in substitution for the Substituted
Equity, the Issuer shall require the Calculation Agent to make such other adjustments
to these Conditions and/or the applicable Pricing Supplement as it deems appropriate.

In making any determination in respect of any such adjustment, the Calculation Agent
shall not have regard to any interests arising from circumstances particular to
individual Holders (whatever their number) and, in particular but without limitation,
shall not have regard to the consequences of any such determination for individual
Holders (whatever their number) resulting from their being for any purpose domiciled
or resident in, or otherwise connected with, or subject to the jurisdiction of, any
particular territory or any political sub-division thereof and no Holder shall be entitled
to claim from the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Calculation Agent or any other person any
indemnification or payment in respect of any tax consequences as a result of any such
determination and/or adjustment upon individual Holders.

Upon the occurrence (as applicable) of a De-listing, Merger Event, Nationalisation,
Insolvency or Tender Offer, the Issuer shall give notice as soon as practicable to the
Holders in accordance with Condition 18 stating the occurrence of the De-listing,
Merger Event, Nationalisation, Insolvency or Tender Offer, as the case may be, giving
details thereof and the action proposed to be taken in relation thereto.

In respect of Exempt Instruments that are Equity Linked Instruments relating to
Underlying Equities originally quoted, listed and/or dealt as of the Trade Date in a
currency of a member state of the European Union that has not adopted the single
currency in accordance with the Treaty, if such Underlying Equities are at any time
after the Trade Date quoted, listed and/or dealt exclusively in euro on the relevant
Exchange, then the Calculation Agent will adjust any one or more of the relevant
Interest Amount and/or the Maturity Redemption Amount and/or the Strike Price
and/or the Multiplier and/or any of the other terms of these Conditions and/or the
applicable Pricing Supplement as the Calculation Agent determines to be appropriate
to preserve the economic terms of the Exempt Instruments. The Calculation Agent will
make any conversion necessary for the purposes of any such adjustment as of the
Valuation Time at an appropriate mid-market spot rate of exchange determined by the
Calculation Agent prevailing as of the Valuation Time. No adjustments under this
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(iv)

Condition 9.2(iii) will affect the currency denomination of any payments in respect of
the Instruments.

Upon the making of any such adjustment by the Calculation Agent, the Issuer shall
give notice as soon as practicable to the Holders in accordance with Condition 18,
stating the adjustment to the relevant Interest Amount and/or the Maturity Redemption
Amount and/or the Strike Price and/or the Multiplier and/or any of the other terms of
these Conditions and/or the applicable Pricing Supplement.

If Correction of Underlying Equity Prices is specified as applying in the applicable
Pricing Supplement and the price of an Underlying Equity published on a Valuation
Date or an Averaging Date used to determine the relevant Interest Amount and/or the
Maturity Redemption Amount, as the case may be, is subsequently corrected and the
correction (the “Corrected Underlying Equity Price”) is published on the relevant
Exchange prior to the Correction Cut-Off Date specified in the applicable Pricing
Supplement, then such Corrected Underlying Equity Price shall be deemed to be the
price for such Underlying Equity for such Valuation Date or such Averaging Date, as
the case may be, and the Calculation Agent shall use such Corrected Underlying
Equity Price in determining the relevant Interest Amount and/or the Maturity
Redemption Amount, as the case may be.

Definitions applicable to Exempt Instruments that are Equity Linked Instruments

9.3

“Affiliate” means, in relation to any entity (the “First Entity”), any entity controlled, directly or
indirectly, by the First Entity, any entity that controls, directly or indirectly, the First Entity or
any entity, directly or indirectly, under common control with the First Entity. For these
purposes “control” means ownership of a majority of the voting power of an entity.

“Averaging Date” means each date specified as an Averaging Date in the applicable Pricing
Supplement or (if any such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day) the immediately following
Scheduled Trading Day unless, in the opinion of the Calculation Agent, any such day is a
Disrupted Day. If any such day is a Disrupted Day, then:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

if “Omission” is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as applying, then such
date will be deemed not to be an Averaging Date provided that, if through the
operation of this provision there would not be an Averaging Date, then the provisions
of the definition of “Valuation Date” will apply for the purposes of determining the
relevant level, price or amount on the final Averaging Date as if such Averaging Date
were a Valuation Date that was a Disrupted Day; or

if “Postponement” is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as applying, then
the provisions of the definition of “Valuation Date” will apply for the purposes of
determining the relevant level, price or amount on that Averaging Date as if such
Averaging Date were a Valuation Date that was a Disrupted Day irrespective of
whether, pursuant to such determination, that deferred Averaging Date would fall on a
day that already is or is deemed to be an Averaging Date; or

if “Modified Postponement” is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as
applying:

(@) where the Exempt Instruments relate to a single Underlying Equity, the
Averaging Date shall be the first succeeding Valid Date. If the first succeeding
Valid Date has not occurred as of the Valuation Time on the eighth Scheduled
Trading Day immediately following the original date that, but for the occurrence
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of another Averaging Date or Disrupted Day, would have been the final
Averaging Date, then (A) that eighth Scheduled Trading Day shall be deemed
to be the Averaging Date (irrespective of whether the eighth Scheduled
Trading Day is already an Averaging Date), and (B) the Calculation Agent shall
determine the relevant level, price or amount for that Averaging Date in
accordance with sub-paragraph (i)(b) of the definition of “Valuation Date”
below; and

(b) where the Exempt Instruments relate to a Basket of Underlying Equities, the
Averaging Date for each Underlying Equity not affected by the occurrence of a
Disrupted Day shall be the originally designated Averaging Date (the
“Scheduled Averaging Date”) and the Averaging Date for an Underlying Equity
affected by the occurrence of a Disrupted Day shall be the first succeeding
Valid Date in relation to such Underlying Equity. If the first succeeding Valid
Date in relation to such Underlying Equity has not occurred as of the Valuation
Time on the eighth Scheduled Trading Day immediately following the original
date that, but for the occurrence of another Averaging Date or Disrupted Day,
would have been the final Averaging Date, then (A) that eighth Scheduled
Trading Day shall be deemed to be the Averaging Date (irrespective of
whether that eighth Scheduled Trading Day is already an Averaging Date) in
relation to such Underlying Equity, and (B) the Calculation Agent shall
determine the relevant level, price or amount for such Averaging Date in
accordance with sub-paragraph (ii)(b) of the definition of “Valuation Date”
below.

If the applicable Pricing Supplement specifies a number of Averaging Roll Days (other than
eight), references in this definition of “Averaging Date” to “eighth Scheduled Trading Day”
(and related references) shall be construed with reference to such number of Averaging Roll
Days.

“De-listing” means, in respect of any Underlying Equity, the Exchange announces that
pursuant to the rules of such Exchange, such Underlying Equity ceases (or will cease) to be
listed, traded or publicly quoted on the Exchange for any reason (other than a Merger Event
or Tender Offer) and is not immediately re-listed, re-traded or re-quoted on an exchange or
guotation system located in the same country as the Exchange (or, where the Exchange is
within the European Union, in any member state of the European Union) or another exchange
or guotation system located in another country which exchange or quotation system and
country is deemed acceptable by the Calculation Agent.

“Disrupted Day” means any Scheduled Trading Day on which a relevant Exchange or any
Related Exchange fails to open for trading during its regular trading session or on which a
Market Disruption Event has occurred.

“‘Exchange” means, in respect of an Underlying Equity, each exchange or quotation system
specified as such for such Underlying Equity in the applicable Pricing Supplement, any
successor to such exchange or quotation system or any substitute exchange or quotation
system to which trading in the Underlying Equity has temporarily relocated (provided that the
Calculation Agent has determined that there is comparable liquidity relative to such
Underlying Equity on such temporary substitute exchange or quotation system as on the
original Exchange).

“Exchange Business Day” means any Scheduled Trading Day on which each Exchange and
each Related Exchange are open for trading during their respective regular trading sessions,
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notwithstanding any such Exchange or Related Exchange closing prior to its Scheduled
Closing Time.

“Insolvency” means that by reason of the voluntary or involuntary liquidation, special
liquidation and/or bankruptcy (as the case may be and to the extent applicable), insolvency,
dissolution or winding-up of, or any analogous proceeding affecting, an Equity Issuer (i) all the
Underlying Equities of that Equity Issuer are required to be transferred to a trustee, liquidator
or other similar official or (ii) holders of the Underlying Equities of that Equity Issuer become
legally prohibited from transferring them.

“Market Disruption Event” means, in respect of an Underlying Equity:

0] the occurrence or existence at any time during the one hour period that ends at the
relevant Valuation Time of:

(a) any suspension of or limitation imposed on trading by the relevant Exchange or
Related Exchange or otherwise and whether by reason of movements in price
exceeding limits permitted by the relevant Exchange or Related Exchange or
otherwise:

(A) relating to the Underlying Equity on the relevant Exchange; or

(B) in futures or options contracts relating to the Underlying Equity on any
relevant Related Exchange; or

(b) any event (other than an event described in (ii) below) that disrupts or impairs
(as determined by the Calculation Agent) the ability of market participants in
general (A) to effect transactions in, or obtain market values for, the Underlying
Equities on the Exchange, or (B) to effect transactions in, or obtain market
values for, futures or options contracts relating to the relevant Underlying
Equity on any relevant Related Exchange,

(i) the closure on any Exchange Business Day of any relevant Exchange(s) or Related
Exchange(s) prior to its Scheduled Closing Time unless such earlier closing time is
announced by such Exchange(s) or such Related Exchange(s), as the case may be,
at least one hour prior to (A) the actual closing time for the regular trading session on
such Exchange(s) or such Related Exchange(s) on such Exchange Business Day or if
earlier (B) the submission deadline for orders to be entered into the Exchange or
Related Exchange system for execution at the Valuation Time on such Exchange
Business Day,

which in any such case the Calculation Agent determines is material.

The Issuer shall give notice as soon as practicable to the Holders in accordance with
Condition 18 of the occurrence of a Disrupted Day on any day that, but for the occurrence of a
Disrupted Day, would have been a Valuation Date or an Averaging Date. Without limiting the
obligation of the Issuer to give notice to the Holders as set forth in the preceding sentence,
failure by the Issuer to notify the Holders of the occurrence of a Disrupted Day shall not affect
the validity of the occurrence and effect of such Disrupted Day.

“Merger Date” means the closing date of a Merger Event or, where a closing date cannot be
determined under the local law applicable to such Merger Event, such other date as
determined by the Calculation Agent.

“Merger Event” means, in respect of any relevant Underlying Equities, any:
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(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

reclassification or change of such Underlying Equities that results in a transfer of, or
an irrevocable commitment to transfer, all such Underlying Equities outstanding to
another entity or person; or

consolidation, amalgamation, merger or binding share exchange of an Equity Issuer
with or into another entity or person (other than a consolidation, amalgamation,
merger or binding share exchange in which such Equity Issuer is the continuing entity
and which does not result in any such reclassification or change of all such Underlying
Equities outstanding); or

takeover offer, tender offer, exchange offer, solicitation, proposal or other event by any
entity or person to purchase or otherwise obtain 100 per cent. of the outstanding
Underlying Equities of the Equity Issuer that results in a transfer of or an irrevocable
commitment to transfer all such Underlying Equities (other than such Underlying
Equities owned or controlled by such other entity or person); or

consolidation, amalgamation, merger or binding share exchange of the Equity Issuer
or its subsidiaries with or into another entity in which the Equity Issuer is the
continuing entity and which does not result in a reclassification or change of all such
Underlying Equities outstanding but results in the outstanding Underlying Equities
(other than Underlying Equities owned or controlled by such other entity) immediately
prior to such event collectively representing less than 50 per cent. of the outstanding
Underlying Equities immediately following such event,

in each case where the Merger Date is on or before a Valuation Date or an Averaging Date.

“Nationalisation” means that all the Underlying Equities or all or substantially all the assets of
an Equity Issuer are nationalised, expropriated or are otherwise required to be transferred to
any governmental agency, authority, entity or instrumentality thereof.

“Potential Adjustment Event” means any of the following:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)
(iv)

(v)

a subdivision, consolidation or reclassification of relevant Underlying Equities (unless
resulting in a Merger Event), or a free distribution or dividend of any such Underlying
Equities to existing holders by way of bonus, capitalisation or similar issue;

a distribution, issue or dividend to existing holders of the relevant Underlying Equities
of (a) such Underlying Equities or (b) other share capital or securities granting the right
to payment of dividends and/or the proceeds of liquidation of an Equity Issuer equally
or proportionately with such payments to holders of such Underlying Equities or (c)
share capital or other securities of another issuer acquired or owned (directly or
indirectly) by the Equity Issuer as a result of a spin-off or other similar transaction or
(d) any other type of securities, rights or warrants or other assets, in any case for
payment (in cash or other consideration) at less than the prevailing market price as
determined by the Calculation Agent;

an extraordinary dividend as determined by the Calculation Agent;

a call by an Equity Issuer in respect of relevant Underlying Equities that are not fully
paid;

a repurchase by an Equity Issuer or any of its subsidiaries of relevant Underlying

Equities whether out of profits or capital and whether the consideration for such
repurchase is cash, securities or otherwise; or
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(vi)

(vii)

in respect of an Equity Issuer, an event that results in any shareholder rights being
distributed or becoming separated from shares of common stock or other shares of
the capital stock of such Equity Issuer, pursuant to a shareholder rights plan or
arrangement directed against hostile take-overs that provides upon the occurrence of
certain events for a distribution of preferred stock, warrants, debt instruments or stock
rights at a price below their market value as determined by the Calculation Agent,
provided that any adjustment effected as a result of such an event shall be readjusted
upon any redemption of such rights; or

any other event that has or may have, in the opinion of the Calculation Agent, a
diluting, concentrative or other effect on the theoretical value of the relevant
Underlying Equities.

“‘Reference Index” means, in relation to a Substituted Equity (as defined above), the index (i)
of which the Substituted Equity is a component, or of which it has been a component at any
time during the six months immediately preceding the relevant substitution, and (ii) over which
futures contracts are actively traded, as determined by the Calculation Agent. If more than
one index satisfies the above criteria or if no index satisfies the above criteria, the Calculation
Agent shall determine the Reference Index for the Substituted Equity by reference to such
criteria as it deems appropriate.

“Reference Price” means:

(i)

(ii)

where an Exempt Instrument is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement to
relate to a single Underlying Equity, an amount equal to the official closing price (or
the price at the Valuation Time on a Valuation Date or an Averaging Date, as the case
may be, if so specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) of the Underlying Equity
guoted on the relevant Exchange and, if specified in the applicable Pricing
Supplement, without regard to any subsequently published correction as determined
by or on behalf of the Calculation Agent (or if, in the opinion of the Calculation Agent,
no such official closing price (or, as the case may be, the price at the Valuation Time
on a Valuation Date or an Averaging Date, as the case may be, if so specified in the
applicable Pricing Supplement) can be determined at such time and, if that Valuation
Date or that Averaging Date is not a Disrupted Day, an amount determined by the
Calculation Agent to be equal to the arithmetic mean of the closing fair market buying
price (or the fair market buying price at the Valuation Time on that Valuation Date or
that Averaging Date, if so specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) and the
closing fair market selling price (or the fair market selling price at the Valuation Time
on that Valuation Date or that Averaging Date, if so specified in the applicable Pricing
Supplement) for the Underlying Equity based, at the Calculation Agent’s discretion,
either on the arithmetic mean of the foregoing prices or the middle market quotations
provided to it by two or more financial institutions (as selected by the Calculation
Agent) engaged in the trading of the Underlying Equity or on such other factors as the
Calculation Agent shall decide). The amount determined pursuant to the foregoing
shall be converted, if Exchange Rate is specified as applying in the applicable Pricing
Supplement, into the Specified Currency at the Exchange Rate and such converted
amount shall be the Reference Price; and

where an Exempt Instrument is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement to
relate to a Basket of Underlying Equities, an amount equal to the sum of the values
calculated for each Underlying Equity as the official closing price (or the price at the
Valuation Time on a Valuation Date or an Averaging Date, as the case may be, if so
specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) of the Underlying Equity quoted on the
relevant Exchange as determined by or on behalf of the Calculation Agent and, if so
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specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, without regard to any subsequently
published correction (or if, in the opinion of the Calculation Agent, no such official
closing price (or, as the case may be, the price at the Valuation Time on a Valuation
Date or an Averaging Date, if so specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) can
be determined at such time and, if that Valuation Date or that Averaging Date is not a
Disrupted Day, an amount determined by the Calculation Agent to be equal to the
arithmetic mean of the closing fair market buying price (or the fair market buying price
at the Valuation Time on that Valuation Date or that Averaging Date, if so specified in
the applicable Pricing Supplement) and the closing fair market selling price (or, as the
case may be, the fair market selling price at the Valuation Time on that Valuation Date
or that Averaging Date, if so specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) for the
Underlying Equity based, at the Calculation Agent’s discretion, either on the arithmetic
mean of the foregoing prices or the middle market quotations provided to it by two or
more financial institutions (as selected by the Calculation Agent) engaged in the
trading of the Underlying Equity or on such other factors as the Calculation Agent shall
decide), multiplied by the relevant Multiplier. Each value determined pursuant to the
foregoing shall be converted, if the Exchange Rate is specified as applying in the
applicable Pricing Supplement, into the Specified Currency at the Exchange Rate and
the sum of such converted amounts shall be the Reference Price.

“‘Related Exchange” means, in relation to an Underlying Equity, each exchange or quotation
system specified as such in relation to such Underlying Equity in the applicable Pricing
Supplement, any successor to such exchange or quotation system or any substitute
exchange or quotation system to which trading in futures or options contracts relating to such
Underlying Equity has temporarily relocated (provided that the Calculation Agent has
determined that there is comparable liquidity relative to the futures or options contracts
relating to such Underlying Equity on such temporary substitute exchange or quotation
system as on the original Related Exchange), provided that where “All Exchanges” is
specified as the Related Exchange in the applicable Pricing Supplement, Related Exchange
shall mean each exchange or quotation system where trading has a material effect (as
determined by the Calculation Agent) on the overall market for futures or options contracts
relating to such Underlying Equity.

“Scheduled Closing Time” means, in respect of an Exchange or Related Exchange and a
Scheduled Trading Day, the scheduled weekday closing time of such Exchange or Related
Exchange on such Scheduled Trading Day, without regard to after hours or any other trading
outside of the regular trading session hours.

“Scheduled Trading Day” means any day on which each Exchange and each Related
Exchange are scheduled to be open for trading for their respective regular trading sessions.

“Scheduled Valuation Date” means, in relation to a Valuation Date, any original date that, but
for the occurrence of an event causing a Disrupted Day, would have been that Valuation
Date.

“Tender Offer” means a takeover offer, tender offer, exchange offer, solicitation, proposal or
other event by any entity or person that results in such entity or person purchasing, or
otherwise obtaining or having the right to obtain, by conversion or other means, greater than
10 per cent. and less than 100 per cent. of the outstanding voting shares of the Equity Issuer,
as determined by the Calculation Agent, based upon the making of filings with governmental
or self-regulatory agencies or such other information as the Calculation Agent deems
relevant.
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10.

“Valuation Date” means the date or, in the case of Equity Linked Interest Instruments, each
date specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement or, if any such date is not a
Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day unless, in the opinion of
the Calculation Agent, such day is a Disrupted Day. If such day is a Disrupted Day then:

0] where an Exempt Instrument is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement to
relate to a single Underlying Equity, that Valuation Date shall be the first succeeding
Scheduled Trading Day that is not a Disrupted Day, unless each of the eight
Scheduled Trading Days immediately following the Scheduled Valuation Date is a
Disrupted Day. In that case (a) the eighth Scheduled Trading Day shall be deemed to
be that Valuation Date, notwithstanding the fact that such day is a Disrupted Day, and
(b) the Calculation Agent shall, where practicable, determine the Reference Price in
the manner set out in the applicable Pricing Supplement or, if not set out or not so
practicable, determine the Reference Price in accordance with its estimate of the
value of the Underlying Equity as of the Valuation Time on that eighth Scheduled
Trading Day and otherwise in accordance with the above provisions; or

(i) where an Exempt Instrument is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement to
relate to a Basket of Underlying Equities that Valuation Date for each Underlying
Equity not affected by the occurrence of a Disrupted Day shall be the Scheduled
Valuation Date, and that Valuation Date for each Underlying Equity affected (each an
“Affected Equity”) by the occurrence of a Disrupted Day shall be the first succeeding
Scheduled Trading Day that is not a Disrupted Day relating to the Affected Equity
unless each of the eight Scheduled Trading Days immediately following the Scheduled
Valuation Date is a Disrupted Day relating to the Affected Equity. In that case, (a) that
eighth Scheduled Trading Day shall be deemed to be that Valuation Date for the
Affected Equity, notwithstanding the fact that such day is a Disrupted Day, and (b) the
Calculation Agent shall determine, where practicable, the Reference Price using, in
relation to the Affected Equity, a price determined in the manner set out in the
applicable Pricing Supplement or, if not set out or if not practicable, using its estimate
of the value for the Affected Equity as of the Valuation Time on that eighth Scheduled
Trading Day and otherwise in accordance with the above provisions.

If the applicable Pricing Supplement specifies a number of Valuation Roll Days (other than
eight), references in this definition of “Valuation Date” to “eight Scheduled Trading Days” and
“eighth Scheduled Trading Day” (and related references) shall be construed with reference to
such number of Valuation Roll Days.

“Valuation Time” means the Valuation Time specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement or,
if no Valuation Time is specified, the Scheduled Closing Time on the relevant Exchange on
the relevant Valuation Date or Averaging Date in relation to each Underlying Equity to be
valued. If the relevant Exchange closes prior to its Scheduled Closing Time and the specified
Valuation Time is after the actual closing time for its regular trading